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highlighits of commerzbank group

2002
Income statement
Operating profit (€ m) 192
Operating profit per share (€) 0.36
Pre-tax profit (€ m) -372
Netloss (€ m) -298
Net loss per share (€) -0.56 -
Operative return on equity (%) 1.6
Cost/income ratio in operative business (%) 71.3.
Pre-tax return on equity (%) -3.1
31.12:2003 31.12.2002

Balance sheet i
Balance-sheet total (€ bn) 3816, , 422.1

Risk-weighted assets according to BIS (€ bn) 160.2
Equity as shown in balance sheet {€ bn) ] 8.8
Own funds as shown in balance sheet (€ bn) RSN - % 5 19.3
BIS capital ratios D .
Core capital ratio, excluding market-risk position (%) : . 7187 7.5
Core capital ratio, including market-risk position (%) ' o< B 7.3
Own funds ratio (%) R X 1 12.3 .
Commerzbank share L
Number of shares issued (million units) © . B97.8. 542.2
Share price (€, 1.1.-31.12.) high 17.58" 21.29
low R i < 5.04
Book value per share® (€) L < 18.98
Market capitalization (€ bn) 9.3 4.0
Customers 6,840,000 6,039,000
Staff
Germany 25,426 - 28,603
Abroad - 6,951 7,963
Total 32,377 36,566
Short/long-term rating
Moody’s Investors Service, New York P-1/A2 P-1/A2
Standard & Poor’s, New York A-2/A- A-2/A-
Fitch Ratings, London ' F2/A- F2/A-

*) excluding cash flow hedges
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| ideas ahead |
OR: HOW DO WE GET OUR MESSAGE ACROSS?

The translation of the slogan
into advertising takes account
of the various target groups,

In banking, the advertising “battle” for cus-
tomers primarily takes place at the emotional
level: how can we position our Bank such that
our customers both have more trust in us and but addresses them in the
think we are capable of more than our rivals? same tonality: for Commerz-
i bank, much is matter-of-course
¢ which for others is quite the
exception. Commerzbank has
surprisingly straightforward
solutions for apparently complex
problems. Our advertising identi-
fies the problem and presents a
convincing, target-group-oriented

Based on a broad survey of various target
groups in Germany, France and Italy, we
have identified two key points distinguishing
us from our competitors: our customers are
relatively well satisfied with Commerzbank.
Non-customers imagine that, as a “small”

major bank, we are more flexible, creative solution.
and act more quickly than our competi- H
tors. /
. £ The motifs used as images in our
i advertising - and which appear as

The right positioning for Commerzbank
is, therefore: “Commerzbank is a cre-
ative major bank. In an interactive
relationship with customers and its
business associates, it offers the best
financial services.” That is the starting
point for all our advertising messages
and presentations. The core concept
"creativity” distinguishes us, for one
thing, from our competitors and, for

another, it entails a promise.
H
H

Qur slogan “ideas ahead” sums
this up. It serves as a “heightened
transiation” of the expectations

placed in us and at the same
time embodies what we offer
customers by way of creative
cooperation. It enhances the
Bank's attractiveness, makes it
more sympathetic and arouses
curiosity for its services. It has
a motivating impact on staff,
but also calls upon them to
generate new ideas,

illustrative material throughout this
report — repeatedly show people in
situations that tell entire stories in
combination with the headline. Ex-
citing, unusual, surprising and striking,
but always in close touch with the
topic. We are the flexible bank which is
full of ideas in responding to customers
wishes. The deliberate use of colour,
contrast and sharpness depicts reality
as more attractive and impressive than
it actually is. Small is made larger and the
norma! more unusual. The campaign is
intended to make an impression; it should
also polarize and arouse curiosity about
Commerzbank. For we have ideas, and they
get our customers ahead.

’






Klaus-Peter Mdller. " March 2004
Chairman of the Board ‘ :
of Managing Directors -

o it

) Commerzbank is now. a better bank Step by step, we have: made progress
towards restorlng a satlsfactory level of profitability. Naturally, our, cus-

tomer and our employee orientation ‘have not been- overlooked ln the _

_ process Quute the contrary - these are essentlal |f we want to be . suc-
~ cessful in. the long term We want to be a hlghly eff|c1ent credlble and_
trustworthy partner in fmancnal matters for everyone, for the entlre pub- 1

lic at large. o ' ! : : .

: Whlle the dlsappomtment on’ the part of the employees affected is under-’ '
: standable, the cancellatlon as of December 31,-2004; of the - Bank s inter- -
nal. agreements on the company pension scheme based ‘on the last net -

polemlcal and for the most part poorly lnformed ‘

'salary drew’ some ve

. commentarles in the publlc sphere We were unable to- commumcate in

“an approprlate form and adequately the crucial point ~ namely, that our

company pensmns as well should be made calculable and should be
malntamed for future generatnons

In the m‘eanti:me,' we haye‘ held‘ sober and constructive negotiations at our
Bank. We are grateful to the staff council and the senior staff representa-
tives for helplng us to search for an adequate solution. Together with the
central staff council, we had established the framework for a new defined-
contribution company pensmn by mid-February. The details are to be
agreed upon by mid-year.



We expressly support the institution: of the company pension scheme as_"
an e_' __er more |mportant prllar |n Germany s system of old- -age provrsron )
) _However,»nt rs essentlal for compames ‘that their- future expenses a8’ part ’
g V . ted clearly and remain- wrthm. '

> age-related costs — can be calc
" a tolerable framework '

Né were qurcker and better at convmcrng Deople as regards the outcome" L
of oul parnful restructunng phase,’ which began in mid- 2001. Nowth""'t

”.eX|st|ng capacmes have been ad)usted to the weaker demand For bankrngv
servnces, there s'fresh scope for expansron WhICh we are gomg to, use in:

"by about ten per cent but have also strengthened our presence in anare :
where Commerzbank was prevrously hardly represented at all.

Commerzb nk at any rate has completed its fltness cure-andis now on the'-' :

way “to becomlng ‘the “first chorce" for retail customers in Germany ‘We:

are focusm

"

‘number one” natlonwrde in this segment At the same tlme,

become the.
we' want to be an interesting relatlonshrp partner for European Iarger_
corporates and multmatronals Admrttedly, these are ambitious goals that: :
can only be attalned through the best service, excellent products and
dedlcated personnel. Nonetheless, these are-also goals which we con-
sider realistic.

ntensrvely on Mrrtelstand frrms, as here, too, we mtend to .



Our shareholders wnII be able to measure the successes which we achieve
~ step by step in the form of rlsmg share pnces and of leldend payments'
reflectlng the Banks ever stronger earnlngs performance

Over the past few years, we: have concentrated our |nternat|onal network‘
|th a V|ew to the- structures needed over the
been reaIIy suc-"

of outlets’ and reshaped it
. long term. ‘In the’ Unrted States in partlcular, we ha

. cessful and profltable for decades In Central and Ea' __ern

ur pe, we sum-.
ilarly have a network of branches and subsrdlanes whlch are establlshed

L ‘in'the: market glvmg us.an outstandmg startmg posmon for the eastern _

: enlargement of the European Umon ‘We believe that the enlargement of
the Union thls May wull -giverise to further strong expanSlon in.our busn-
ness in this reglon oo ) :

For years, it has been speculated m a broadly based public debate that
Commerzbank is. too small to’ exnst all by |tself But size |s relatlve, and :
who knows what is’ the optlmal Slze for a bank7

. At Group level, we serve jUSt over 6. 8 mllllon customers. Too small? 0ur :
business volume stands at about €380bn Too lrttle? Germanys exports'
and imports. added up to. almost €1, 200bn \n 2003; roughly 16% of this

‘total passed through the books of Commerzbank Too small? Of course,

such figures are no answer to the questlon Rather, the rlght thmg is to
ask whether’ we wnll be‘inia posmon |n the fong run to achieve a rea_s_o-
nable return, in line wrth marke ;rates, on ‘the equrty whrch Commerzbank-
employs. We have set ourselves th' target of demonstratmg this by 2005 ;
The groundwork has been laid; that is why we look with confrdence and
assurance to-an lndependent future for” Commerzbank We also owe thls

to our customers to our employees and to our shareholders.



Al the same, the management is.also. obhged to examme alternatives in
the consohdatron process that is- takmg place in- the German -and
g European frnanmal market. Theoretlcally, very. many possnbrlmes exrst_

€ : ar féwer practrcal “sol
|| th'e reahstlc optlons H_,_
‘ the respon' vrty for embarklng on the ght course In the final analysrs,' :
it'is u 10 you, our: shareholders, to ‘decide: to what extent — and" |ndeed

‘vrons In-the future as well, we will
' ne ‘will remove. from: us '

: whether-

We do not know what opportunm A'e future holds in store. for us Butf
we; are self-assured and strong e

European banklng market

ugh to play an active role ln the

o hope to be able to welcome: you in large numbers to.our Annual General. -
; g in: he Jahrhunderthalle Fra’hkfurt on May 12. 1 will then present -
to you the .|nter|m report for: the flrst quarter of 2004

you' are satlsfred wrth you nvestment in Commerzbank shares N
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Germany:
rebound in investment

survey of the commerzbank group

Mounting confidence in the world economy

Expansionary monetary policy in the industrial nations and the related
extremely low interest rates had their impact in 2003. Worldwide, the prospects
for growth improved. Once again, the United States led the way, as monetary
stimuli were reinforced there by massive tax cuts and public spending pro-
grammes. But there are signs that Asia, too, is regaining its former dynamic
momentum, with China assuming a special significance as the region’s engine
of growth. The foundations have been laid, therefore, for the worid economy to
expand rapidly in the current year. We expect real growth of 4.6%; world trade
should expand even far more strongly.

By comparison, Western Europe’s economic progress is modest. But here
as well, economic activity emerged from its stagnation at mid-year or so. The
development in Germany was crucial in this respect, where after declining in
the first half of the year, GDP registered subdued grdwth from last summer
onwards. Initially fuelled by brisk demand for exports, business investment also
rose at long last in the final quarter after a lengthy interruption. We expect this
rebound to continue throughout the current year, with the first positive effects
of the economic upturn an the labour market probably being felt roughly as from
the summer. ‘

For the financial markets, historically low interest rates combined with the
expectation of an upswing were the forces which revived the stock market in
particular. Worldwide, stock indices improved considerably; climbing by 37%,
the DAX index was even one of the top performers. If the hopes of an upswing
are fulfilled in Germany and the government does not slacken in its reform
efforts, conditions for the financial markets, and consequently for banks as well,
will continue to develop positively.

Revaluation measures shape 2003 results

Last autumn, we decided to free the Commerzbank Group from its unrealized
losses. On the one hand, this helped set the stage for a sustained increase in our
profitability. On the other, we have improved our position, enabling us to play an
active, structuring role in possible changes in the banking landscape.

- K&l Reat investment in machinery and equipment = Ifo business climate
' tforecast as from 1% quarter 2004) {trade and industry in western Germany) 100
percentage change on year index 2000=100 .

2001 2002 2003 2004
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In our revaluation initiative, the unrealized losses identified in our securities
and investments portfolio per September 30 were written down. This entailed
reducing the book values of listed investments, which despite the recovery of
prices since mid-2003 were still higher than their market values, to a value
that can be realized in the market. Industrial participations were affected here
as well as holdings in financial institutions, such as Mediobanca, Generali and
Santander Central Hispano.

We wrote other participations down to their fair value. These were primarily
Eurohypo AG and our London asset-management subsidiary, Jupiter. In the case
. of Eurohypo, market conditions and business plans had changed so much since
2002 that we deemed it necessary to adjust its valuation. This measure will
directly affect our income statement in future. Qur interest expenses will be sub-
stantially reduced, as this company is consolidated on an at-equity basis and the
now lower write-downs on those components relevant for an |AS valuation are
also deducted from our interest position. The reduction in goodwill at Jupiter
will greatly help our Asset Management to return to profitability.

The revaluation measures, far which we needed to use €2.3bn, gave rise to
a large net loss for the year in our financial statements for 2003, which will be
balanced by a withdrawal from the capital reserve. In order to compensate for
the decline in our regulatory equity, we placed a capital increase without sub-
scription rights in November, which raised a net amount of €742m for us.

All told, by revaluing our securities and investments portfolio we have
removed sizeable burdens for the current year, thanks to lower amortization of
goodwill and lower funding costs for our investments.

Consolidated balance-sheet total at €382bn

In the course of 2003, the Commerzbank Group's balance-sheet total shrank
by 9.6% to €381.6bn. The weak dollar accounted for €12bn of this decline. In
addition, we systematically maintained our strategy of selectively reducing risk-
weighted assets. These were down by 12.1% to €140.8bn.

We trimmed interbank lending by €2.7bn to €51.7bn; claims on customers
contracted by €10.1bn to €138.4bn.

In our investments and securities portfolio, which expanded by 3.9% to
€87.8bn overall, we mainly added to bonds, notes and other fixed-income secu-
rities. By contrast, the item Investments in associated companies was 35.8%
lower. This was due, for one thing, to the amortization of goodwill at Eurchypo
and, for another, to the transfer of our holding in Korea Exchange Bank to
investments. In the final quarter of last year, we sold part of our interest in KEB.
At the same time, KEB effected a capital increase, to which we did not subscribe.
This reduced our interest from 32.6% to 14.8%. Since this transaction, therefore,
we have no longer included KEB on an at-equity basis.

On the liabilities side, interbank borrowing feil by €19.7bn to €95.2bn and
securitized liabilities by €8.7bn to €84.0bn. By contrast, we achieved a €4.3bn
increase in customer depaosits to €100.0bn. Savings deposits advanced slightly
by €200m, but time deposits registered the strongest growth at €2.8bn. Attrac-
tive interest rates played a role here, which both the Parent Bank, Commerzbank
AG, and comdirect used to gain new customers.
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Equity slightly higher

Per end-2003, we had equity as shown in the balance-sheet of €9.1bn, compared
with €8.8bn a year earlier. The Bank’s capital ratios continue to exceed our target
levels: at 7.3%, the core capital ratio remained at its year-earlier level; the own
funds ratio rose to 13.0%. As a result of our clean-up, the revaluation reserve
moved from —€769m at end-2002 to a current €1,240m.

Marked improvement in operating results
Our efforts ~ above all on the cost side - bore fruit last year. As against €192m
in the previous year, we achieved an operating profit of €559m in 2003.
However, net interest income made no contribution towards improved
results, falling by 11.4% to €2.8bn. In addition to the weak dolilar and the
absence of interest income from Rheinhyp (roughly €220m), the further reduc-
tion of risk-weighted assets made itself felt. While we managed to widen our
average interest margin at the Parent Bank, this was not enough to compensate
for the decline in volume.
Provision for possible loan losses was down by almost €240m from its level

.of €1.3bn in 2002, At the start of the year, we had assumed an amount of €1.2bn.

Ultimately, we used €1,084m for provisioning purposes, even though the eco-
nomic situation remained tight in 2003 and the number of insolvencies was even
higher. We attribute the need for less provisioning to our further improved risk
management and in particular to the reduction of bufk risks. We have also sys-
tematically scaled back latently endangered credits. In this way, we have not
been involved in several of the major cases of insolvency that have occurred in
recent years.

We also managed a turnaround in our net commission income, which
showed a small increase to €2.14bn after two years of decline. Above all, as
from mid-year we benefited from a recovery in securities markets and alsa
achieved growth in both foreign commercial business and payment trans-
actions.

We were also more successful with our trading profit than we had been a
year previously; it was 35.5% higher at €737m. We were able to draw upon our
strength in equities business, which was also lifted by the emerging recovery of
the markets.

Structure of provision for possible oan losses

Commerzbank Group, in€m 2003 2002 2001 2000 1999
Germany 813 946 555 529 522
Abroad 260 365 325 148 89
Global provision 1 10 47 8 78
Total net provisioning 1,084 1,321 927 685 689
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The Net result on the investments and securities portfolio reached €291m, ‘

compared with a minus of €11m a year earlier. Among other things, we dis-
posed of our interests in Buderus and T-Online. Write-downs were needed on
only a limited scale following our clean-up last autumn.

The Other operating result, which mainly comprises allocations to and re-
versals of provisions, as well as expenses and income from building and archi-
tects’ services, reached €174m. In 2002, we achieved a much higher surplus on
this item through the proceeds from the deconsolidation of Rheinhyp.

Operating expenses practically €650m lower

The success of our two cost-cutting offensives is clearly underlined by the
expense items in our income statement. Operating expenses fell by 12.5% to
€4.5bn. With this outcome, we realized our target for 2004 a year earlier than
planned.

At end-2003, we had a Group workforce of altogether 32,377, practically 4,200
fewer than a year previously. Due above all to this development, personnet ex-
penses were down by 8.8% to €2.4bn.

We cut other operating expenses by 16.5% to €1.6bn and the depreciation of
office furniture and equipment by 16.2% to €475m.

We will not relax our efforts to keep costs within very narrow limits. Precisely
at times when we are focusing on earnings growth, we have to continue to
watch costs closely. Only in this way will we achieve sustained success and per-
manently raise our profitability.

The -above-mentioned income and expenses yield an operating profit of
€559m. From this, for one thing, goodwill amortization of €110m has to be
deducted. For another, we already recognized in the first quarter of 2003 restruc-
turing 'expenses of €104m for measures under our second cost-cutting offen-
sive. Last but not least, the loss of €2.3bn resulting from our clean-up is included
in the item Expenses arising from special factors. Once these items have been
deducted, a pre-tax loss of -€1,980m remains, as against -€372m in the previous
year.

In view of the sizeable loss, the 2003 tax position of €240m seems too large
at first sight ~ especially compared with a year earlier, when we showed tax
income of €103m. However, it should be noted here that some of our sub-
sidiaries in Germany and abroad generated profits and paid tax on them. In addi-
tion, the large loss as a result of revaluation is not relevant for tax purposes.

After tax expenses and minority interests of €91m have been deducted, the
Commerzbank Group has a net loss for the year of €2.32bn, which will be bal-
anced by a withdrawal from the capital reserve. As we are also posting a “zero”
result at the Parent Bank, we are unable to pay a dividend for the 2003 business
year. Holders of our profit-sharing certificates will receive a full payment, This
expense is covered in our 2003 interest position.

S
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Operating profit,
by segment

ine€m

Uneven development of segments

In Retail Banking, the upswing that had begun in 2002 gathered momentum.
However, revenues are developing very unevenly. Net interest income was lower
than a year earlier, in line with the general trend. This means that the wider
average margin achieved on the credit side was not enough to offset the reduc-
tion in volume, and the margin we realized on borrowed funds sank, due to the
low level of interest rates. On the other hand, net commission income rose by
12.6%. Here, our attractive range of real-estate funds, certificates and reverse
convertibles compensated for the weaker demand for equities in the first half of
the year.

Especially noteworthy is the 11.0% fall in operating expenses. The operating
profit rose from €53m in 2002 to a sizeable €258m. The operative return on
equity increased from 3.2% to 14.3% and the cost/income ratio receded from
almost 90% to 79.2%.

We believe that Asset Management is also developing really well, even
though its net commission income was down by 14.2%. Here, the revenues from
Montgomery Asset Management and Commerzbank Asset Management Italia
were missing in 2003. We have sold both companies. Our consolidation mea-
sures showed a positive impact on the cost side: operating expenses fell by no
less than 28.3% to €345m.

Consequently, the operating result rose substantially, from €13m to €90m.
The return on equity improved from 1.6% to 14.1% and the cost/income ratio
from 97.4% to 79.3%.

in the Corporate Customers and Institutions segment, the heavy dependence
on economic performance and interest rates was felt. Net interest income
declined by 20.6%. The volume of lending contracted; to some extent, this was
quite deliberate due to our active clean-up of the loan portfolio; at the same
time, though, it was also involuntary because of the low dollar and companies’
weak investment activity.

Despite flat economic activity, our early-warning systems made it possible
to reduce provisioning considerably. Net commission income was also encour-
aging, rising 19.8% to €726m, thanks to intensive and creative sales efforts.

Retail Asset Corporate Securities Group Montgage
Banking Management  Custorners and Treasury banks
Institutions
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The decline in operating expenses, at -4.6%, was not as strong as in the other
segments. For this reason, lower earnings could not be compensated for, which
meant that the operating profit was down 21.6% in a year-on-year comparison.
At €5.2bn, by far the greatest part of our equity is tied up in this segment, The
return on equity sank from 8.5% to 6.9%, while the cost/income ratio rose from
45.9% to a still very good 49.8%.

The largest swing in operating profits was registered by Securities. Both net
interest and net commission income were lower, but the trading profit was
raised by 56.6% to €783m.

As operating expenses were brought down substantially - principally
through staff reductions - the operating profit achieved a plus of €3m, after a
minus of €296m a year previously. This meant a return on equity of 0.3%, as
against -22.7%, and a costfincome ratio of 99.7%, as against 136.1%.

At Group Treasury, revenues were 15.5% higher than a year earlier, while
operating expenses receded by 20.0%. The operating profit rose sharply, there-
fore, to €220m. With only a small amount of equity tied up, a return of 203.7%
was registered, as against 100.6%, and another very low cost/income ratio of
20.3%, as against 29.3%. -

Comparison with the previous year is difficult in the case of the mortgage
banks. In the first seven months of 2002, namely, Rheinhyp was included with
its consolidated figures. Since August 2002, this segment has comprised
Hypothekenbank in Essen, Erste Europaische Pfandbrief- und Kommunalkredit-
bank in Luxemburg and Eurohypo, which is consolidated at equity. These insti-
tutions achieved quite a good operating profit of €242m overall. This gave rise
to a return on equity of 27.3%, compared with 14.6% a year earlier. The cost/
income ratio is traditionally low in this segment, reaching an extreme low of
10.2% {as against 22.4%) in 2003.

Within the Group as a whole, the operating profit of €559m {ed to an ope-
rative return on equity of 4.9%. A year earlier, it had been 1.6%. The cost/income
ratio improved from 77.3% to 73.3%.

Mortgage banks

2003

11

Equity tied-up (€ m)..- 888 -

Operative return

on equity . 27.3%: .

Cost/income ratio in

operating business _1_‘01_2.%:, _

22
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Development in individual quarters

2003 financial year

€m Y. -TYotal . 4thquarter  3vd quarter 2ndquarter 15t quarter
Net interest income 2,778 663 662 746 705
Provision for possible loan losses C 1084 ~256 ~273 -303 ~252
Net interest income after provisioning : 1,692 407 389 443 453
Net commission income S 2,136 531 509 516 520
Net resuit on hedge accounting Cel Ag 3 12 15 10
Trading profit Co T8 ir 3 107 278 231
Net result on investments Al

and securities portfolio o291 68 64 54 105
Operating expenses 4511 1,113 1,078 1,141 . 1,179
Other operating result . T4 15 98 29 32
Operating profit .. - BB9 92 101 194 172
Regular amortization of goodwill 110 21 29 30 .30

Profit from ordinary activities before
expenses arising from special factors

and restructuring expenses C 449 7 72 164 142
Expenses arising from special factors S 42,325 - 2,325 - -
Restructuring expenses S T 108 - - - 104
Profit from ordinary activities after -

expenses arising from speciai factors .- .

and restructuring expenses Y. ~1,980 71 -2,253 164 38 -
Extraordinary profit A - - - -
Pre-tax profit ’ 1,980 7 -2,253 164 38
Taxes on income ) : 249 139 30 78 2
After-tax profit T =2,229 ~68 -2,283 86 36
Profit/loss attributable to minority interests ~91: ~20 =22 -16 -33

Net loss/profit for the year © w2,320 -88 -2,305 70 3
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2002 financial year

€m Total” 4thquarter 3'dquarter 2rdquarter 15t quarter
Net interest income 3,133 678 721 861 873
Provision for possible loan losses Co=1,321 -323 -436 -308 -254.
Net interest incoms after provisioning S1,8120 355 285 553 619
Net commission income C2200 490 501 554 575
Net result on hedge accounting S BB -54 -21 51 -32
Jrading profit - B44 91 36 104 313
Net result on investments R :
and securities portfolio o= 368 ~531 60 92
Operating expenses . 5,185 1,220 1,229 1,308 1,398-
Other operating result 938 2 884 40 12.-
Operating profit Co 182 32 =75 54 181
Regular amortization of goodwill ) ©108 25 26 29 28 .

Profit from ordinary activities before
expenses arising from special factors

and restructuring expenses ’ 84 7 ~-101 25 153 .
Expenses arising from special factors . 247 247 - - -

Restructuring expenses o 209 177 32 - -

Profit from ordinary activities after
expenses arising from special factors

and restructuring expenses ' -372° -417 -133 25 153
Extraordinary profit ’ - - - - -
Pre-tax profit . =372 - -417 -133 25 153
Taxes onincome -103 -141 -20 6 52
After-tax profit .. =269 -276 -113 19 101
Profit/loss attributable to minority interests s -29 33 -16 -17 . -29

Net loss/profit for the year . =298 -243 -129 2 72
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corporale governance
at commerzbank

On February 25, 2002, an independent commission set up by the German gov-
ernment presented the German Corporate Governance Code for the first time.
It describes key statutory provisions for the management and supervision of
German listed companies and embodies internationally and nationally recog-
nized standards for good and responsible governance. The Code makes the Ger-
man system of corporate governance transparent and understandable. At the
same time, it is designed to promote the trust of international and national
investors, customers, employees and the general public in the management and
supervision of German listed companies.

Responsible corporate governance has always been a high priority at
Commerzbank. That is why we - the Supervisory Board and Board of Managing
Directors — expressly welcome and support the Code as well as the goals and.
objectives which it pursues. On February 4, 2003, we issued our annual declara-
tion of compliance pursuant to Art. 161, German Stock Corporation (Aktien-
gesetz) and published it on the internet. In it, we stated that, with one exception,
we have complied with all the recommendations of the Code. The single excep-
tion relates to section 5.3.2,, according to which the Audit Committee of the
Supervisory Board should also deal with risk-management issues. We have
entrusted these functions to the Risk Committee, which for years has dealt with
the Bank's credit and market risks.

Even at the time of publication of the German Corporate Governance Code,
the articles of association of Commerzbank AG as well as the procedural rules
of the Board of Managing Directors and Supervisory Board complied with its
requirements for the most part. To the extent necessary, we have adapted the
articles of association of Commerzbank AG and also the procedural rules for the
Board of Managing Directors and the Supervisory Board to the regulations of the
Corporate Governance Code. The changes in the articles of association were
resolved by the AGM on May 30, 2003.

German Corporate Governance Code as amended in July 2003

In July 2003, a partly revised version of the German Corporate Governance Code
was published in the Federal Gazette (Bundesanzeiger). We subsequently exam-
ined our own code and updated our declaration of compliance on November 11,
2003. Overall, we deviate from three of the Code’s recommendations. In addition
to the already existing deviation from section 5.3.2, two new ones have arisen
through the amendments to the German Corporate Governance Code:
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Pursuant to section 4.2.2, the full Supervisory Board should discuss and reg-
ularly examine the structure of the system of compensation for the Board of
Managing Directors. The Supervisory Board has entrusted matters related to
compensation to the Presiding Committee, which independently resolves upon
and deals with them. This procedure has proved successful. The Presiding Com-
mittee discusses the structure of the system of compensation, regularly exam-
ines it and determines the amount of compensation for members of the Board
of Managing Directors. It regularly reports to the full Supervisory Board on its
deliberations and decisions in this connection.

Section 4.2.4 recommends that the compensation of the members of the
Board of Managing Directors should be reported in the Notes to the consolidated
financial statements, subdivided according to the various components and pre-
sented in individualized form. In the Notes on page 161f., we present their com-
pensation subdivided according to fixed amount, variabie performance-related
components and long-term incentive components, but not in individualized
form. The total compensation of the Chairman of the Board of Managing Direc-
tors alone is shown separately. This enables shareholders to infer the compen-
sation received by the other members of the Board of Managing Directors, thus
representing in our.opinion a good compromise between shareholders’ desire
for information and the protection of the personal rights of board members.

Principles of the system of compensation

The compensation of the members of the Board of Managing Directors is made
up of a fixed remuneration and a variable bonus, based on the Group’s business
success and the attainment of individual targets. In addition, there is remunera-
tion in kind on the usual scale and possibly remuneration for board functions at
subsidiaries. Details can be found in this annual report on page 161f. In addition,
like other executives and selected staff of the Group, the members of the Board
of Managing Directors are able to acquire “virtual” stock options which run for
three to five years under so-called long-term performance plans (LTPs}). The
exact structure of these LTPs is explained on page 103f. of this annual report.
Details of the current value of these options may be found on page 162. The
structure of compensation was not altered in the past year.

Suggestions of the German Corporate Governance Code
We comply with virtually all the suggestions of the German Corporate Gover-
nance Code, deviating from them in only five points:

In section 2.3.4, it is suggested that the Annual General Meeting be broadcast
in its entirety via internet. We make it possible to follow the speeches of the
Chairman of the Supervisory Board and the Chairman of the Board of Managing
Directors. The general debate is not broadcast. For one thing, this seems in-
appropriate given the length of our Annual General Meetings; for another, we do
not want to infringe upon the personal rights of the individual speaker.

15 %
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Section 3.6 of the German Corporate Governance Code suggests that sepa-
rate meetings to prepare Supervisory Board meetings should be held regularly
for the representatives of the shareholders and the employees. We arrange such
preparatory meetings only if the need arises.

Section 5.3.2 suggests that the chairman of the Audit Committee should not
be a former member of the Board of Managing Directors. We have not adopted
this suggestion as we are interested especially here in the expertise of the per-
son in question.

The suggestion contained in section 5.4.4 that the members of the Super-
visory Board should be elected at different dates and for different periods of
office is not compatible with the German system of co-determination. Employee
representatives, namely, have to be elected at the same time for five years. The
suggestion could only be applied, therefore, in the case of shareholder repre-
sentatives and would iead to unequal treatment.

Last but not feast, the German Corporate Governance Code suggests that
the variable compensation of Supervisory Board members should be linked
to the long-term performance of an enterprise. At Commerzbank, variable com-
pensation is bound up with the dividend payment. We consider this to be a
transparent and readily understandable system.

Board of Managing Directors
The Board of Managing Directors is responsible for the independent manage-
ment of the Company. in this function, it has to act in the Company’s best in-
terests and is committed to increasing the sustainable value of the Company.
It develops the Company’s strategy, coordinates it with the Supervisory Board
and ensures its implementation. The Board of Managing Directors conducts
Commerzbank's business activities in accordance with the law, the articies of
association, its procedural rules and the relevant employment contracts. it
cooperates on a basis of trust with the other bodies of Commerzbank and with
the employee representatives.

The composition of the Board of Managing Directors and the responsibilities
of its individual members are presented on pages 180-181 of this annual report.

Supervisory Board
The Supervisory Board advises and supervises the Board of Managing Directors
in its management of the Company. It conducts its business activities in accor-
dance with the legal provisions, Commerzbank’s articles of association and its
procedural rules; it cooperates closely and on a basis of trust with the Board of
Managing Directors. The Supervisory Board regularly examines the efficiency of
its activities, at least every two years.

The composition of the Supervisory Board and its committees is presented
on page 177f. The report of the Supervisory Board on pages 173-176 provides
information on the work of this body, its structure and its control function.
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Accounting
"For accounting purposes, the Commerzbank Group uses the International
Accounting Standards (IAS), whereas HGB rules are still applied in the case of
the individual financial statements of Commerzbank AG. The consolidated and
Parent Bank financial statements are prepared by the Board of Managing Direc-
tors and approved by the Supervisory Board. The audit is performed by the audi-
tors appointed by the Annual General Meeting. The annual financial statements
also include a detailed risk report, providing information on the Company's
responsible handling of the various types of risk. It appears on pages 52-79.

Shareholder relations and communication
Once a year, the Annual General Meeting of shareholders takes place. Above all,
it resolves upon the appropriation of the distributable profit, approves the
actions of the Board of Managing Directors and Supervisory Board and author-
izes the Board of Managing Directors to undertake capital-raising measures.
Each share entitles the holder to one vote.

Our shareholders are regularly - four times a year — informed about the
Bank’s financial position and earnings performance; further corporate news
items that are relevant for the share price are published in the form of a so-called
ad hoc release. By means of press conferences and analysts’ meetings, the
Board of Managing Directors reports on the annual financial statements or the
quarterly results. For reporting purposes, we increasingly use the possibilities
offered by the internet; at www.commerzbank.com, those interested can find a

- wealth of information on the Commerzbank Group. We feel committed to com-
municating in an open and transparent manner with our stakeholders. We intend
to realize this claim in the future as well.

Frankfurt, March 23, 2004

Commerzbank Aktiengesellschaft

The Board of Managing Directors The Supervisory Board
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Retail Banking
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retail banking and
asset management

The business lines which form Retail Banking and Asset Management continued
their restructuring and consolidation efforts in 2003, for the most part complet-
ing them successfully. The segment reporting figures provide impressive evi-
dence that we embarked on the right course with these measures.

Retail Banking department

Thanks to excellent sales performance and the “play to win” restructuring pro-
gramme introduced in 2002, break -even point was reached in 2003, At €258m,
the operating profit was well ahead of our. medium-term planning. Desp|te the
persistently difficult market environment and the reduced sales force, revenues
were held at their year-earlier level. This translates into a productivity-_iné:rease
of over 20%. : ST

The pilot phase of the bank agency, the advisory branch model wath auto-
matic cash desk functions available on a 24 hour bas:s, was launched last year.’
After the test phase has been successfully completed, the bank agency will
enable us to extend our geographical presence in selected locations effucnently
and in a cost-conscious manner.

Successful against market trend

Whiie the number of bank accounts in Germany has been reduced by 9.4 million
over the past twelve years, Commerzbank has managed to hold its market share -
steady against this trend over the past ten years. In securities and lending busi-
ness in particular, Commerzbank has expanded thanks to the individualized and

- professional advice it offers.

Commerzbank an ideas laboratory

Talks with customers and market research have prompted us to examine the
subject of general financial knowledge. For despite a high degree of compe-
tence, many customers seem to have a deep-rooted uncertainty with regard to
financial topics. In Commerzbank's “ideas laboratory”, therefore, independent
experts are exploring topics related to personal finances. The experts formulated
the demand for a canon of general financial knowledge. This triggered a debate
in society which attracted great attention in both the media and the political
sphere. In restructuring its advisory processes, the Bank has already anticipated
the outcome and is, for example, systematically focusing on a comprehensive
structured survey of demand. The ideas laboratory will continue to pursue the
topic of general financial knowledge inside and outside the Bank.

We are translating the “ideas ahead” claim into innovations in the areas of
advice and products. Qur goal here remains to offer customers all financial ser-
vices under a single roof - regardless of whether these are our own products or
products provided by others.
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Pioneer in selling third-party funds

In order to increase the quality of advice and customer satisfaction, we have
added the investment funds of ather institutions to our range. In May 2001, we
recommended the first non-Group fund, the Fidelity European Growth Fund. In
the meantime, half of our recommended investment funds are not produced by
ourselves.

By deciding in favour of open architecture, Commerzbank has assumed a
pioneering role among Germany’s major banks. Last year, third-party investment
funds already accounted for 37% of the overall net inflow. When selecting its
own or third-party products, Commerzbank also takes into consideration the
assessments of external rating agencies. This procedure leads to a high-quality
range of funds on offer and makes objective, customer-oriented advice possible.

Attractive products for retail investors
Close contact with our customers is an important element in creating attractive,
innovative products. In 2003, we were especially successful with our portfolio
- insurance funds. Qur Best End Certificate, for example, enables customers to
dispose of investments before they reach maturity at the highest possible price
- a frequently expressed wish of investors in times of volatile markets.

The ADIG Total Return Product is also a response to the uncertain situation
" in securities markets. By means of flexible investrhent in equities and bonds, the

investor can benefit from interest-rate changes or.rising share prices according .

to market phase. What is more, the fixed-income element serves to secure the
investment and the achieved gains.

The Comas Unlimited Certificate offers even more protection against market
movements; it systematically decouples itself from the short-lived performance
of the equity, bond and foreign-exchange markets. For this purpose, the certifi-
cate is based on an index characterized by a broad diversification in profession-
ally managed hedge funds. The investment goal is simple: a steady return of
roughly 10% p.a. with a narrow fluctuation band of 3-6%. With these product
innovations, Commerzbank is making available to retail investors a major bank’s
extensive knowledge of capital-market instruments.

In 2003, Commerzbank also became the first bank to bring to the market a
special interest-rate product of KfW for retail customers. This represented an
innovative approach in property financing to making state promotion available
to retail customers, providing home buyers with very reasonable market condi-
tions.

Strong growth surge for bancassurance

We built further upon our successful cooperation with our strategic partner, the
AMB Generali group. This was above all thanks to the activities of our mobile
advisers for oid-age provision and building finance under the roof of our joint
subsidiary CommerzPartner. In connection with a sales offensive in the
branches, we managed to boost the volume of life insurances sold by 50% to
€760m last year. The rise in home-loan savings by 70% to €660m was even more
marked. We believe that we are well equipped for the future as well, therefore,
to participate successfully in the growing market for old-age provision.

[
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Fresh expansion of customer base in branch business

In 2003, too, we stepped up our activities to gain new customers. A series of
innovative sales measures produced over 100,000 extra customers for the Bank.
New customers were offered an attractive deposit interest rate. This was the first
time that the Bank had used an incentive to make the changeover and test phase
easier for new customers.

The strategic cooperation with TUl has been extended unti! 2012. About
450,000 TUI card-holders use Commerzbank credit cards. A systematic pro-
gramme for contacting customers and offering products is designed to bind this
group even more closely to Commerzbank. Thanks to its many years of good
experience with TU)l, Commerzbank is now a professional partner for further
cooperation agreements of this kind.

Steady expansion in online banking

Since its launch in 1997, commerzbanking.de, the virtual branch for retail cus-
tomers, has met with ever greater interest. In mid-2003, commerzbanking.de
was geared more strongly to sales and acquiring new customers; since then, it
has offered not only a broad range of information but also non-customers the
opportunity to conclude their banking transactions online. By end-2003, more
than 500,000 customers were taking advantage of the possibility to effect bank-
ing transactions in this form. With comdirect bank included, we are one of the
leading providers inthe German market, with roughly 1.2 million online-banking
customers.

Growth initiative “grow to win”

The encouraging result of Retail Banking in 2003 shows that the turnaround has
been achieved through a sustained reduction of costs and an increase in pro-
ductivity. On the way to becoming the best bank nationwide for retail and busi-
ness customers, we now need a sustained growth strategy. That is why we have
followed “play to win” in guick succession with a programme that, for one thing,
significantly optimizes the business model (excellence) and also generates
sustained growth. Through the “grow to win” programme, we intend to achieve
and hold a result that, independently of market performance, is on a par with our
target return,

International benchmarks in retail banking show that operative excellence is
the decisive success factor in retail business and the necessary condition for
profitable and sustained growth.

Naturally, we are constantly examining whether we can expand through
selective acquisitions. We took our first step in this direction by purchasing the
branch operations of SchmidtBank with its roughly 360,000 retail customers.

We are sure that we can lay the foundations for profitable expansion in retail

_business with this programme.
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comdirect achieves best result since it was formed

In the 2003 business year, comdirect bank achieved a pre-tax consolidated profit
of €39.1m - easily the best since the bank was formed in 1924, In a year-on-year
comparison, this meant an improvement of €57.7m. The resuit enables
comdirect to make its first dividend payment. The management board will pro-
pose to the annual general meeting on April 28, 2004, that a dividend of €0.16
per share be paid.

The increase in results can mainly be traced to two effects: for one thing,
operating expenses were significantly reduced again, by almost 19% to
€112.5m; for another, comdirect generated higher commission income. This is
above all due to the “com one programme for the future”, introduced in 2002,
with which comdirect has stabilized its revenues, lowered costs and streamlined
structures. '

Compared with the previous year, its customer base expanded by almost
18,000 to reach 640,220 at group level. As a result, comdirect continues to be
Germany's market leader in online investment. its UK subsidiary, comdirect itd.,
increased its number of customers to 49,700. B

Securities markets have steadily recovered from their low levels. With a year-
on-year rise of 11.8% in securities orders, comdirect benefited to an above-
average extent from this development. Its net commission income reached
€83.1m, representing a 7.7% increase on the previous year. However, net in-
terest income before provisioning declined by 10.5% to €57.2m. Apart from the
lower level of interest rates, the rise in interest paid was instrumental in this

respect, fuelled by special campaigns to acquire new customers. This was

prompted by the conviction that investing in attractive interest-bearing products
is an efficient way to gain new customers. While interest expenses rose, the
bank took in €800m in funds and acquired roughly 25,700 new customers. The
total assets under custody expanded altogether by €3.4bn to €10.4bn, thus
reaching their highest level in three years.

In response to the needs of its customers, comdirect bank established and
built up two further strategic pillars in the 2003 business year - parallel to the
ongoing extension of its Online Investment services. In its Direct Banking field of
competence, it bundles the products for short-term financial investments and
modern payments. In its Financial Advisory field of competence, comdirect looks
after its customers’ needs in the area of old-age provision and asset accumula-
tion. For this purpose, its comdirect private finance AG subsidiary was formed
in 2003. It opened its first office in Munich on October 1, 2003. Hamburg and
Diisseldorf followed in the same year, Frankfurt in January 2004, By implement-
ing this three-pillar strategy, comdirect is realizing its objective of being the bank
for the modern investor. It combines the efficiency of the online-based business
model with an individual, personal and all-inclusive service for the customer.

The share price of comdirect rose by 182% in the 2003 financial year. The
share thus registered the strongest performance in the MDAX index, in which
comdirect was included in September as the only bank with an oniine-based
business model.

23
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Asset Management
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Private Banking department

In 2003, the Private Banking department was able to build upon its position as
one of the three leading institutions in German private banking. The basis for
this success is the all-inclusive service which excellently qualified private-bank-
ing advisers provide for our wealthy clients. Drawing upon the support of sys-
tematic analytical instruments, they develop specific solutions for each individ-
ual customer. Further factors in our success last year were the good perform-
ance of our portfolio management and the innovative additions to our range of
products. The private-banking units in Switzerland, Luxembourg and Singapore
are aiso able to look back upon a successful year. In 2004 as wel!, Private Bank-
ing will continue to pursue a growth course thanks to selective investment in
closer contact with clients, product innovations and advisory services. We are
confident that these measures will enable us to acquire further new customers.

Asset Management department

At end-2003, Asset Management had altogether €83.3bn of assets under cus-
tody. By far the greater part of this amount is concentrated at our European pro-
duction units in Frankfurt, London and Paris. The Frankfurt-based COMINVEST,
formed in 2002, managed considerably more than half of the total assets under
management for its private and institutional customers.

In the past financial year, we altered our previous approach in ltaly and sold
our Commerzbank Asset Management Italia unit. As part of our European focus,
we also disposed of our American subsidiary Montgomery Asset Management,”
thus withdrawing entirely from the United States in this segment. The two dis-
posals removed a sizeable burden from the cost side in Asset Management.

COMINVEST achieves positive result

Even after all the costs and amortization had been deducted, we achieved a dis-
tinctly positive result with COMINVEST in the first year of its existence, thanks
to optimized procedures and effective cost management, With the administra-
tion and service units in Luxembourg, Dublin and Munich included, which
belong to the COMINVEST group, an amount of €28m emerges. In addition, we
launched numerous initiatives to extend our market- and customer-based activ-
ities and to improve our market position.

Retail funds back in favour

Despite a persistently difficult market situation and investors’ continuing uncer-
tainty, the retail funds arm of the COMINVEST group with its ADIG brand man-
aged to generate a positive net inflow of €493m in its high-earning securities
funds in 2003. Customers and distribution partners were especially attracted to
our successful portfolio insurance funds such as the ADIG Europa Invest family
with its inflows of €346m, our established bond-based funds and also the newly
issued ADIG Total Return Protect, with an inflow of €340m. The funds under
management expanded from €23.8bn to €24.4bn last year. This was partly due
to the revitalization of the ADIG brand through sponsorship of the long-estab-
lished soccer ciub Hamburger Sportverein.
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The performance of our funds also proved highly encouraging. Practically
70% of all funds beat their underlying benchmark; in some cases, the increases
easily exceeded the latter. .

The refocusing of the product range, greater efficiency in terms of both
administration and settlement as well as tight cost management all led to a
marked rise in profitability.

Innovative products for institutional clients

At end-2003, the institutional segment of COMINVEST was managing an overall
volume of €25.2bn in 336 Spezialfonds (non-publicly-offered funds), 25 port-
folios under free portfolio management and 15 retail funds not offered for pub-
lic sale. In addition, €2.2bn was invested in 33 advisory mandates.

Last June, COMINVEST Institutional launched the first German mutual fund
for institutional investors which invests almost exclusively in securitized issues
{asset-backed securities). This innovative product generated inflows of an over-
all €81.6m.

Custody service and custody outsourcing

The European Bank for Fund Services {(ebase}, a wholly-owned subsidiary of
CAM Holding GmbH, is a fuli-service platform for custody services and custody
outsourcing. In its second year of existence, it passed further important mile-
stones in its business development. In the field of capital investment company
outsourcing, it concluded - a cooperation agreement with Siemens KAG and
Credit Suisse Asset Management GmbH. The custody accounts of these com-
panies were combined with those of ebase and successfully integrated into the
ebase IT system. With its IT expertise and professional project management,
ebase has staked out a claim for itseif in the fiercely contested market for service
platforms. In the second product segment, multi-fund custody accounts, it has
reached agreement with its cooperation partners to make a range of 3,500 funds
available. At end-2003, ebase was managing altogether 910,047 accounts with
€6.2bn of assets under control.

Subsidiaries in Europe

Qur subsidiary in the United Kingdom, Jupiter International Group plc, benefited
from the positive trend for the UK stock market. Assets under management grew
by 22%. Hedge-fund management was especially successful with its flagship
Jupiter Hyde Park. The funds under management expanded from US$190m at
the start of 2003 to US$614m. At year-end, Jupiter was managing roughly
€15bn. This year as well, Jupiter is pursuing a profitable growth strategy so that
its funds can outperform comparable funds over the long term. Activities in the
current year are focused on improving the market position of its retail funds in
the United Kingdom. in addition, hedge-fund business is to be expanded and
growth potential tapped in Continental Europe by making use of synergies with
COMINVEST.

Our French subsidiary, Caisse Centrale de Réescompte (CCR), registered an
encouraging rise in its 2003 results of 22% to €23.3m. At end-2003, CCR was
managing assets of €12.8bn, an increase of 3.3% on the previous year. The man-
agement of equities based on the “value” approach, introduced by CCR in the
French market in 1998, displayed an impressive and extraordinary development,

b
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generating a plus of 122%. Thanks to this success, our subsidiary is benefiting
from a further diversification of its asset-management activities. At the same
time, it is maintaining its traditionally strong position as a leading provider of
money-market products.

ADIG-investment Luxemburg S.A. (ALSA) was administering funds of
€11.8bn in its core business - fund services for Group and non-Group asso-
ciates ~ at end-2003. In the shareholder services area, it was looking after 24,978
investment accounts with an overall volume of €1.0bn at year-end, €419.8m of

- which was attributabie to institutional investors. This represents a year-on-year

increase of 80%. In the current financial year, it is planned to focus on impie-
menting the interest-taxation guidelines and to concentrate further on core com-
petencies.

The Irish subsidiary, CICM Fund Management in Dublin, managed €3.2bn in
its core business of fund administration. In 2003, six new funds were launched
for Commerzbank and relations with other business lines, such as Private Bank-
ing, were further strengthened. Thanks to the stepped-up expansion of informa-
tion technology, CICM established a straight-through processing (STP) link with
all the custodian banks last June. Up to now, this has been realized by only a
handful of institutions.

The Spanish AFINA company maintained its growth strategy in 2003, raising
its assets under management by 50%. In order to increase market coverage and
to tap the attractive Catalonian market, an offshoot was established in
Barcelona.

Successful in Asia

As Asian markets rebounded strongly and sales activities became more inten-
sive, our-asset-management companies in Asia were able to expand their cus-
tomer base and their assets under management substantially. To an increasing
extent, regional products were developed in order to serve the growing intra-
regional investment flows. Profitability was boosted sharply again in 2003.



Group companies and equity participations
in the Retail Banking and Asset Management division

Retail Banking department
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comdirect bank AG

Commerz Service Gesellschaft
filr Kundenbetreuung mbH

COMMERZ PARTNER Beratungs-
geselischaft fir Vorsorge- und
Finanzprodukte mbH

Quickborn 58.7%? i | Quickborn 100.0% | | Frankfurt am Main 50.0%
Private Banking department
Commerzbank Europe Commerzbank f Commerzbank international Commerzbank
{lretand) international 5.A. | { Trust {Singapore) Ltd. (South East Asia) Ltd.
Dublin 44.0%" | { Luxembourg 100.0%? | | Singapore 100.0%" ;Singapore 100.0%
{
Commerzbank
{Switzerland) Ltd
Zurich ' 100.0%2
Asset Management department
COMINVEST European Bank for Fund ADIG-Investment AFINA Bufete de Socios
Asset Management GmbH Services GmbH {ehase) Luxemburg S.A. Financieros, S.A.
Frankfurt am Main 100.0%? | | Haar near Munich 100.0%” | | Luxembourg 100.0%* | | Madrid 48.7%
Caisse Centrale de Capital Investment Trust CICM Fund Management Ltd. Commerz Advisory
Réescompte, S.A. Corporation Management Co. Ltd.
Paris 99.6% | | Taipei 24,3%" 1 | Dublin 100.0%* ! | Taipei 100.0%>
Commerzbank Asset Commerz International Capital | | Jupiter International KEB Commerz Investment
Management Asia Ltd. Management (Japan) Ltd. Group ple Trust Management Co. Ltd.
Singapore 100.0% | | Tokyo 100.0%? | i London 100.0%? | | Seoul 45.0%

1) The Parent Bank holds some of the interest indirectly,
2) The Parent Bank holds the interest indirectly.
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Corporate Banking
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corporate and investiment? banking

The Corporate and Investment Banking division is responsible for business rela-
tionships with companies and institutions as well as the product and trading
areas geared to these groups of customers. '

Strategically, the systematic development of business with the successful
German Mittelstand continues to be of outstanding significance for us. We
intend to become Germany's best nationwide bank for Mittelstand companies.
At the same time, we want to be the partner of choice for our larger corporates
and multinationals, able to provide them with the right solutions.

Corporate Banking depaﬂnﬁent

“In view of the flat economic performance in Germany for the third year in suc-

cession and a further rise in company insolvencies, the overall conditions for
corporate business ,rémained difficult in 2003. They were felt above all in per-
sistently weak demand for financing, primarily reflected at the Bank in a decline
in our lending to‘-lar‘éer corporates and multinationals. While provisiohing for
problem credits is sijll at a high level, we were able to reduce the valuation
aliowances in our Ie_‘ﬁding by altogethef'more than a fifth, not ieast thanks to
the acknoyvledged ezf'.ficiency;a_n'd state-of-the-art character of our systems for
managing risk. o : :

We attach great priority to reflecting risk in our pricing, which in any case will
become obligatory at the latest with the introduction of Basel Il. Margins in cor-
porate business remain narrow and do not adequately reflect the risk. Alongside
these efforts, we have stepped up our cross-selling in order to sell more of our
other banking products and services and we are intensifyiﬁg the dialogue with
our customers, ' '

Lending offensive for Mittelstand

In order to underscore our Mittel/stand orientation and to counter the frequently
and indiscriminately raised accusation that the private-sector banks are no
longer lending to Mittelstand firms, we launched a lending offensive last spring
especially designed for this group of customers. In a first step, we made avai-
lable an extra one billion euros in funds. Shortly afterwards, we were able to
arrange a global loan of €500m with Kreditanstalt fir Wiederaufbau for financ-
ing the investments of smaller businesses. In addition, we made available - for
the first time at individual state level - a giobal loan of €250m with L-Bank
Baden-Wirttemberg especially for companies in this state. A third general ioan

facility of €100m for firms in Bavaria was arranged with LFA Forderbank Bayern.

We pass on the funding advantage realized through these general loan facilities
to our Mittelstand borrowers. All told, we provided almost €2bn from these pro-
grammes alone for the new business of smaller firms, thereby holding our lend-
ing to Mittelstand companies steady against the general trend - in marked con-
trast to popular talk of a credit squeeze.

N
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In order to improve the financial standing of smaller businesses and to cre-
ate greater transparency, we have strengthened our rating-based advisory ser-
vice. There has been remarkably strong demand for our “rating:coach” product.
In the meantime, we have found over 200 customers for this very individual
advisory service. :

Dynamic expansion of “public sector”

In addition to traditional corporate customers, we are increasingly serving insti-
tutions of the public sector as an independent target group of Corporate Bank-
ing. Above all, these are the federal, state and local authorities, and especially
“Konzern Kommune” with its often numerous municipal companies and finan-
cial peculiarities.,

As a rule, the main emphasis is on communal loan business, which regis-
tered an encouraging development. In 2003, for instance, Commerzbank was
once again the European market leader in selling credits under the EIB global
loans programme. But we were also successful in finding financing soiutions
for social-insurance institutions, local utilities and waste-disposal companies as
well as for healthcare institutions. There was also lively demand for derivative
instruments for use in interest-rate mahagement. Institutions availed themselves
to a very great extent of the persisfently low level of interest rates both to
finance investments and to reduce their interest burdens.

Advising municipal enterprises, such as public utilities, continues to be par-
ticulariy important. On account of the trend towards more competition and
greater deregulation, organization and rating are the main topics here. In the
area of municipal investment, we have created.a special mixed fund consisting
of equities and bonds, “KommunalCorent”, as a portfolio insurance instrument
and have been quite successful with.it.

Improved functions for corporate-customer portals

We added several functions to our two Commerzbank corporate-customer
portals last year, thereby making electronic access to the Bank even easier. The
Mittelstand portal, for example, now has a forward money-market function. In
the meantime, this “companydirect” portal is regularly selected and used by
more than 22,000 of our corporate clients. This represents virtually half of the
relevant target group.

Additional modules and functions have also been integrated into “company-
world”, the internet portal for larger Mittelstand firms. These make documentary
foreign commercial business and also bulk payments via internet simpler and
international payments easier. Our goal continues to be to introduce new appli-
cations, creating greater fimancial scope for corporate customers through these
portals and providing them with a better overview of their day-to-day trans-
actions.

New fund products for financial investments

In order to tap new attractive financial investment opportunities for Mittelstand
customers and smaller institutional investors, Commerzbank has reached an
agreement for close cooperation with the American SEl Investments Company.
First and foremost, our customers, who are able to choose between two invest-
ment funds applying the manager-of-managers approach, will benefit from the

st
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independent selection and control of SEl, one of the world’s leading companies
in the area of investment consultants. This will give them access to the best
managers in all the relevant markets and investment styles. Through the coope-
ration with SEl Investments, our investors will achieve far better performance for
their company funds, especially over the medium to long term.

Commerzbank is the first bank in Germany to conclude such an exclusive
cooperation agreement with a broadly-based manager-of-managers platform.

Mezzanine to overcome weak capital base

With our new product initiative “Mezzanine for the Mitte/stand”, we are seeking
to tackle a core problem of Germany’s smaller businesses:; their overly high
debt/equity ratios. By offering mezzanine financing, we are expressing our con-
fidence in their future. They can then receive the liable funds to enable them to
realize their investment plans without having to restrict their decision-making
scope. The mezzanine funds are made available by our subsidiary Commerz
Beteiligungsgeselischaft and have an average lifetime of five to seven years.

Our goal: mare Mittelstand customers
In the current business year as well, Corporate Banking is set to steer an expan-

- sion course. In the Mittelstand segment in particular, we want to gain new cus-

tomers and raise the proportion of such companies which have a Commerzbank
account from its present level of 39%. An important role in this connection is
played by our four financial engineering centres set up in 2002, providing on-
the-spot support for our corporate relationship managers in the form of quality
structured and corporate-finance products. We will do all that is in our power to
complement our attractive product range in the areas of interest-rate, currency
and liquidity-risk management, transaction and cash management, as well as
international trade and export financing by adding innovative solutions
designed for Mittelstand firms. At the same time, our Mittelstand offensive is
intended to help make our corporate business as a whole more profitable.

“Move to the top”
At the start of 2004, our Bank’s entire Corporate Banking repositioned itself. We
gave this important corporate project the name “Move to the top”. The main
emphasis in this repositioning is to make a clear distinction in the support which
we provide for our key target groups ~ on the one hand, for smaller businesses
at our 20 main branches with more than 150 sales locations; on the other, for the
larger corporates centres, specialized in dealing with our larger corporate cus-
tomers in the major business locations of Hamburg, Dusseldorf, Frankfurt,
Stuttgart and Munich, Retaining our successful existing practice, we will continue
to look after roughly 100 selected multinationals from our head office, applying
a global relationship management approach. With this systematic target-group
orientation, we will further strengthen our excelient competitive position.
Experts at finding solutions for such management problems as interest and
currency risk or complex solutions in the area of cash and transaction manage-
ment are available to support these customer segments. They are assigned to
the newly formed product areas Interest, Currency & Liquidity Management
(ICLM) and Trade Finance & Transaction Services {TFTS), which have a single
management. Maintaining the previous successful arrangement, a qualified
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relationship manager will coordinate the overall business relationship with the
client. We believe that this new orientation will above all generate sustained
growth in the Mittelstand segment and more intensive commitments in the
larger corporates area.

Financial Institutions department

On behalf of the Group, the Financial Institutions department looks after rela-
tions with German and foreign banks and financial services providers as well as
central banks and countries. Applying a global approach, it also complements
our network of operative outlets. In the 2003 financial year as well, it made a
stable contribution to results.

Our strength abroad is based on a closely-knit network of 26 representative
. offices as well as delegates of the Bank in all the leading economic regions. In
addition, the relationship managers at head office possess detailed knowledge
of the cultural, legal and economic conditions in the regions for which they are
responsible.

In fdreign commercial business, contacts with over 6,000 banks document
Commerzbank’s position as a leading external-trade bank. We handle the finan-
cial side for 16% of Germany's external trade — a large: market share which has
been growing for years and which we easily maintained in 2003; for exports
alone, the share is even as much as 17%. We are especially weli-positioned
in the emerging markets, for which this department serves as a centre of com-
petence.

Comprehensive range of services

We provide businesses active in external trade with a comprehensive and high-
quality service. Here, Financial Institutions forms the bridge between German
corporate customers and foreign banks. Our main products and services are:

* Advice on delivery transactions and planned investments

* Handling payments via direct accounts in more than 70 currencies

+ Provision of foreign guarantees, taking into consideration local regulations

+» Cover against claims arising from letters of credit or guarantees

» Forward exchange cover even for exotic currencies

o External-trade financing, from forfaiting to complex structured products, as
well as

* Direct on-the-spot support.

In 2003, we were able to confirm our important position as a European trans-
action bank and participant in the euro-clearing system.

Good opportunities in Central and Eastern Europe
Despite geagraphical concentration on our European home market, Commerz-
bank still has a direct presence in 43 countries.

In Central and Eastern Europe, we have even increased our presence in some
places. At the end of the year, for example, our new branch in Bratistava began
operations, which had developed from the Bank’s former representative office

s
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Securities department

" -2003.

Equity tied-up (€m) - 995

Operative return _
on equity 0.3%

Castfincome ratio in ‘
operating business  99.7%

in Slovakia. In the current year, a further representative office will follow in the
Serbian capital, Belgrade. Our network in the Central and Eastern European
region, where we are one of the largest foreign banks, is complemented by
minority stakes in several procredit banks, the former microfinance banks.

By far our most important involvement in the region is our interest in BRE
Bank in Poland, which having achieved a turnaround last year is now back on an
expansion course. With its market share of a good 6.56%, it is one of the country’s
leading banks. After receiving the approval of the authorities to raise our exist-
ing 50% interest in BRE Bank to a maximum of 75%, we acquired further shares
through two public tender bids. In the meantime, our stake amounts to more
than 72%. This puts us in a position to play a major role in a consolidation of the
Polish banking market.

US branches successful

Last year, the Commerzbank branches and subsidiaries operating in Western
Europe had to cantend with a persistently unfavourable market environment. We
mainly concentrated on improving the networking of our units and on strength-
ening our sales teams through specialists for complex financing solutions.
Larger corporates and multinationals in particular benefited as a result.

In North America, we maintain four branches; last year, they remained on a
successful course, once again turning in exceptionally good results. Their pre-
tax return on equity reached 24%. Above all, asset/liability management and sec-
ondary-market activities registered above-average performance again. The cost
base was further reduced, by a tenth. Due to the strong economic upswing, we
see good opportunities for our Northern American outlets this year as well.

Securities department

The strongest improvement in the results of our operative business lines last
year was registered b)ll the Securities department, which has included foreign-
exchange business since mid-2002. Thanks to substantia! reductions in costs,
accompanied by a recovery in trading revenues, and with a gradually more pos-
itive outlook in the markets, Securities returned to profitability.

Central to business strategy in 2003 was an expansion in services for corpo-
rate clients in Germany, but also throughout Europe as a whole and the United
States. For the first time, the range extended from capital raising and products
for hedging and asset enhancement to advising companies facing the need to
reorganize their balance sheets.

Synergies from integration of bond and FX businesses

The fixed-income area benefited last year not only from the persistent buoyancy
of new issues and trading activity in many markets, but also from the integration
of foreign-exchange and interest-rate business. Both of these will now be pro-
vided from a single platform and can draw upon the synergies to their mutual
benefit, given the ever greater influence that exchange rates have on interest
rates.
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In options business as well, the advantages of this integration are becoming
evident, with a positive trend in both client business and proprietary trading. The
launch of long-dated/exotic FX options will add further to revenues this year.
A new electronic trading platform, developed last year, will give our private and
carporate clients direct access to the global FX market.

In the run-up to EU enlargement, we have integrated trading in Central and
Eastern European bonds into our major European centres in London and Frank-
furt, enabling us to provide the complete service of an international investment
bank for all customers in the accession countries as well.

Turnaround in equity capital markets

Thanks to the strong recovery in equity markets and increased fund-raising
activity on the part of many companies, we considerably expanded our equity
capital markets business. Among other things, Commerzbank acted as adviser to
France Télécom in their €15bn capital increase, the largest-ever rights issue. The
deal was named Equity Issue of the Year by International Financing Review. The
improved performance of ECM was achieved despite a disappointing IPO market
in Germany.

The development of a European-based M&A business remains a key part
of the strategy to provide our clientele with a complete range of investment-
banking products.and services. In a subdued market environment for M&A, we
advised clients in ten completed deals last year.

Combining the syndicated loan and debt capital markets groups also had a
positive impact on our business opportunities. We served as joint lead arranger
for a two-year credit of €13bn for DaimlerChrysler. [n addition, we were the lead
manager of syndicated loan deals for such prominent companies as Volkswagen,
Degussa and Linde.

In the bond market, we played a major role in a floating-rate issue, once
again for DaimlerChrysler. Other important issues in which we were involved
were launched by the Republic of Turkey and the European aerospace company,
EADS.

In asset-backed securities, we built further upon our strong market position
and franchise. Among other things, we were the sole bookrunner for both of
the two largest European securitization deals, for Aareal Bank and Eurohypo.
We believe that the true sale initiative, which Commerzbank has worked to
establish, will generate sustained growth for the securitization market over the
next few years.

Success with hedge fund certificates

Our derivatives group benefited from both the recovery in equity markets and
our efficient distribution channels for institutional and private investors in Ger-
many. The star product proved to be our hedge fund of fund index-linked cer-
tificates, offered under the name of Comas, The new Comas unlimited certificate
in particular achieved excellent performance combined with low volatility.
Commerzbank is now regarded as a major player in the fund-linked derivatives
markets,
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Independent Commerzbank research

Research activities are increasingly focused on a core German expertise across
all asset classes, geared to the needs of both institutional and corporate cus-
tomers. In different independent surveys, we performed exceptionally well,
underlining our approach of offering absolutely independent research that
meets high quality standards.

Real Estate department

Our Real Estate department has remained unchanged, comprising Commerz
Leasing und immobilien AG (CLI), Dusseldorf, and Commerz Grundbesitz Gesell-
schaft GmbH {CGG), Wiesbaden. Once again, it achieved an encouraging profit
contribution of about €100m.

CL) - a leading German leasing company

Despite a difficult overall economic and tax framework, our subsidiary CLI was
able to strengthen its position as one of the leading and most profitable German
leasing companies. The group consists of CommerzLeasing und Immaobilien AG
together with 13 subsidiaries and four equity participations, covering the entire
spectrum-of leasing and real-estate business. Last year, it generated its largest
volume of new business to date, at €2.5bn, with expansion fuelled by activities

- in Germany. The leasing of moveable goods grew by a particularly dynamic 22%.

All in all, the CLI group asserted its market position in the real-estate area,
which includes - apart from the leasing of property and large moveable goods ~
structural financings and funds, and further expanded it in the leasing of move-
able goods. At end-2003, the overall portfolio of contracts amounted to €32bn.
The year's most important transactions were:

« In real-estate/structured investments, a leasing contract for a fund-based
plan of over €400m for the new head office of a major company, a major
municipa! investment with a volume of more than €300m and a €100m sup-
plier financing for investment in machinery and equipment by an automobile
components supplier.

¢ In the fund area, the inclusion of five ships of identical construction in a ship-
ping fleet fund with a volume of US$167m and a stadium fund of €163m. In
addition, a project development plan was implemented in Disseldorf with
roughly 22,000 square metres of office space and included in a closed-end
property fund. As a result, the overall volume of investors’ capital held in
funds rose to €3.4bn, representing 82,000 individual investments.

+ In the leasing of moveable goods, the acquisition of Hansa Automobil
Leasing GmbH and also the integration of ComSystems GmbH, a company
for the leasing of hardware and software, sold by DaimlerChrysler in 2002.
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CGI/HAUS-INVEST remains on successful course

Once again, the Commerz Grundbesitz group achieved above-average success
with its sales. Under the roof of Commerz Grundbesitz Gesellschaft, it consists
of Commerz Grundbesitz-Investmentgeselischaft mbH (CGI), which manages the
open-ended property fund HAUS-INVEST europa, and Commerz Grundbesitz-
Spezialfonds-Gesellschaft mbH (CGS) for business related to non-publicly-
offered property funds.

Last year, a net €1.75bn flowed into HAUS-INVEST europa - roughly 13% of
the net inflows for all of Germany's open-ended property funds. The fund’s
assets rose to €11.9bn. As a result, it remains the market leader, at 14%, and also
the largest German investment fund.

The large net inflows were immediately invested in attractive real estate.
At year-end, the overall portfolio comprised 152 properties in 10 countries and
60 cities. The non-German share of the assets amounted to more than 75%.

Commerz Grundbesitz-Spezialfonds-Gesellschaft can also look back on a suc-
cessful year. It has now launched four property funds for institutional investors
and acquired altogether 28 properties in nine European countries, for which it
invested an amount of roughly €600m.

Group companies and equity participations
in the Corporate and Investment Banking division

Corporate Banking department

BRE Bank SA Commerzbank {Budapest) Rt. E:Commerzbank {Eurasija) SAO Commerzbank {(Nederland) N.V. I
Warsaw 72.2%} | Budapest 100.0% : Moscow 100.0% [ Amsterdam 100.0%”
H i I
Commerz (East Asia) Ltd. P.T. Bank Finconesia
Hong Kong 100.0% ; | Jakarta 51.0%
Securities department
. 1 |
CBG Commerz Beteiligungs- Commerzbank Capital Markets [ Commerz Futures, LLC i {Commerz Securities i
gesellschaft Holding mbH Corporation | ! | (Japan) Company Ltd. |
Bad Homburg v.d.H. 100.0% | | New York 100.0% E Chicago 100.0%" , Hong Kong/Tokyo 100.0%
j ! {
Real Estate department
} Commerz GrundiBsitz- ommerzLeasing und
! gesellschaft mbH Immobilien AG
100.0% | ! Dusseldorf 100.0%

Wiesbaden

1) The Parent Bank holds some of the interast indirectly.
2) The Parent Bank holds the interest indirectly.
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staff and welfare report

In view of the persistently unfavourable economic situation, we launched a
further cost-cutting offensive with the aim of reducing operating expenses by
almost €700m to altogether €4.5bn by end-2004. Apart from numerogus savings
in non-pefsonnel costs as well as various painful cuts in pay and extra benefits,
this also called for additional staff reductions of 3,100 full-time personnel - this
time mainly at head office and in our foreign outlets.

In 2003, we realized all our targets. The Commerzbank Group’s regular work-
force shrank from 34,336 in June 2001 to 27,630 full-time staff at end-2003. This
means that over 6,700 jobs were shed, which we have achieved up to now with-
out dismissals. In 2004, just under 700 jobs have to go, which, as things stand
today, we will be able to realize according to plan.

Company pension

A further measure adopted by the Board of Managing Directors to reduce per-
sonnel cov’sts was the cancellation of the company old-age provision schemes
- the so-called bank pension - as of December 31, 2004. The cancellation, which
was a hard decision for the management to take, had become very necessary for
economic_kéasons. It related exclusively to the Bank’s own pension scheme.
Employees’ benefits stemming from Bankenversicherungsverein (BVV), the
banking industry scheme representing the second and much larger pillar of
Commerzbank's old-age provisic'in, was not affected. '

Moreover, by the end of January 2004, in response to calls by the central staff
council, the Bank declared its readiness to negotiate on a possible new system
for company pensions, on condition that a new system of benefits would elimi-
‘nate the risks attached to previous arrangements. -

The former systems, which were based on the final salary, entailed substan-
tial and also incalculable risks that would have become economically intolerable
and unjustifiable for the Bank. Above all, changing external factors, such as
lower state pension payments and tax changes, are leading to ever greater
financial commitments on the part of the Bank. Given the difficult economic set-
ting in which Commerzbank is operating and in view of the medium to long-term
perspectives, the Bank has to be able to calculate the cost of the company pen-
sion scheme better. This was not the case under the existing arrangements.

In mid-February, the Board of Managing Directors and the central staff coun-
cil reached agreement on the framework for a new system of company provision
for old age. The three existing internal agreements on the bank pension are to
be replaced by a uniform defined-contribution internal agreement. Negotiation
of the details was to begin at end-February and is to be concluded by end-June
2004.
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Data on Commerzbank’s personnei™

. 2008 2002 Changein %

Total staff Group” . 32317 36,566 -11.5

Permanent staff Group? © 29580 33,224 -11.0

Total staff Parent Bank" 28,343 -10.9
including: based abroad 2,604 : -11.6
including: trainees . 1,568 -15.1

Permanent staff Parent Bank . o 229667 25,303 -9.2

Years of service oLy
more than 10 . 56.2% 53.2%
more than 20 S 223% 21.0%

Total pensioners and surviving dependents e 11,587 11,267 2.8
including: those retiring during the year a8 446 6.5
those entering early retirement 1407 291 -51.9

Older staff on part-time scheme S 3380 316 7.0

*) Actua) number employed; 1) including local staff in representative offices and cleaning and kitchen personnel, excluding staff on mater-
nity leave and long-term sick; 2) employees, excluding trainees, junior executive staff, temporary staff, volunteers, cleamng and kitchen -
personnel, staff on maternity leave and fong-term sick.

Looking ahead

in order to streamline our administration even further, we have subjected work
procedures in personnel support to critical examination. The aim of the project
was to maintain the quality of personnel work or even. improve it in times of
cost-cutting. The core features of the restructuring which has been initiated are:
less administration through more efficient structures and procedures, a higher
degree of automation through the use of modern technofogy and more intensive
advisory functions.

The new electronic portal “Personal Online” gives employees, managers and
human resources staff direct access to all the necessary personnel information,
services and applications. Many activities - such as entering periods of leave,
making an adjustment to flexitime or notifying a change of address -~ can now
be handled swiftly and smoothly online.

In a new information centre, members of staff and managers receive exten-
sive and professional advice on all personnel-related topics which are not cov-
ered by “Personal Online”.

In addition, specialists at ten regional service units advise managers of our
Bank in particular on complex issues arising in various ways from the responsi-
bility borne for managing personnel.
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Internal suggestions scheme

Qur internal suggestions scheme, COMIDEE, which was radically overhauled
five years ago, continues to meet with very high acceptance. In the years ahead
as well, we will ensure that it remains a dynamic process. There is hardly
another forum which employees can use to express their ideas and criticism so
directiy by having an impact on the company with their own ideas and receiving
an attractive award in return,

Skill management - coming to grips with personal development

Employees frequently express the wish to form a clear picture of the opportuni-
ties for their personal development and deployment within the Bank. By intro-
ducing our skill-management system, we are able to fulfil this wish. Staff can
now make their personal qualifications, experience, abilities and interests within
the company transparent electronically and thus actively shape their profes-
sional development. At the same time, skili management provides managers
and human resources personnel with transparency as regards the potential of
the staff in the areas for which they are responsible. With the aid of the system,
managers can analyse the need for staff -in their department to gain further
qualifications, seek suitable candidates to fill vacancies in their department and .
optimally support their staff in achieving their development goals. Participation
in skill management is voluntary and is dependent on the active involvement of
employees and managers. Following the successful pilot phase in our manage-
ment circle B and on the retail side of our Mannheim main branch, skill man-
agement will be successively introduced nationwide starting this year.

Developing managerial potential - more important than ever

Especially in economicalily difficuit times, developing managerial potential is of
key importance. The main emphasis is on the management circles which we
have established to develop management personnel for the most part from
within the Bank and to prepare them for their next post. All of Commerzbank’s
management circles begin with a selection procedure, followed by various qual-
ification modules.

Which management circie for which function?

In management circle C, 188 staff are currently gaining the qualifications for
their future functions as either group leaders or branch managers. At present,
management circle B has 123 future sectional heads or regional branch man-
agers. The 26 members of management circle A are preparing themseives to
manage a main branch or head-office department. The management circles
enable us to secure a constantly high level of managerial skills at Commerzbank.
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Training younger staff

In the difficult economic environment of the past few years, we have maintained
our training of younger personnel at a level well in excess of our own needs. In
addition to commercial training, we offer training as bank information scientists,
courses at vocational academies, qualification for younger staff through
Commerzbank study circles, tertiary-level studies in banking and further training
via our own internal junior executive programmes and courses of study at
Bankakademie.

Altogether 419 young people started their training at Commerzbank in 2003.
Most of them - 313 participants - are future qualified bank employees (Bankkauf-
feute), while 72 are students at the vocational academy.

A major feature last year was the systematic implementation of our new
approach to the training of qualified bank employees. The main goal of the new
approach is to encourage people to act with a sales orientation and to learn of
their own accord. We want to put our trainees in a position to seize the initiative,
to actively approach customers, systematically analyse what is needed, develop
satisfactory solutions, present them convincingly, thereby achieving customer
satisfaction. With the aid of detailed correspondence lessons and new media, it
is possible to acquire the necessary theoretical foundations and then train the
application of the knowledge acquired in practical workshops. The stronger link
between learning at college, on the one hand, and on-the-job learning at the
Bank, on the other, enables our future bank employees to work even more suc-
cessfully for the benefit of our customers and the Bank.

We thank our staff
Successful personnel work can only be realized in constructive cooperation with
the management and the employee representatives. That is why we want to take
this opportunity to thank the staff councils, the spokesmen of the Bank’s senior
staff, and the representatives of both the physically disabled and the younger
staff for the responsible nature of their cooperation.

Naturally, our special thanks go to all those staff who, despite the difficult
overall conditions, have put in intensive efforts to help us achieve a return to
profitability in our operating business.
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After the year’s crises, the fear of terrorism, but above all the war in iraq and the
long period of sluggish economic activity, the quick recovery in the equity mar-
kets and the return to normal undoubtedly came as a surprise. German finan-
cials in particular registered marked price gains in 2003, advancing at double- or
three-digit rates.

With a plus of 108.7%, the Commerzbank share even claimed first place in the
DAX index. The performance not only of its national competitors but also of
European financials improved to a far lesser extent. Over the twelve-month
period, the DowJones EuroStoxx Banks index climbed by roughly 35%. In a year-
on-year comparison, Commerzbank’s market value surged from €4.0bn to
€9.3bn due to its price performance and the increase of about 10% in the num-
ber of shares.
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Group restructuring makes progress - capital increase without rights issue
The extensive revaluation of our entire securities and investments portfolio
came as a positive surprise for the market. We see the following advantages:

« Permanent reduction of goodwill amortization;

« Disposals from investments portfolio have been made easier;

o Lower funding costs;

s Sustained profitability and ability to pay dividend have been achieved, which
will also benefit shareholders in the form of a higher share price and divi-
dend payments;

+ Strengthening of position vis-a-vis competitors and in current consolidation
process.

This revaluation measure, whose rigour and scale were unique up to now in
the European banking sector, went hand in hand with the issue of new shares.
The capital increase without subscription rights for shareholders was resolved in
order to dampen the effects of the measure on the Bank’s regulatory capital.
interest in subscribing to the roughly 53.3 million new shares was so great that
the transaction was concluded within only a few hours. The book had been over-
subscribed more than four times. The new shares were allocated at a price of
€14.25, This transaction lifted the number of issued shares to almost 598 million.
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Change in shareholder structure

Through the capital increase, several changes have occurred in our shareholder
structure. The interest of Munich Re, for instance, was reduced from 10.4% to
9.5%, while that of WCM initially fell from 5.5% to 4.9%; the company has since
disposed of at least a further 4% of our shares.

As only an interest in a company that exceeds 5% is deemed a permanent
investment, the free float in Commerzbank shares rose to 81.7%. The free float
is crucial for a company’s weighting in various indices. For this reason, the
Commerzbank share now accounts for 1.792% of the DAX index.

In January 2004, we commissioned a fresh survey of our shareholder struc-
ture. The findings are now available and present an interesting picture, not least
by comparison with the last detailed surveys in 1994 and 1999.

The most obvious shift is that over the past ten years the percentage of
Commerzbank’s shares held by institutional investors has steadily increased,
from 48% to 60%, and now to as much as 76%. This confirms that the disposals
of blocks of shares and the November 2003 capital increase have landed for the
most part in the custody accounts of institutional investors.

Private investors hold over 24% of Commerzbank AG in 347,600 accounts,
with 23% held in Germany. 29% is in the hands of German companies and insti-
tutional investors. At the start of 2004, therefore, 52% of Commerzbank shares
were held by German investors, the fargest domestic investor being Munich Re.

Non-German banks and institutional investors account for 48% of Commerz-
bank’s shares. 32% is held in member states of the European Union, with italy
especially prominent at 12%. Above all, Assicurazioni Generali (9.1%]),
Mediobanca (1.4%) and Banca Intesa {1.9%) should be mentioned in this con-
nection. Since the last survey five years ago, the position of non-German
investors has increased by ten percentage points. At 8%, the United Kingdom
occupies the next place, followed by Spain with 4%; here, Bank Santander
Central Hispano has a 3.4% stake in Commerzbank. Swiss investors hold 6% of
Commerzbank’s shares and US investors 4%.

When share prices boomed in the second half of the nineties, the numher of
Commerzbank shareholders surged from 190,000 to 410,000. The more sober
mood of the past few years has reduced the number of direct investors some-
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Commerzbank’s
360,000 shareholders

inpercent
share of capital held
{as of start of March 2004}
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Turnover in
Commerzhank shares
2003

in € bn, quarterly figures

NoW o]

Daily turnover

High 35.32m units
Low 0.81m units
Average 3.70m units

what. However, with 360,000 investors Commerzbank remains one of Germany's
major public companies. Its employees and pensioners represent a significant
group, to which the Bank has regularly issued special employee shares for prac-
tically three decades. In the meantime, they own just over 3% of the Bank.

Stock-exchange fistings of the Commerzbank share

Germany Berlin, Bremen, Disseldorf, Frankfurt,
Hamburg, Hanover, Munich, Stuttgart, Xetra

Europe London
Switzerland

Asia Tokyo
North America Sponsored ADR

(CRZBY) CUSIP: 202597308

The year’s IR highlight: Investors’ Day 2003

In 2003 as well, Commerzbank's investors’ Day was a convincing event: more
than 90 analysts and fund managers took up the invitation to come to Collegium
Glashdiitten in order to hear about the latest developments at the Bank and the
progress made by the individual business lines. More people participated than
in the previous year, reflecting the growing interest of the financial community
in Commerzbank.

Capital-market communication

Apart from Investors’ Day, which has established itself as a fixed element of IR
activity, we also - as in previous years - held a number of analysts’ meetings,
conference calls and roadshows as well as group and individual discussions, in
order to improve our service for analysts and investors, we further improved
Commerzbank’s IR internet portal.

Recently, mounting interest has been registered on the part of fixed-income
analysts in Germany and elsewhere in information about Commerzbank. So far,
the enquiries have primarily related to the equity capital side; in future, the
Investor Relations team will include this group to a greater extent in its commu-
nication activities.

Our outlook

More positive overall economic conditions and stable or improving markets
make us confident as regards the development of our net interest and commis-
sion income. We expect provisioning at Group level to recede further to below
one billion euros. We had already achieved the cost targets we had set ourselves
for 2004 by end-2003. As things stand today, we will be able to hold our work-
force at its current level. In 2004, we intend to come close to our target of 8% for
the after-tax return on equity, even though in our planning we do not exceed this
level until 2005. For 2006, we plan a return on equity that is higher than the
medium-term cost of capital of 10%. At the same time, we want to get our
cost/income ratio down to 65% by then.



Commerzbank's major shareholdings in the financial sector

OUR SHARE, STRATEGY AND OUTLQOKXK

Milan 1.7%| | Madrid 1.9%; |Sao
H

{
Assicurazioni Generali Banca Intesa S.p.A. i Korea Exchange Bank
|
Trieste 1.1%; | Milan 38% | Seoul 14.8%
Mediobanca Santander Central Hispano |
| Bancos Brasileiros S.A. {
Paulo 5.1%"|

1) held indirectly

{n February 2004, we agreed with SchmidtBank to take
ness. In concrete terms, we are acquiring 70 branches and 2

over its branch busi-
9 self-service centres

in Bavaria, Thuringia and Saxony. Thanks to this transaction, our retail customer

base will expand by 10% or so. In addition, there are rou

ghly 4,000 corporate

customers. We expect the newly acquired business activities to be profitable by

2005.

Cur strategic goals are:

» to be the efficient provider of financial services for demanding private cus-

tomers in Germany;

« to become the number one bank for Germany’s successful Mittelstand and
the creative relationship bank for larger corporates and institutions in Europe

as well as for multinationals from all over the world;
s to achieve a close integration of corporate business and

investment banking;

+ to allocate equity to reflect business lines’ growth potential;

s and to reduce strategically unnecessary shareholdings.

Commerzbank's 2004/2005 financial calendar

May 12, 2004

Interim report as of March 31, 2004

May 12, 2004

AGM, Jahrhunderthalle Frankfurt

August 4, 2004

Interim report as of June 30, 2004

September 22, 2004

Commerzbank Investors’ Day

November 10, 2004

- Interim report as of September 30, 2004

February 2005

Annual resuits press conference 2005

Early May 2005

interim report as of March 31, 2005

May 20, 2005

AGM, Jahrhunderthalle Frankfurt

Farly August 2005

Interim report as of June 30, 2005

Early November 2005

Interim report as of September 30, 2005

All the major Commerzbank corporate news items are also available from *

Investor Relations” on our homepage: www.commerzbank.com.
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|. Risk-oriented overall management of Commerzbank

1) Risk-policy principles
Commerzbank regards the professional treatment of risks as an important core
competency and an integral part of a value-oriented overall Bank management.

Apart from the risk strategy formulated by the Bank’s Board of Managing
Directors, the basis for monitoring and steering risk throughout the entire
Commerzbank Group is a comprehensive risk manual, presenting the organiza-
tional guidelines, responsibilities and procedures of the Bank’s overall risk-
management system. Both frameworks are regularly examined and adjusted to
accommodate internal and external developments. This creates the basis for a
uniform Group-wide standard in dealing with all the major types of risk, Respon-
sibility for implementing the risk strategy is borne by the Chief Risk Officer
(CRO), who is a member of the Board of Managing Directors.

Commerzbank’s system for the early recognition and monitoring of risk is
geared to identifying risks in good time and to taking measures to counteract
such risks in the sense of a proactive management and control of risk. The meth-
ods applied to measure, steer and aggregate all types of risk are continually
being refined and reguiarly adapted to Commerzbank-specific requirements and
current market conditions. Comprehensive, objective reporting enables the
Board of Managing Directors as well as shareholders and market participants
reguiarly to assess the Bank's risk situation.

As an elementary feature of the steering of risk and earnings, the systematic
portrayal of risk provides the basis for business activities at the Commerzbank
Group to be appropriately backed with capital and through its integration into
the management of economic capital, it helps bring about an optimal allocation
of capital and a sustained increase in the Bank’s market value.

2} Risk categories
For the purpose of risk management, the following types of risk are distin-
guished at Commerzbank:

Credit risk is the risk of losses or lost profits due to unexpected defaults or
unexpected deterioration in the creditworthiness of counterparties. In addition
to this, credit risk covers above all issuer risk, counterparty risk and country risk.

The general market risk represents the potential loss of a portfolio due to
changes in share prices, exchange rates, precious-metal/commodity prices or
interest rates in the market as a whole and their volatilities. The specific market
risk (spread risk) covers the risk of loss due to changes in price of individual
interest-rate and equity-based financial instruments relative to changes in the
relevant market indices ~ which are reflected by the general market risk.

For risk-management purposes, the risks arising from equity holdings of
Commerzbank are also subsumed under market risk. They result from changes

in the valuation of listed and non-listed equity holdings, which may be due to -

issuer-specific factors or also to general market movements.
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Liquidity risk, also understood in the narrower sense as the solvency or refi-
nancing risk, is the risk of the Bank not being able to meet its current and future
payment commitments. The market-liquidity risk describes the risk of the Bank
being unable to settle or hedge its trading positions on time to the desired extent
due to the market situation.

Operational risk is the risk of loss resulting from inadequate or defective
internal processes and systems, human and technical failures, or from external
events. The adopted definition is geared to the current supervisory discussion
and consequently also includes legal risks arising from inadequate contractual
agreements or from the overall legal framework as part of operational risk.

Business risk is understood by Commerzbank as the risk of unexpected neg-
ative developments in results, which may be due to unforeseeable changes in
business volume or the margin situation on account of changed overall con-
ditions such as the market environment, customers’ behaviour or technological
developments.

Strategic risk is the risk of unexpected negative developments in results
stemming from previous or future fundamental business-policy decisions. These
may take the form of decisions with regard to business lines or business associ-
ates or the choice of a local strategic approach.

Reputational risk is the danger of losses or lower earnings on account of
publicized business occurrences which erode the confidence of the public or
business associates in the Bank. Reputational risk may result from other types of
risk or may arise alongside these.

3) Integration of risk and capital management into the Bank’s

overall management
A close meshing of risk and earnings components is especially important for
value-based overall Bank management. Apart from guaranteeing that the entire
Bank has a capital base that is adequate for its risk profile, the objective of over-
all management of the Bank is to allocate the resource equity as optimally as
possible - in other words, to use it in business lines which yield a strong return,
even with risk taken into consideration.

All the Group's risks - insofar as they are quantifiable - are aggregated in a
risk-taking capability caiculation and the overall risk figure worked out for the
Group is set off against its risk capital. The purpose of this comparison is to
ascertain whether the Bank is in a position to anticipate potential unexpected
losses without serious negative effects on its business opportunities and to
cushion their impact. In order to distinguish it from other definitions of capital
used in accounting and for regulatory purposes, the calculated risk is also
referred to as economic capital, as it is economically necessary for cushioning
unexpected fluctuations in results.

Commerzbank calculates economic capital by taking market risk, credit risk,
operational risk and - in the year under review for the first time - also business
risk into consideration. In the case of market risk, a further distinction is made
between market risk in the trading book and in the banking book as well as that
arising from equity haoldings. As, in addition to the regulatory core capital that is
tied up (KWG Principle 1), the individual need of the various business lines for
economic capital is identified, it is generally possible to work out risk-adjusted
performance.



The chart below shows the percentage share of the various types of risk in
the Bank’s overall economic capital.

29% Market risk - -
" lequity holdings) .-

In order to achieve a more sophisticated risk/return-based overall Bank man-
agement, Commerzbank’s Board of Managing Directors resolved in the year
under review that the economic capital concept should be integrated into the
management of business lines. In this connection, a project for steering via eco-
nomic capital was implemented at Commerzbank, drawing upon external verifi-
cation and validation of the economic-capital approach which was applied. This
confirmed that the models used met the market standard. In addition last year,
key parameters for quantifying and aggregating economic capital were adjusted
to a more conservative view of risk.

To ensure compatibility between the various risk categories, all types of risk
are scaled consistently over a twelve-month period. Last year, the confidence
level of 99.95% used here was far more conservative (previous year: 99.80%).
With the diversification effects taken into consideration, the economic risk of the
Commerzbank Group stood at €7.9bn as of December 31, 2003, which cannot be
directly compared with the year-earlier figure as different assumptions were
used for the parameters.

Economic capital in € bn . '31.12.2003:
Market risk {trading book) L 0.8
Market risk (banking book) QT
Market risk {equity holdings) e 2.9:

Credit risk S 43
Operational risk 0.9
Business risk 05
Total 10
Total {after diversification effects) R £

The Bank is convinced that over the medium term the integration of eco-
nomic capital into the management of business lines, using a RAPM (risk-
adjusted performance measurement) approach, will make a notable contribution
towards raising the Bank’s earnings/profitability. In addition, higher trans-
parency will be achieved with regard to the comparability and profit contribution
of the various business lines under risk and return aspects, and shareholder
value will be created, as the scarce resource capital will be allocated even more
efficiently as part of a risk-based overall Bank management.
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li. Risk-management/risk-control organization

The organizational structure of risk management and risk control within the
Commerzbank Group provides the basis for an effective risk- and return-based
steering of the overall Bank. Risk management implies all the measures appro-
priate for increasing the Bank’s market value on the basis of an active and con-
scious management of all risks by the risk-management units. Risk control, how-
ever, comprises the identification, guantification, limitation and monitoring, as
well as the reporting, of risks. On the basis of the quantitative and qualitative
assessments, risk control also provides recommendations and impulses for the
operative steering of the front-office units.

Responsibility for the implementation throughout the Group of the risk-
policy guidelines laid down by the Board of Managing Directors lies with the
Chief Risk Officer (CRO), who in this function regularly informs the Board of
Managing Directors and the Risk Committee of the Supervisory Board about the
Group’s overall risk situation. In addition to assuming responsibility for Risk
Contral (ZRC), the CRO is also in charge of Global Credit Operavtions (ZCO) and
Credit Operations Private Customers {ZCP).

For the operative implementation of risk management, the Board of Man-
aging Directors have delegated functions to specific committees, which support
them in making decisions on all risk-relevant issues:

Risk-management/risk-control organization

|sk Com:mitteg of'.‘tvﬁ'e;Supéﬁiéb'ry Bbard .
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s The Credit Committee - chaired by the CRO, and made up of equal numbers
of front- and back-office personnel -~ is responsibie for the entire credit risk at
the individual and portfolio level. Within the overall hierarchy of loan
approval powers, it decides all of Commerzbank’s lending commitments of
up to 2% of its liable equity and also issues a recommendation on all the
lending decisions to be taken by the Board of Managing Directors. In addition
to the Credit Committee, further head-office and regional sub-credit commit-
tees exist which, depending on the size of the commitment, can take lending
decisions independently.

+ The Risk Committee, chaired by the CRO, is responsibie for issues related to
the monitoring of all the major types of risk, as well as their aggregation as
part of the economic-capital approach and for the overall risk situation; it also
helps the Board of Managing Directors in formulating the risk strategy.

s As a sub-committee of the Risk Committee, the New Product Committee is
made up of representatives of various trading units and service departments
and is chaired by the head of ZRC. it is responsible for approving the intro-
duction of new products and markets.

» The Operational Risk Committee (OpRiskCo), chaired by ZRC, performs its
function as a sub-committee of the Risk Committee in dealing with all the
broader issues relating to operational risk.

» The Asset Liability Committee (ALCO), chaired by the Board member respon-
sible for treasury, determines the Bank’'s asset/liability and liquidity strategy
and policy.

1) Risk control
Overall responsibility for Group-wide risk control for all types of risk lies with
Risk Control (ZRC}), which reports directly to the CRO.

The core functions of ZRC within the risk-control process include the ongoing
identification, evaluation and monitoring of market, credit, business and opera-
tional risks in particular and also their proactive control. To ensure uniform risk
standards throughout the Group, ZRC works out internal guidelines for dealing
with all the major types of risk, also establishing and refining adeqguate methods
for quantifying risk. In addition, ZRC is responsible for internal and external risk
reporting and performs within the Bank an advisory function on all risk-relevant
issues and with regard to the conception of the risk strategy.

Apart from implementing risk-related supervisory requirements, ZRC con-
centrates on preparing information for the Board of Managing Directors and
producing quantitative risk analyses and key ratios for steering trading port-
folios. A central role here is played by the Group-wide aggregation of all types
of risk to form an overali risk position and the development of an ever more
sophisticated risk- and return-oriented overall Bank management as part of the
economic-capital approach.



A

58 MANAGEMENT REPORT

2) Risk management: the operative credit function (back office)

Commerzbank sees itself as a pioneer in implementing throughout the Group
the organizational pattern and structuring of operations called for by the “Mini-
mum requirements for the lending business of credit institutions” {MakK). Last
year, the restructuring of credit risk management along MakK lines, begun in
2002, was completely concluded worldwide. As required by MaK, the independ-
ence of lending decisions from the front office has been ensured by the syste-
matic separation of sales and risk assessment/risk decision-making in every
phase of the credit process and up to management board level.

For corporate customers, financial institutions and banks worldwide, as well
as for private customers abroad, the operative credit function (back office) has
been concentrated on the Global Credit Operations (ZCO) banking department.
For retail customer business in Germany, the back-office function is performed
by the Credit Operations Private Customers {ZCP) department. Both departments
are organized along decentralized lines and monitor risk closely; they report
directly to the CRO,

In both corporate and retail business, credit-approval powers are clearly
structured according to the principle of committee decision-making. All commit-
tees, in which the two sides are equally represented, are chaired by credit-analy-
sis and approval specialists. Below management board level, a credit may not be
gzranted if the representative of the back-office side votes against it. At each level
of approval, the front-office side has the possibility of declaring its disagree-
ment. The decision is then taken at the next highest level.

Thanks to the existence of a distinct interface for the intensive treatment of
commitments which are latently endangered to a great extent and aiso to the
firm responsibility of the credit side for intensive treatment commitments, prob-
lem credits can be treated intensively at an early stage. For this purpose, units
have been installed both at head office and at the regional levei specializing in
the handling of such commitments, The prime goal of this intensive treatment is
to improve the Bank’s risk position and, wherever possible, to return the inten-
sive-treatment loans to the better credit brackets. In cases in which it is thought
passible to improve the Bank's risk position considerably through operative
action, the Bank seeks a lead-manager role, drawing upon its entire expertise.
Above all in cases where the Bank can exert little influence, alternative exit pos-
sibilities are increasingly sought. In particular, this includes the identification of
credits in poor risk categories which can be reduced through secondary-market
activities and the introduction of the respective measures. Secondary-market
activities help to mitigate risk, taking into account the cost/benefit ratio, and also
to release tied-up capital.

In addition to their traditional credit function, ZCP and ZCO maintain their
own head-office risk-management departments for operative credit portfolio
management. Their core functions are to analyse the development of relevant
parts of portfolios and sectors (volume, risk concentration, risk/return ratio, pro-
visioning) and also the development of solutions for making portfolios more
dynamic and improving them. Transactions are closely coordinated between
front- and back-office teams.



3) Risk management: operative risk-steering of market units {front office}
Within the scope of their business activities, the individual divisions and sub-
sidiaries of the Bank bear immediate responsibility for risk and earnings.
Risk management in the narrower sense ~ i.e. the operative steering of risk - is
handled for the various types of risk -~ with the exception of credit risk ~ on a
local hasis by the relevant market units. These local risk units are also respon-
sible within their division for implementing and observing the Group’s risk stan-
dards.

Responsibility for steering operational risk ~ insofar as systems, processes
and technology are affected - is borne by the head-office service departments.
The steering of legal risk is entrusted to the Legal Services staff department
{ZRA), while responsibility for strategic risk lies with the Strategy and Control-
ling staff department (ZKE).

4) Internal risk reporting

Prompt, objective reporting is of special significance in managing risk. The cen-
tral information medium and steering instrument for internal purposes is the
monthly risk report produced by the Risk Control department, which is pre-
sented by the CRO to the Risk Committee, the Board of Managing Directors and
the Risk Committee of the Supervisory Board,

The monthly risk report contains detailed evaluations and presentations of
all the major types of risk within the Commerzbank Group, aggregating them
- insofar as they are quantifiable - into an overall risk position. As part of the cal-
culation of risk-taking capability, the identified risks are set off against the regu-
latory and economic capitat for risk coverage. If necessary, the report is adjusted
to accommodate current developments and presents the latest status of major
projects relevant for risk (e.g. Basel Il, MaK). At the same time, it forms the basis
for presenting risk data to supervisory bodies and rating agencies.

5) Internal auditing

The functioning and adequacy of all risk-control and risk-management activities
are examined by the Internal Auditing staff department (ZRev) in accordance
with the Minimum requirements for the organization of the internal auditing
function (MaiR). Internal Auditing forms an integral part of the Group-wide risk-
control and risk-management system and works, free from directives and ex-
ternal influence, as a unit independent of business processes with the goal of
identifying risk at an early stage and monitoring it. In the course of its auditing
activities, it monitors compliance with both internal and supervisory standards
such as the Minimum requirements for the trading activities of credit institutions
{MaH).

The main emphasis in internal auditing is on testing and assessing the effec-
tiveness of both security measures built into the work process and existing inter-
nal checks, as well as on reporting on the structure, functioning and adequacy of
risk monitoring to the Bank’s management and the Group units affected. Risk-
oriented auditing includes the recognition, analysis, limitation, limit monitoring
and reporting of credit and market risk, as well as the establishment and limita-
tion of operational risk.
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6) Implementation of developments in supervision: Basel Il and MaK

For Commerzbank’s risk strategy, the changes in the overall framework of
banking supervision are also of crucial importance. Currently, the main factors
here are the introduction of the Minimum requirements for the lending business
of credit institutions {MaK) and the implementation of the New Basel Capital
Accord (Basel il).

A principal goal of the New Capital Accord of the Basel Committee on
Banking Supervision {Basel ll) is to promote the security and stability of the
banking and financial system. in addition to the risks involved having to be
reflected in the capital backing provided for credits, the other central elements
of Basel Il requirements are the elaboration of banks’ internal systems of control,
their monitoring by the supervisory authorities and market discipline. According
to current plans, banks are supposed to implement the new capital accord by
end-2006. ’

The introduction of the new capital requirements will lead to a convergence
of the regulatory and the economic views of risk; it makes possible an analysis
of risk at the portfolio level and thus also lays the basis for a risk-adjusted steer-
ing of the overall Bank. For implementing the Basel }l requirements, a project
team was set up in the Risk Control department in 2001. Working together with
the banking departments, the staff departments and subsidiaries, it coordinates
the implementation of the Basel |l requirements throughout the Group.

in addition to the technical and substantive implementation of Basel ll, the
project is already looking into the time "afterwards”, i.e. the impact of the
new capital adequacy rules after Basel I, and is instigating the relevant
activities. Through its participation in international and national bodies such
as the Institute of International Finance (IlF} and the risk-policy committee of
the Bundesverband deutscher Banken (Association of German Banks},
Commerzbank is also involved in the substantive discussion for developing the
rules further.

The Minimum requirements for the lending business of credit institutions
(MaK), published by the German Financial Supervisory Authority in 2002, define
qualitative standards for the organization of credit business to be met by Ger-
man banks by June 30, 2004. Should adjustments be necessary in the IT area,
the deadline for implementation can be extended until end-2005.

The requirements mainly focus on ensuring an adequate risk environment,
within which credit business may be conducted. Banks are obliged, therefore, to
create and internally implement the overall conditions for establishing the
appropriate organization and procedures for credit business and also for the
development of methods for identifying, steering and monitoring credit risk.

Prominent among the overall conditions is the formulation of a credit-risk
strategy, in which credit activities are defined for an appropriate planning
period. Here, the existing credit-risk strategy has been refined in accordance
with regulatory requirements with the cooperation of the market and credit
units. This also took into account the Bank’s risk-taking capability as well as an
analysis of the given business situation and the related risks.



The core requirement of MaK as regards organization is the separation of
front- and back-office functions. The credit-risk control function consists of an
independent monitoring of risk at the portfolio level and independent reporting.
Here, Commerzbank has already met the standards for {oan-approval procedures
and the organizational separation of front- and back-office functions. More far-
reaching requirements, such as the implementation of risk-classification meth-
ods have similarly already been met, but they are being made more sophisti-
cated in order to achieve a constant improvement in the methods applied.

For the purpose of realizing further MaK requirements, a detailed target/
performance comparison and analysis of the fields of activity were drawn up
for Commerzbank’s entire lending business pursuant to Art. 19, (1), German
Banking Act - KWG. Drawing upon these findings, the Bank has begun to build
up a comprehensive data warehouse to store the combined MaK and Basel |l
data for the implementation of the necessary adjustments in the IT area.

The MakK project, launched at end-2002, was meshed even more closely with
the existing Basel Il project in the year under review in order to guarantee a con-
sistent database for implementation throughout the Group.

iil. Risk-controi/risk-management process

1) Monitoring and controlling credit risk

The credit-risk strategy elaborated with a view to the Minimum requirements for
the lending business of credit institutions {(MaK) describes the planned lending
activities, thus creating important strategic impulses. With the Bank’s general
risk appetite taken into consideration, the starting point in this respect is a criti-
cal analysis of the strengths and weaknesses of the current credit portfolio. Com-
plemented by a forward-looking evaluation of the opportunities and risks in the
target markets, this provides the framework for the definition of a risk/return-
oriented target portfolio together with the related planning of measures.

In the realization of the targeted risk/reward profile, this "henchmark port-
folio” forms the basis for Group-wide portfolio-management activities. Apart
from the acquisition of new customers from specific target groups, these also
include the conscious use of asset trading, credit derivatives and asset-backed
securities (ABS), thereby covering the entire spectrum of the initiatives of busi-
ness lines. In order to ensure that actions conform to the credit-risk strategy and
to restrict concentrations of risk, Risk Control establishes risk ceilings for sec-
tions of portfolios and concentration risks (business lines, sectors, products and
regions). As part of a comprehensive controlling process, utilization of these
caps is subjected to constant independent monitoring and reporting.

Internal rating system

For many years, Commerzbank has drawn upon detailed rating and scoring pro-
cedures for checking creditworthiness and standardizing credit decisions. These
are binding for our branches and subsidiaries in Germany and elsewhere. Bor-
rowers are assigned to ten different rating levels, ranging from 1.0 {excep-
tionally good creditworthiness) to 5.5 {very weak creditworthiness) as well as
two rating levels for problem loans (6.0 for pre-work-out commitments and 6.5
for work-out commitments).
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The internal rating procedures are continually being further developed and
undergo a regular validation procedure, in which adequate methods are used to
check the ability of every rating system to classify risks properly. In order to
ensure that all of the Bank’s lending commitments are covered by ratings and
that the rating procedures are applied uniformly throughout the Group with the
various accounting standards taken into consideration, permanent professional
checks and documentation assume a key role.

Commerzbank has accepted the structural change in the German credit mar-
ket and the statutory requirements expected on account of the Basel capital
adequacy rules as an opportunity and is currently subjecting its existing rating
systems to efficient professional and technical checks and also revision. The aim
is to secure and build upon our strategic competitive edge by consistently rea-
lizing risk-adjusted pricing on the basis of best-practice rating tools. To achieve
these ambitious goals, the Bank is taking extensive measures in the credit-risk
area in order to recognize the Base! 1l internal Ratings-Based {IRB) Advanced
Approach.

Assessing creditworthiness in corporale business

The rating for Mittelstand clients based in Germany is calculated with the help
of an expert system Codex, which analyses the key figures of the financial state-
ments, but also takes qualitative company data into account.

Commerzbank regards its rating system for corporate business as a distinct
competitive advantage and decided last year to pursue a stronger mathematical-
statistical approach, in addition to the assessment of experts, in the methods it
applies in rating corporate customers. In 2004, these models will be refined and
combined with the existing methods. It is Commerzbank’s aim to achieve better
portfolio diversification and thereby reduce its cost of capital and average mar-
gins.

Assessing creditworthiness in retail business

In its retail lending, Commerzbank has successfully used application scoring
procedures and rating methods for assessing the creditworthiness of both
dependently employed borrowers and business customers for several years
now. All of these methods are computer-based and draw upon acknowledged
and highly reliable, predominantly mathematical-statistical methods for the
early recognition of risk. In addition, Commerzbank has introduced a behavi-
oural-scoring procedure on a nationwide basis, which -~ monitoring in-payments
and the customer's payment record - makes a permanent and fully automatic
monitoring and adjustment of limits possible for over one million customers
maintaining accounts for payment transactions. It is to be extended to business
customers who do not have to prepare a balance sheet.

The procedures that are relevant for ratings, whose employment depends,
for example, on the customer group in question or the use to which the credit is
to be put, have been added to step by step. The behavioural scoring developed
by Commerzbank has been steadily refined in order to make possible a constant
computer-based evaluation of the creditworthiness of dependently employed



borrowers. Even today, therefore, a regulatory requirement has been met
which will become effective in 2007 when the new Basel Accord is implemented.
As a rule, it is not necessary for borrowers to become actively involved in this
process {e.g. by making available income statements, etc.) insofar as this does
not viofate statutory requirements,

Quantification of credit-portfolio risk

Commerzbank'’s internal credit-risk model is of key importance for risk monitor-
ing, portfolio management and steering sales efforts. It provides important data
for quantifying credit risk in moving towards an overall Bank management
based on economic capital. The portfolio model’s range of application stretches
from the global, Group-wide monitoring of portfolios to measuring the risk
contributions for individual transactions. As a result, the results produced by
the model are reflected in risk measurement and sales management in a variety
of ways. .

The main result produced by the portfolio model is the so-called loss distri-
bution, permitting probability statements on possible losses in credit business.
From this, both the expected loss (EL) and the credit value-at-risk {credit VaR) as
the measure of unexpected loss (UL} are derived. For a given confidence level,
the credit VaR represents an upper estimate of the extent to which the potential
loss of a credit portfolio may exceed the expected loss. At the same time, the
credit VaR for the Group portfolio represents the credit-risk portion of the Bank’s
economic capital. In a revision of the parameters designed to produce a more
. conservative approach to risk, the confidence level used has been raised from
99.80% to 99.95%.

Quantification of the credit value-at-risk within the Commerzbank Group is
based on the CreditRisk+™ model, which is widely used in banking; however,
it has been substantiaily refined and adapted to the specific requirements of
Commerzbank. The model makes possible, for instance, a risk-adjusted redistri-
bution of the portfolio and diversification effects right down to individual cus-
tomer level on the basis of conditional expectations. In this way, the relative
share of the overall credit risk borne by the individual units can be determined
at various levels of aggregation.

A variety of risk factors and parameters are included in the model. Apart from
estimates of the exposure to be expected in the case of default and the conser-
vative recognition of collateral, guarantees and netting agreements, these also
incorporate such statistical quantities as default rates, recovery rates und sec-
tora) correlations. As part of the ongoing modification of the model, the input
parameters for calculating risk were altered in 2003. In particular, further resulits
of the statistical methods of estimation implemented as part of the Basel ||
project were integrated into the model. Together with the raising of the con-
fidence level, this led to a marked increase in the credit VaR as well as a slight
rise in the expected loss.

Ail told, the Group’s credit VaR per December 2003 was €4.3bn and its
expected loss €1.25bn. The median for the loss distribution, serving as a yard-
stick for the potential loss which with 50% probability will not be reached, is
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Expected loss and
credit value-at-risk
as of 31.12.2003

Breakdown by business line,

in€m

somewhat below €1.1bn. If the model with its new parameters is retroactively
applied to December 2002, it becomes evident that the 2003 financial year was
characterized by a lowering of credit risk {reduction of expected loss and credit
VaR by 7.5% and 13.8%, respectively).

Asset Management

_Trép§ury
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The above chart shows the contributions of the various business lines to the
Group’s expected loss and credit VaR. in the traditional Mitte/stand segment
{Corporate Banking), where the Bank’s main credit risk develops, the ratio of
unexpected to expected risk is roughly 3:1. Given a high level of diversification,
this relationship is more favourable in retail business, where expected loss is
more important as a result. In business involving multinational corporates and
in investment-banking areas, however, the risk is significantly determined by
unexpected loss, as the structure of creditworthiness is generally very good here
and bulk risks alone with their volatility represent a potential loss.

For portfolio-management purposes, the expect Joss and credit VaR shares of
individual sectors are additionally worked out and a loss-at-default value is
assigned to each sector. The risk volume (loss-at-defauit {LaD]) of an individual
transaction is defined as the forecast loss in the case of a customer's default
- with collateral and recovery factors taken into consideration. it may therefore
be interpreted as a risk-adjusted credit volume.

The risk data discussed up to now make it possible to assess credit risk for a
one-year time frame (risk measurement). These variables provide key informa-
tion for portfolio management, the calculation of risk-taking capability and the
implementation of the credit-risk strategy between the two poles of risk and
return.

For longer time frames, the portfolio model is used to work out standard risk
costs and economic capital costs as well, which provide sales personnel with
customer-specific signals. The standard risk costs are used in calculating the
return-on-equity (RoE) at the level of the individual transaction. As part of the
transition, begun in 2003, to the economic value added as the control variable,
the economic capital costs are successively being integrated into the steering of
business relationships with individual customers. To an increasing extent, they



are being used in the Bank’s risk-adjusted pricing and define a system of incen-
tives in the acquisition of new and follow-up business. In this way, it is ensured

that the portfolio targets established by the Bank under its credit-risk strategy .

are already observed at the loan origination level.

Credit-approvai powers

The basis for managing credit risk throughout the Group is a structure of rating-
related credit approval powers, which also extends to the subsidiaries
Hypothekenbank in Essen and Erste Européische Pfandbrief- und Kommunal-
kreditbank (EEPK).

Credit decisions for individual borrowers or groups of borrowers are made
on the basis of either the aggregated exposure pursuant to Art. 19, (2}, German
Banking Act - KWG (borrower unit), or a larger economic risk entity. The Board
of Managing Directors has delegated credit decisions up to a maximum amount
of 2% of the liable equity to the central credit committee chaired by the CRO.
Sub-credit committees at head office (up to 1% of liable equity) for banks, cor-
porate and retail customers and regional sub-credit committees on the corporate
and retail side in Germany and abroad complete the picture of credit-approval
powers. The credit committees are made up of representatives of the front and
back office in equal numbers.

By way of preparation for the MakK, the credit-approval powers delegated
ad personam were scaled back, according to the degree of creditworthiness, to
a low euro figure in the double-digit millions and the lending powers of the com-
mittee were strengthened. The result in terms of risk underlines the success of
this structure of credit-approval powers.

Monitoring of credit risk for trading activities

In Commerzbank’s management of the Group's credit risks arising from trading
activities, special attention is paid to counterparty and issuer risk. A system of
limits is used to monitor whether daily utilization remains within the set frame-
work. The system of limits directly intervenes in trading systems and ensures
that credit exposure arising from trading activities is monitored globally, in real
time, and right around the clock.

The size of the credit risk for trading activities is worked out using simulation
methods, which project credit risks on to the future. Here, the risk-mitigating
effects of netting agreements are taken into consideration, as is the effect of
collateral agreements. In addition to such information, trading units are
provided with data on whether the relevant limits are available. Only if the so-
called pre-deal limit check has confirmed that free trading lines are available
may deals be concluded. Limit breaches are reported daily to the management.
By means of a graduated procedure, such overruns are brought back within the
set limits.

&
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Development of risk and risk provisioning

Doubtful credit exposures are classified by rating and kept in a special IT system,
which makes it possible to process individual transactions effectively and to
monitor risks. Discernible credit risks are taken account of by forming the appro-
priate provisions. For latent risks general provisions are formed. For concrete
creditworthiness risks — which are indicated by the rating — provision is made,
applying Group-wide standards, by means of specific valuation allowances on
the scale of the potential loss. The amount of provisioning required for problem
loans (rating of 6.0 to 6.5) is gauged by the unsecured part of the exposure. An
individual assessment of the borrower in terms of future payments is also incor-
porated into the calculation of the need for provisioning.

in international credit business, the economic and political situation of the
country is also reflected in the overall assessment of a borrower. For loans to
borrowers with an enhanced country risk {transfer or event risk), provisions are
formed, if necessary, on the unsecured exposure, reflecting the relevant internal
country rating, in the form of provision for country or individual risks, with
priority always given to the latter type.

The adequacy of the Bank’s risk provisioning is regularly monitored at the
portfolio level. In addition, the expected need for provisions throughout the
entire financial year is worked out each spring and autumn on the basis of care-
ful bottom-up estimates. These are complemented in the course of the year by
further regular top-down estimates. As a rule, after the conclusion of insolvency
proceedings, after disposal or after an accord has been reached, or debt for-
giveness at the expense of existing provisions, the claims are removed from the
books and residual amounts are written off or reversed.

Despite last year’s persistently high level of insolvencies, it proved possible
to lower the Group's net loan loss provision ratio by 11 basis points to 0.66%
compared with 2002, putting Commerzbank in a good position relative to its
competitors, The conservative approach to working out provisioning needs was
retained; the actual amount reqguired fell considerably short of the budgeted
figure. The write-off ratio in 2003 also reflects direct write-offs through the
proactive sale of critically assessed performing loans. As a result, the Bank has
limited its unexpected loss in the years ahead. Despite additional burdens
imposed by the last few weeks of the year, the Bank achieved its target for pro-
visioning of just under €1.1bn. In addition, thanks to active risk management,
the problem of major increasingly latent risks could be reduced.
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Country risk

In view of the international character of Commerzbank’s business activities, the
monitoring and management of country risk is especially important. The essen-
tial core of country-risk monitoring is formed by a well-established so-called
traffic-lights system which points the direction for future business activities and
lending.

Country ratings are worked out and constantly updated by the Corporate
Communications and Economic Research staff department, which is independ-
ent of the market side. Under the traffic-lights system, groups of countries with
a rating of 3.0 and lower and a certain minimum exposure are covered.

TARORTLL T e B%CRA S

e WhCRS

% AR

CIRCRAL 1%CRE

CR-= country rating -,

The system distinguishes between commercial banking, investment banking
and equity holdings, on the one hand, and short and medium/long-term expo-
sures, on the other. For risk optimization purposes, the Bank has extended its
controlling for a number of countries to so-called total exposure. This takes
account not only of the net country exposure but also of the claims in a non-risk
country on the foreign outlets and subsidiaries of a parent company based in a
risk country.

The monitoring of country risk/exposure occurs at monthly intervals. A
reporting system is used for possible discrepancies between the projected
trends and the actual development of the Bank’'s exposure, enabling counter-
measures to be taken promptly. Country-risk reports appear at periodic intervals,
describing the development of individual countries and regions and establishing
guidelines for future lending. In this way, we achieve risk-oriented contro! and
geographical diversification in our exposure abroad.
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Sectoral and butk risks
Sectors are similarly managed by means of a limits/traffic-lights system. The
internal assessment (scoring system) and the degree to which a sectoral limit
has been exhausted determine the colour of the traffic lights, which steers sales
efforts, using resources economically, and indicates where the Bank seeks new
business and where its commitment is deemed to be large enough. In the case
of bulk risks, the traffic lights are determined by the use of economic capital,
with use of more than €20m representing a critical ceiling for borrower groups.
In addition to steering new business activities, Global Credit Operations per-
forms active portfolio management {exits, disposal, and above all risk coverage)
in close coardination with the front office and trading units. Apart from the steer-
ing of new business by means of selective instructions with regard to lending,
therefore, the creation of a more dynamic portfolio is a major feature of the man-
agement of sectoral risk.

Use of credit derivatives

Commerzbank looks upon products which transfer credit risk as an important
instrument for managing such risk, taking portfolio-management aspects into
consideration. The Bank’s credit-trading activities are primarily in proprietary
trading as a market maker, above all for credit default swaps (CDS). At the same
time, Commerzbank offers its customers structured, derivative credit products.

.- Protaction bought

-30,000 -20,000 -10,000 0 10,000 20,000 30,000

In addition to trading activities, Commerzbank employs credit derivatives in
its banking book, with the focus on both limiting risk and selectively taking on
credit risk. For this purpose, a team has been set up in credit derivative trading
specially to hedge major credit exposures in the banking book. This team uses
the centralized risk-management platform of the trading section and - observing
the internal credit guidelines - also invests in credit derivative products in order
to diversify the portfolio and make use of open credit lines. Through deliberate
investment in these products, extra earnings potential is tapped and new asset
classes explored.



Securitization transactions

Commerzbank AG is one of the leading issuers of ABS/MBS transactions in
Europe. Its issuing activity is mainly concentrated on the structuring of synthetic
securitizations. In these, the credit risks of the securitization pool are hedged by
credit default swaps against third parties and transferred to investors by placing
credit-linked notes. in addition to synthetic structures, balance-sheet claims are

also securitized to a lesser extent in the form of a true sale securitization. Here,.

the claims - arising from trade bills — are legally assigned to a special-purpose
entity, which then, for its part, issues securities. Up to now, mainly private and
commercial mortgage loans and corporate credits have found their way into the
securitization pool.

Commerzbank uses securitizations as defined by the new Basel capital
accord (Basel 1) as an originator for the significant transfer of credit risk, taking
into consideration portfolio-management effects and in order to achieve a better
diversification of risk. In addition, the Bank is active to a reasonable extent as an
investor (in accordance with the Basel Il definition) in ABS instruments.

The following table presents an overview of Commerzbank’'s securitized
assets (nominal volume of in-house securitization programmes as of December
31, 2003):

. Nominal amountin € m

. Collateralized loan obligations {CLO)* ettt 6,306
Residential mortgage-backed securities (RMBS) S e 61988
Trade bills* R A L%}
Total . L 13,481

* As CLO and trade-bill securitizations also represent revolving pools, the actual securitized volume in
2003 was €28,722m and €1,248m, respectively.

Reporting for credit risk

For credit risk, Commerzbank uses an intranet-based management information
system, CoMKIS. As an integral part of Group-wide credit-risk control, CoMKIS
makes it possible to present the main steering parameters and important risk
data; it can also be used to perform individual evaluations, such as rating- or
sector-based portfolio analyses. |n this way, analyses of weak points may be
made on the basis of various search criteria and early-recognition indicators can
be defined and evaluated. In addition, new indicators are provided for mea-
suring portfolio guality. These are, for instance, rating-migration analyses, in-
cluding the related upgrade/downgrade ratios. ‘
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The CoMKIiS information, covering both German and foreign credit business,
is incorporated into the credit section of the monthly risk report. The risk-man-
agement departments of the Group units in Germany and elsewhere have direct
intranet access to CoMKIS. The control information available through CoMKIS
permits a detailed analysis of portfolio developments over time and serve as a
basis for launching risk-limiting measures.

Credit risk arising from trading transactions is reported on the basis of the
Minimum requirements for the trading activities of credit institutions (MaH).
Limit breaches are reported daily to the management. In addition, the man-

“agement is informed every month about the largest drawings in off-balance

business. Furthermore, limits and exposures are reported by type of business,
maturity of transaction, country, risk classification and counterparty category.
Portfolio reports are also prepared on a regular basis for certain groups of coun-
terparties.
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2} Monitoring and controlling market risk

At Commerzbank, a mode! for the internal management of specific interest-rate
risks has been used since 2001. In 2002, it became one of the first banks to
receive approval from the German Financial Supervisory Authority to work out
the capital backing required for specific interest-rate risks on the basis of this
internal model. This permits the Bank to save a significant amount of capital as
far as this type of risk is concerned. In order to measure the capital required to
cover general and specific market risk, Commerzbank applies an internal model,
that is also used at the Parent Bank and its foreign branches. It covers the equity
{including residual risk}, interest-rate and foreign-exchange risk categories.

Value-at-risk approach

The value-at-risk {VaR) method is the procedure currently used by the majority
of all internationally active banks for measuring market risk. The value-at-risk
indicates the maximum loss in value of a portfolio with a given degree of prob-
ability (confidence fevel). It is assumed that the composition of the portfolio
remains unchanged during the holding period. A value-at-risk of €1m at a 99%
confidence level and a one-day holding period means that a loss of more than
€1m within one day will only occur with a probability of no more than 1%.

Historical simulation for general market risk

In order to calculate the value-at-risk of trading portfolios, the historical simula-
tion method is employed at Commerzbank for the general market risk. Changes
in interest rates, currencies, equity prices and volatility are incorporated directly
into the historical simulation. A special advantage of this method is that it is
fairly easy to calculate the overall risk on the basis of the individual results for
lower portfolio levels.

Variance-covariance approach for specific risk

Credit trading has become increasingly important in recent years. Here the vari-
ance-covariance method is practical, since it always employs simple approxi-
mations for the risk factors themselves and, unlike historical simulation, is
robust as regards the historical market data.

Agaregated value-at-risk

The Group-wide internal calculation of the value-at-risk covers the trading units
ZGS and ZGT, as well as the interest-rate and currency risk of Asset Manage-
ment, the mortgage banks and other subsidiaries. The following table shows the
value-at-risk of the Group and the largest units.

Group ZGS ZGT Essen Hyp
in€m 2003 | 2002 | 2003.! 2002 | 2003 | 2002 | 2003 & 2002
Maximum 621} 728 | 199 186 | 277 248 209! 298
Median "41.4 | 505 |- 155 99 1570 156 1841 26.6
Minimum 257 | 328 9. 5.2 93, 94| 86, 186
Year-end figure 50.0 | 370 199 1621 169 149 | 17.6 ] 19.1
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. Back-testing
In order to assess and steadily improve the forecasnng quality of the internal:
market-risk model and also to meet supervisory requirements, the reliability of
the VaR methods that are applied is regularly checked. This begins with a retro-
spective comparison of the forecast risks with the profits and losses which
would have occurred under the assumption of unchanged positions (so-called
"clean back-testing”).

Accordingly, the VaR - based on a 1-day holding period - at the 99% confi-
dence interval should be exceeded by such a loss in merely 1% of all the trading
days that are examined. The total number of these exceptions is used by the
supervisory authorities in evaluating internal risk models. Upon this basis, regu-
latory capital is calculated.

11 Baciciesting PAL v - VaR97.5%  ~ VaR 99%

Back-testing in the 30
course of 2003

n€m
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in the 2003 financial year, one exception was noted at Group level dueto a
sharp rise in euro and US dollar interest-rate curves on June 17, 2003, This out-
come is in line with statistical expectations and underlines the quality of the risk

mode! used.
~



Apart from this approach, Commerzbank uses a series of additional methods
for assessing and refining its risk model. These tests confirm the validity and
forecasting power of Commerzbank's internal models.

Stress testing and sensitivity analysis

As the value-at-risk method mostly fails to take extreme market movements into
account, the quality and reliability of risk quantification are complemented by
additional analyses. Among other things, these analyses consist of stress tests
and, using stress scenarios, evaluate the scale of iosses under extreme market
conditions, such as those which could be observed in past crisis situations.

The stress tests that are employed as part of daily reporting differ from busi-
ness line to business line and are adapted to accommodate individual portfolios.
In addition, a so-called global test was introduced in the year under review, in
which several historical crisis scenarios — such as the 1992 currency crisis, Sep-
tember 11, 2001 - and their impact are simulated at regular intervals throughout
the Group.

350 | T ZGTstresstest® i ZGS'stresstost” = Essen Hyp stresstest’

Jan. Feb, March Apr. May June July Aug, Sep. Oct. Nov. Dec.

The stress tests are complemented by various sensitivity analyses. These
reveal the sensitivity with which the performance of a portfolio responds to a
change in the risk factors - such as interest rates. The findings of the global
stress tests and the sensitivity analyses are regularly presented to the Risk Com-
mittee and the Board of Managing Directors.

Interest-rate risk
The Commerzbank Group’s interest-rate risk results not only from the already
identified general market risk of the trading books, but also from investment-
book positions. In the banking book, interest-rate risks mainly arise through dif-
ferent maturities for the Bank's assets and liabilities — for example, due to the
short-term funding of long-dated credits. In measuring interest-rate risks, we
include both balance-sheet interest items and the related hedging transactions.
As in the treatment of the irading book, the interest-rate risk of the banking
book is measured using a net present value approach according to the historical
simulation method {value-at-risk}. This makes it possible to compare the in-
terest-rate risk arising from both the trading book and the banking book and also
to present the results in aggregated form at Group level, with portfolio effects
included.
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Procedure for setting and monitoring limits

Commerzbank has developed a comprehensive system of limits for restricting
market risk. It is based on the already-specified risk ratios as well as on other fac-
tors such as sensitivity ratios for traded products. The market-risk limits are
determined by the Board of Managing Directors or the Risk Committee. The
global market-risk limits have been assigned to specific sub-portfolios within the
respective trading units and may only be altered by means of a formal process
for changing limits.

The daily monitoring of market risk examines the risk figures that have been
generated in order to ascertain the utilization of limits and possible breaches.
The risk controllers responsible for the individual trading areas constantly
monitor the open trading positions and the ensuing risk. Apart from monitoring
the overall positions, ZRC also examines all proprietary-trading transactions to
ensure that prices reflect market conditions in accordance with the MaH rules.

Reporting for market risk

Close cooperation between risk controllers at both the head-office and local
levels ensures that decision makers on the Board of Managing Directors and at
trading units are kept promptly informed. The local controllers report the risk
figures that they have worked out to alf decision makers within the trading units.
At head office, these figures are collected and aggregated to form a Group risk
figure. The Board of Managing Directors is informed daily - for one thing, by
means of the so-called flash risk report, representing a preliminary form of infor-
mation aon the value-at-risk, and, for another, by the MaH report containing not
only the risk figures but also the profit-and-loss data for all the relevant portfolio
levels. In addition, all the market risks of the banking and trading books are
included in the monthly risk report.

In the year under review, the Commerzbank Group’s market-risk reporting
was extended to cover the so-called market risk hot spots, which every second
week present both the Risk Committee and the Board of Managing Directors with
a detailed picture of the current exposure in the Group’s trading and banking
books. In this connection, retroactively calculated data, such as the value-at-risk,
are complemented by forward-looking forecast scenarios, in order to simulate
their impact on current positions.

in close coordination with their parent company, the mortgage banks affili-
ated with Commerzbank - Hypothekenbank in Essen and EEPK (Erste Europa-
ische Pfandbrief- und Kommunalkreditbank) ~ and also other subsidiaries have
established their own risk control. The risks arising at these subsidiaries are
managed and controlled at the local level and the relevant data are made avai-
lable without delay to Commerzbank’s central risk-control unit, which calculates
and monitors the Group risk.

3} Monitoring and controlling equity holding risk

The monitoring of equity holding risk is performed by Risk Control, whereas the
steering of such risks is handled by two different units of the Bank. Private equity
business is coordinated by Securities (ZGS), while Strategy and Controlling
(ZKE) is responsible for all the strategic and other equity holdings.



As far as new acquisitions of interests are concerned, the potentijal risks are
analysed in advance by means of due diligence measures. However, already-
existing equity investments are steered on the basis of regular reports from the
enterprises in question. In addition to these measures, the market risk stemming
from the Bank’s listed equity investments, together with the risk from non-listed
investments, is quantified - similarly to the calculation of trading positions -,
monitored, and reported to the Board of Managing Directors by Risk Control.

4} Monitoring and controlling liquidity risk

Liquidity risk

Group Treasury (ZGT) is responsible for managing liquidity risk. The task of
liquidity management is to guarantee that Commerzbank is solvent at alil times,
not only under normal conditions but also in stress situations. ZGT prepares lig-
uidity balances and makes cash-flow forecasts, which are subjected to constant
examination in the course of the year. On the basis of these analyses, the future
need for borrowed funds is worked out. The aim is to achieve efficient liquidity
management by raising funds regularly and to cover the Bank against market
fluctuations. The measures adopted by ZGT in this connection are geared closely
to the Basel | proposals:

e ZGT pursues a policy of long-term matched maturities in financing; in other
words, long-term credits are largely funded at long term.

* ZGT maintains substantial liquidity portfolios in the leading currency centres.
Apart from eligible {commercial) credits and bills, the portfolios are made up
exclusively of prime-quality securities, which may be pledged with central
banks in order to raise short-term liquidity. At end-2003, the Bank had a lig-
uidity reserve (unused security) of €21bn.

In accordance with supervisory requirements (Principle Il), an institution’s
liquidity is deemed adeguate if the weighted liquid assets available to it within
30 days cover the weighted payment obligations callable during this period. In
2003 {2002), the liquidity coefficient lay between 1.09 (1.13) and 1.18 {1.31) and
was thus at all times well above the value of 1.0 required by the supervisory
authorities. This shows that Commerzbank easily met the supervisory require-
ments for liquidity at all times.

For internal steering purposes, ZGT regularly makes a projection of the
development expected for Principle |l over the next twelve months. This is based
on information about planned trading activities, indications from foreign outlets
and reports on the performance of customer-related business.

At the same time, the structure of the balance sheet is analysed from the
qualitative standpoint, applying the stable funding concept so that measures can
be adopted in good time to deal with any gaps that are identified between stable
assets and stable funding.
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Liquidity-risk measurement

Last vear, the liquidity-risk project initiated early in 2002 was successfully
brought to a conclusion. The main objective of this project, run by ZRC in close
cooperation with ZGT, was the daily calculation of the expected cash flow from
all positions of the Parent Bank. Here, the expected payments are calculated
under the assumption of both normal and - in terms of liquidity ~ “stressed”
market conditions. Similarly on a daily basis, the assets are worked out that can
readily be made liquid and are available for closing liquidity gaps. By means of
these data and the key ratios established on their basis, ZGT will be putin a posi-
tion to manage the Bank’s liquidity position even more efficiently (beyond the
requirements of Principle Il). At the same time, the implementation of this first
stage of the project has already met the major requirements of Basel il with
regard to the controlling of liquidity risk.

A follow-up project planned for 2004 is intended to integrate further units
such as the mortgage banks and asset management into the central calculation
of liquidity risk in order to comply with the regulatory requirement of Basel H
with regard to the monitoring of risk at Group level.

Market-liquidity risk

Commerzbank monitors market-liquidity risk with the aid of the liquidity VaR that
is based on the results of historical simulation. This liquidity VaR is defined as
the possibte loss during the period in which a portfolio is being entirely liqui-
dated in terms of risk, at a given level of probability {confidence level). Unlike the
one-day VaR described in the section “Monitoring and controlling market risk”,
it also takes into account the period needed to square the specific positions in
terms of risk, which means to sell, cover or hedge them by means of the relevant
transactions.

In quantifying such risk, we take into consideration the market liquidity of the
underlying transactions by means of portfolio-specific selling or squaring strate-
gies. These strategies indicate the percentage of a portfolio which, if necessary,
could be squared in terms of risk and in how many days. The selling strategies
employed are regularly updated in consultations with the respective banking
departments.

5) Monitoring and controlling operational risk

Operational risk management framework

Last year, Commerzbank’s existing operational risk management framework was
made more detailed through the addition of sets of rules, elaborated and firmly
established. As a result, the Operational Risk Committee formed in 2002 and
those responsible for the Bank’s individual organizational units performed their
duties in terms of identifying, analysing, reporting and managing operational
risk, in particular as regards the impiementation of the Basel Committee’s
“Sound practices for the management and supervision of operational risk” of
February 2003.



Operational risk methods

In order to calculate equity in accordance with Basel il by applying the Advanced
Measurement Approach (AMA} in the future, we focused in the year under
review on the main guantitative and qualitative methods for achieving this goal,
taking account of the Basel requirements published to date. The structural col-
lection of loss data ~ in line with Basel Il - from operational risk was maintained
and stepped up. Throughout the Group, all the losses stemming from ope-
rational risk that exceed €5,000 are systematically collected and centrally evalu-
ated.

The first findings were shared with and analysed by Operational Riskdata
eXchange Association, Zurich {ORX}. Through ORX, it is possible to exchange
data both for the purpose of benchmarking with international participants and
for modelling the risk or the need for capital.

Furthermore, a pilot study in quality self-assessment was launched in indi-
vidual areas of commercial banking and investment banking, for which methods
and a system were worked out. This intranet-based tool integrated into the pool
of loss data was used for the first time for investment-banking processes and
will be extended to other areas of Commerzbank in 2004. This year, too, so-
called key risk indicators are to be incorporated, which permit statements
regarding the risk of future potential losses.

The combination of loss data and qualitative information'in an operational-
risk controlling system paves the way for the creation of operational-risk profiles
for the individual business and service units. At the same time, mathematical-
statistical approaches to risk modelling have been refined on the basis of col-
lected loss data and the technical conditions have been met for their integration
into the Bank's overall risk architecture.

As some of the requirements have not yet been specified clearly in the
Basel 1l consuitative papers, we are also ensuring that it will be possible to
implement the standardized approach or a planned so-called partial use - i.e.
preparations are being made to use both the AMA and the standardized
approach for various Group units. By participating in the relevant national and
international bodies, Commerzbank is continuing to play an active role in the
debate on such issues.

Business contingency and continuity planning

By means of regular self-assessments, the Bank creates for itself a standardized
overview of the emergency measures for which the units subject to MaH assume
responsibility. In addition, the Bank conducts numerous emergency tests in
which, for example, the failure of the entire trading and service centre or indi-
vidual locations or systems are simulated. For this purpose, business contin-
gency managers have been appointed at the various units.

Moreover, in a central business contingency policy the responsibilities of the
diverse head-office departments and individual units are described. Starting in
the year under review, these responsibilities are being adjusted to meet the
requirements of the MaK and also the Sound Practices Paper.
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6) Monitoring and controlling business risk

In line with their immediate responsibility for risk and earnings, the individuai
divisions and subsidiaries of the Bank also take charge of the operative man-
agement of business risks which occur in their area of activity.

As part of the overall steering of the Bank, business risk was included last
year for the first time in the calculation of economic capital. Business risk is
worked out using an earnings-volatility model based on the historical monthly
deviations of the actual from the planned result for fee income. As with the pro-
cedure applied for other types of risk, the calculation is based on a confidence
level of 99.95% and a one-year time frame.

7) Monitoring and controlling legal risk

The management of the Commerzbank Group’s legal risk worldwide is entrusted
to Legal Services (ZRA). The central function of ZRA is to recognize potential
losses arising from legal risk at an early stage and to devise solutions for reduc-
ing, restricting or avoiding such risks. In this connection, ZRA produces guide-
lines and standard contracts for the entire Group, which are impiemented in
close cooperation with business lines, branches and subsidiaries. In addition to
implementing and monitoring these uniform standards, ZRA advises all units of
the Bank with regard to legal issues. The duties of ZRA also include informing
the Board of Managing Directors and head-office departments about the impact
of major legal changes and risks, as well as regularly adapting the Group’s
guidelines and specimen contracts to new legal overall conditions.

8) Monitoring and controiling strategic risk

Responsibility for the strategic steering of Commerzbank lies with the Board of
Managing Directors, with support in the case of strategic issues provided by
Strategy and Controlling (ZKE). Some business-policy decisions also require the
approval of the Supervisory Board.

As strategic risk cannot be measured and controlled in quantitative terms,
the management of such risk is subject to qualitative controlling. Constant
observation of German and international competitars leads to an analysis of the
major changes and deveiopments, with conclusions being derived for the Bank’s
strategic positioning.

9) Monitoring and controlling reputational risk

Reputational risk cannot be measured with the aid of guantitative methods
either and it, too, is subject to qualitative controlling. As reputational risk may
also primarily result from the wrong handling of other risk categories, the func-
tioning and appropriateness of the risk-management system for all types of risk
is important. in addition, Commerzbank avoids business-policy measures and
transactions which entail extreme tax or legal risks, or violate business-policy
principles published in either the articles of association or other declarations.




V. Summary and outlook

Commerzbank’s risk-management and risk-control system made an important
contribution to the Bank’s overall result in 2003 as well. It is suited to identifying
risks in good time which would endanger the Bank’s existence or impair its
development and it is able to control such risks in a professional manner.

The methods used to present and control risk were continually refined in the
past business year, the focus being placed on credit risk and the integration of
operational risk. The projects to implement the new supervisory provisions
(Basel Il, MaK) were maintained according to plan, with all the organizational
MaK requirements now successfully implemented. Under the internal Basel il
project, the ground has basically been prepared for the sophisticated IRB
Advanced Approach to be applied as well as the advanced AMA approach (for
operational risk).

The management of credit risk from a single source with head-office and
regional units and a professional intensive treatment section has proved its
worth and - in addition to a marked reduction in credit volume and limits in
some regions and sectors — has led to the loan portfolio being restructured to
bring it into line with the credit-risk strategy. The Bank is confident that, thanks
to its targeted risk-mitigation measures, it will be able to get its loan loss provi-
sions down to under one billion euros.

The further expansion of portfolio-management activities together with the
integration of economic capital into the overall Bank management will be a main
feature of risk-related activities in 2004; through an improved risk and return-
oriented management of the Group, it will make a major contribution towards
increasing shareholder value.

In order to be able to guarantee Commerzbank’s core competency in risk
management and controlling in the future as well, the Bank will continue to
make every effort to maintain its high level in this area. Commerzbank believes
that professional risk management and controlling represent a significant com-
petitive edge.
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income siatememnt

1.1.-31.12.2002 Change
_ Notes ' €m in %
Interest received 18,032 -34.7
Interest paid 14,899 -39.7
Net intérest income , (29) 3,133 -11.4
Provision for possible loan losses (11, 30, 49) ~1.321 -17.9
Net interest income after provisioning 1,812 -6.6
Commissions received 2,416 3.7
Commissions paid 296 24.7
Net commissioh.income (31 2,120 0.8
Netrésult.on'hedge accounting {32) -56 .
Trading profit (33) 544 35.5
Net'result*oniinvestments and.
securities portfolio (available for sale) (34) =11 .
Operating expenses (35) 5,155 ~12.6
. Other operating result (36) 938 ~81.4
Operating profit 182 .
Regular amortization of geodwill {37} 108 1.9
Piofit from ordinary activities before
expenses arising from special factors
- ‘and restructuring expenses’ 84 .
Expenses arising from special factors (38) 247 .
Restructuring'expenses (39) 209 -50.2
Profit from 'ofd'ina_r_y activities after
expenses arising from:special factors .
~ and restructuring expenses -372 .
Extraordinary profit - -
_ Pre-tax profit -372 .
Taxes onincome (40) -103 .
- After-tax profit ~269 .
Profit/loss attributable .
to.minority interests . -29 .
" Net loss (41) -298 .




o 84 INCOME STATEMENT

Appropriation of profit 2002 Change

€m in%
Net loss -298 .
Transfer from capital reserve/retained earnings 352 .
Consolidated loss/profit ) 54 .

Commerzbank Aktiengesellschaft did not achieve a distributable profitin the 2003 financial year. As a result, no dividend
will be paid. S

 Basic earnings per share

2002 Change
Notes € in%
Loss pershare - . ' (41) -0.56 . .

Thecalculation of the loss per share according to1AS is based on the net ioss, with minority interests not taken into con-
sideration. The diluted loss per share is identical to the loss per share, since - as in the previous year - no conversion or
"option rights were outstanding on the balance-sheet date and consequently there was no dilution effect.



balance sheel

&5 dh

Assets 31.12.2002 Change
Notes €m in%
Cash reserve (9, 44) 8,466 -12.2
Claimson banks {10, 45, 47, 48} 54,343 - -4.9
Claims on customers (10,-46, 47, 48) 148,514 . -6.8
Provision for possible loan losses (11, 49) -5,376 - 25
Positive fair values from v :
derivative hedging instruments- {13, 50) 3131 ~-18.5 -
Assets held.for dealing purposes (14, 51) 117,192 - =25.2
Investments and securities portfolio (15, 48, 52, 55) 84,558 39.
Intangible assets (16, 53, 55) 1,151 -30.3
Fixed assets " (17, 18, 54, 55) 2,505 -17.6
Tax assets {24,.56) 5,995 0.7
Other assets (57) - 1,655 . 59.9
Total 422,134 -9.6
Liabilities and equity , 31.12.2002 Change -
o . " Notes €m in%
Liabilities to banks {18, 47, 58) 114,984 -17.2
Liabilities to customers (19, 47,59) | 95,700 45 -
Securitized liabilities (19,60) 92,732 9.4
Negative fair values from : ‘

“derivative hedging instruments (20, 61) 5,696 4.1
Liabitities from dealing activities (21,82} 83,238 ~19.6
Provisions (22,23,63) : . 3528 -6.3
Tax:liabilities (24, 64) | © 3,664 . 227
Other liabilities (65) : 3,285 -11.4
Subordinated capital (25, 66) | 9,237 -9.3
Minority interests 1,262 -39

" Equity (27,68, 69, 70) 8,808 3.2
. Subscribed capital {68) - 1,378 12.1

Capital reserve {68) | 6,131 -27.0.
Retained earnings 3,268 0.6
Revaluation reserve ~769

Measurement of cash flow hedges -1,248 1.0
Reserve from currency translation -6

Consolidated loss/profit 54 .

Total 422,134 -9.6




statement of changes in equilty

Sub-
scribed
capital

Capital
reserve

€m

Retained
earnings

Consoli- i
dated
profit

Reserve
from
currency
translation

Reval- Valuation

uation of

cash flow
hedges

reserve

Equity )
as of 1.1.2003 1,378 6,131

3,268

769  -1248  -§ 54

Capital increase ] 139 603

Issue of shares
to employees 6 8

Transfer from

 capital reserve -2,320

Dividend payment

-Net changesin
revaluation reserve

2,009

Net changes arising
from cash flow hedges

12

Changes in treasury shares 22 53

Changes in companies
included in consolidation
and other changes

-213

Eguity

1,545 4,475

3,286

1,240  -1,236

as of 31.12.2003

As of December 31, 2003, the subscribed capital of
' Commerzb_aﬁk Aktiengesellschaft stood at €1,554m pur-
suén_t to the Bank's articles of association; it is divided
into 597,858,005 no-par-value shares (national value per
share: €2.60), After the 3,489;912 treasury shares held by

the Bank on December 31, 2003, are deducted, its sub-

scribed capital amounts to €1,545m.
~ The Bank made use of the authorization resolved by
the Annual-General Meeting of May 30, 2003 to purchase
its own shares for the purpose of securities trading,
pursuant to Art. 71, (1), no. 7, German Stock Corporation
Act - AktG. Gains and losses from trading in the Bank’s
own shares do nat appear in the income statement:

-219 0

No use was made inthe 2003 financial year of the res-

olutian of the Annual General Meeting of May 30, 2003,

authorizing the Bank to repurchase its own shares pur-
suant to Art. 71, {1}, no. 8, AKtG, for pdrposes other than
securities trading: _ _ '

Other cha,ng:es in retained earnings relate to changes
in equity at associated companies which, in accordance
with IAS 28, have to be shown on a pro-rata basis with no
effect on the net profit. v



Changesin minority interests

Minority Reval- Valuation Reserve Gains/
interests uation of from losses
reserve cash flow currency

€m : hedges transiation

Minority interests

as of 1.1.2003 } 1,043 334 ~132 -12 29

Capital ihcreases 17

Allocation of profit/

offsetting of loss from )

net result for the year =21 . 21
. Takeover-of minority ' ‘

interests by the Group -85 2 =5

" Distributions ‘ : ~50
‘Profits/losses 2003 ) 91
Netchangesin '
revaluation reserve -23

Net changes arising

from cash flow hedges 9
. ‘Changes in companies
included in consolidation
‘and other.changes 24 -29 -
Minority interests

as of 31.12.2003 = 978 313 -123 -46. .8

© The takeover of minority interests related to the increase in our shareholding in BRE Bank from 50.0% to 72.16%.
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cash flow statemeni

2002
€m
Net profit ~-298
Non-cash positions in net profitand adjustments to reconcile
net profit with net cash provided'by operating activities:
Write-downs, depreciation, adjustments, write-ups to fixed
and other_aé'se_ts, changes in provisions and net changes
due to hedge accounting 1,114
Changa in other.non-cash positions: .
Positive and negative fair values from derivative
"financial,in‘struments {trading and hedging derivatives) 1,607
“Profit from the'sale of assets 88
Profit from the sale of fixed assets . ~12
Other adjustments (mainly netiinterest income) -4,000
" Sub-total o -1,501
Change in assets and liabilities from operating activities
after correction for non-cash components:
Claims on banks 9,049
Claims on.customers 71.801
Securities'held for dealing purposes 13,424
Other assets from operating activities 2,604
Liabilities toibanks o 5,898
Liabilitiés to customers -20,698
Securitized liabilities -97,938
“Other liabilities from operating activities -3,102
“Interest and dividénds received 18,032
Interest paid -14,899
. Iricome.tax paid -201
Net cash provided by operating activities -17,531
Proceeds from the-sale of: '
Investments and securities portfolio 65,905
Fixed assets’ 1,955
Payments for the acquisition of: :
" Investments and securities portfolio -~47,039
Fixed assets ' -738
Effects of changes in the group of companies included in the consolidation
Payments from the acquisition of subsidiaries -238
Net cash used by investing activities 19,845
Proceeds frorh capital increases -82
Dividends paid ' -217
Other financing activities -1,287
Net cash provided by financing activities ~1,586
Cash and cash equivalents at-end of previous period 7,632
Net cash provided by operating activities - -17,531
Net cash used by investing activities 19,845
- Net cash provided by financing activities -1,5686
Effects of exchange-rate changes on cash and cash equivalents 106

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period

8,466




The cash flow statement shows the structure of and
changes in cash and cash equivalents during the finan-
cial year. It is broken down into oper_ating activities,
investing activities and financing activities.

Under net cash provided by operating activities, pay-
ments (inflows and outflows) from claims on banks and
customers and alsa-securities from the trading portfolio
and other assets are shown. Additions to and. dvsposa|s
from liabilities to banks and customers; securitized
liabilities and other liabilities -also belong to operating
activities. The interest and 'dividend payments resulting
from operating activities are S|m||arly reflected in the net
cash provided:by operating act(vmes

The net cash used by |nvest|ng activities shows pay-
ments for the |nvestments and. securities portfoho as
well as for fixed assets and payments for the acquisition
of subsidiaries. The effects of changes in the list of con-
solidated companies.are also recégni’zed under this item.

CASH FLOW STATEMENT 88

The net cash provided by financing activities covers
the proceeds from capital increases as well as payments
received and made with regard to subordinated capital.
Distributed dividends dre also shown here.

We consider cash and cash equivalents to be the
Cash reserve, consisting of cash on hand, balances held
at central banks and also debt issued by public-sector
borrowers and bills of éxcha_nge eligible for rediséou'nt-
ing at central banks. Claims on banks which are due on
demand are not.included.

As far as banks are concerned, the cash flow state-
ment can be considered no_t’v:ery informative. For us, the
cash flow statement replaces neither liquidity planning
nor financial planning, nor do we look upon it as a steer-
ing instrument. v

%
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notes

Consolidated accounting principles

The Commerzbank Group’s financial statements as of
December 31, 2003 were prepared in accordance with the

directives 83/349/EEC (directive on consolidated finanéial ’

statements) and 86/635/EEC (directive on annual accounts
of banks) on the basis of the International Accounting
Standards (IASs) - in future: international Financial Re-
porting Standards {IFRS) - approved and published by the
International Accounting -Standards Board {IASB) and
with their interpretation by the Standing Ihterpfetations
Committee (SIC), or International Financial Reporting
Interpretation Committee (IFRIC). A summary of the regu-
lations that have been applied can be found on pages
91-92. The necessary compliance with the directive on
the annual accounts of bariks was achieved through the
appropriate structuring of the items balance sheet,

income-statement and the notes. Pursuant to Art. 2923,_

German Commercial Code (HGB), these _cons'o!i'dated

financial statements prepared in accordance with 1AS

Accounting and measurement methods

{1) Basic principles

The consolidated financial statements are based on the

going concern principle. Income and expenses.are recog-
nized on a pro-rata temporis basis; they are shbwn for the
period to which fhey may be assigned in economic terms.

As in previous years, we applied IAS 39 (2000,
together with the different classification and measure-
ment principles prescribed by this standard, in our ac-
counting in the 2003 financial year. In order to reflect the
different rules of this standard, financial assets and finan-
cial liabilities have been assigned to the following cate-
gories:

exempt the Bank from the need to prepare financial state-

.ments according to German accounting principles. We

héve presented the main differences between IAS finan-
cial statements and those prepared in-accordance with
German accounting rules on pages 105-i06 of this report.
The cdns_oli_déted financial statements also reflect the
standards abproved by the German Accounting Stan-
dards Boérd (GASB) and published by the German Fed-
eral_Ministry of Justice pursuant to Art. 342, (2), HGB.

In.addition to the consalidated balénce'she_et and the
consolidated income statement, the consolidated finan-
cial statements also include a statement of changes in
equity and in minority interests, a cash flow statement
and the notes. Segment reporting appears in the notes on
pages 114-122. ' .

The separate report on the risks related to future
developments (Risk report pursuant to Art. 315, (1), HGB)
appears on pages 52-79.

Unless otherwise indicated, all the amounits ‘are
shown in millions of euros. o

1. Loans and claims originated by the Bank.

2. Financial-assets held to maturity.

3. Finangial assets held for trading (Assets held for deal-
ing purposes) and certain financial liabilities (Liabili-
ties from dealing activities).

4. Available-for-sale financial assets.-

- 5. Other financial liabilities.

The detéiled rules for hedge accounting are applied in
the case of derivative hedging instruments (further details
may be found in note 6).

All the companies included in the consolidation pre-
pared their financial statements as of December 31, 2003.
Uniform accounting and measurement methods are
applied throughout the Commerzbank Group in preparing
the financia) statements. ’



(2) Changes in the method of disclosure )

in the past financial year, we maintained the recognition,
measurement and disciosure methods in accordance with
the F39 IAS/IFRS framework. This had.no effect on the rec-
- ognition and measurement methods of previous periods.

{3} 1AS, SIC and GASB rules applied

There is regularly a time gap between the approval of an
IAS, or a related interpretation, and its effective date. As a
rule, however, the IASB recommends the eaily application
of not yet effective, but already approved, standards and
interpreta’fion"s. )

- The 2003 consolidated financial statements are based on the IASC framework and the following JASs which are relevant:

for the Commerzbank Group:

NOTES

Within the Commerzbank Group, as a matter of prin-
ciple we base our accounting and measurement on all the
iASs-approved and published by December 31, 2003. The
exceptions were the changes to various standards ini-

tiated by the improvement project as well as the first’

amendments to IAS 32 and 39 published by the IASB on

‘December 17, 2003, which have to be applied in the 2005

financial year atthe latest. -

T1AS1 Presentation of financial stateménts
_1AS 7 Cash flow statements :
IAS 8 Net profit or loss for the period, fundamental errors and changes in accounting policies
IAS 10 Events after the balance-sheet date
IAS 12 Income taxes
JAS 14 " Segment reporting
1AS 16 Property, plant and equipment
IAS 17 Leases
1AS 18 Revenue
1AS 19 Employee benefits
1AS 21 The effects of changes in foreign-exchange rates
1AS 22 Business combinations
1AS 23 Borrowing costs
1AS 24 Related party disclosures B
1AS 27 Consolidated financial statements and accounting for investments in subsidiaries
1AS 28 Accounting for investments in associates
IAS 30 Disclosures in the financial statements of banks and similar financial institutions .
1AS 31 Financial reporting of interests in joint ventures
IAS 32 Financial instruments: disclosure and presentation
‘IAS 33 ‘Earnings per share
(AS 36 Impairment of assets
1AS 37 " Provisions, contingent liabilities and contingent assets
IAS 38 Intangible assets
1AS'39 Financial instruments: recognition and measurement
IAS 40 Investment property

We have not applied IFRS 1and1AS 2, 11, 15, 20, 26, 29, 34,
35and 41, as they are gither not relevant for our institution
or did not have to be applied in the consolidated financial
statements.

For IAS 40, recognition is made at cost, as is permitted

under this rule.



In addition to the standards mentioned, we have also taken into consideration in our consolidated financial statements
the following interpretations of SIC or IFRIC that are relevant for us:

relates to
SIC-2 Consistency — capitalization of borrowing costs 1AS 23
SIC-3 Elimination of unrealized profits and losses on transactions with associates 1AS 28
SIC-5 Classification of financial instruments - contingent settlement provisions 1AS 32
SIC-6 ‘Costs of modifying existing software ' “IASC framework
SiC-7 Introduction of the euro 1AS 21
SIC-9 Business combinations - classification either as acquisitions or unitings of interests 1AS 22
SiC-12 Consolidation - special-purpase entities 1AS 27
SIC-15 Operating leases — incentives 1AS 17
SiC-16 Share capital ~ reacquired own-equity instruments (treasury shares) 1AS 32
SiC-17 Equity ~ costs’of an.equity transaction IAS 32
Sic-18 Consistency —alternative methods IAS 1
SIC-20 Equity accounting method — recognition of losses 1AS 28
SIC-21 income taxes — recovery of revalued non-depreciable assets 1AS 12
SIC-24 Earnings per share ~ financial instruments and IAS 33
. .other contracts that may be settled:in shares
SIC-25 .- Income taxes —changes in the tax status of:an enterprise or its shareholders IAS 12
sic-27 Evaluating the substance of transactions in the legal form of a lease IAS 1, 17,18
Sic-28 Buéine;;s.combin_atidns ~ “date of exchange” and IAS 22
fair valueof equity instruments
SIC-30.  Reporting currency ~transiation from measurement currency 1AS 21,29
to presentation currency
SIC-32 Intangible assets — web site costs 1AS 38
SIC-33 Conso|idation and equity m_ethod - potential voting rights and IAS 27, 28, 39

allocation of ownership interests

The SIC, br-IFRIC,,int_erpretat"ions 1,‘10, 11, 13, 14,19, 22, 23, 29 and 31 were irrelevant for our consolidated financiat
statements and did not, therefore, have to be taken into consideration.



Furthermore, in the present consolidated financial state-
ments, the following' German Accounting Standards
(GAS) have been taken into consideration, which had
to be applied -and had been -approved by the German
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Accounting Standards Board (GASB) and announced by
the German Federal Ministry of Justice up to December
31, 2003, in accordance with Art. 342, {2}, HGB:

GAS1 Exempting consolidated financial statements in accordance with §292a, HGB
GAS 1a ‘Exempting consolidated financial statements in accordance with §8292a, HGB -
- goodwill and other non-currentintangible assets
GAS 2 Cash flow.statements
GAS2-10  Cash flow statements of financial institutions
GAS3 - ‘Segment.reporting
GAS 3-10°  Segment reporting of banks
"GAS 4 Purchase accounting in consolidated financial statements
GASS Risk reporting
.GAS5-10 . Risk reporting by financial enterprises
GAS7 Presenting equity in consolidated financial statements
GAS 8 - Accounting for investments in associates
GAS9 . Financial reporting of interests in joint ventures
GAS 10 Deferred taxes and consolidated fmancual statements
GAS 11 " Related: party disclosure
GAS 12 Non-current intangible assets .
GAS 13 Consistency principle and correction.of errors

{4)Consolidated companies

The cons.olida't_ed ffinancial statements include in addition
to the Parent Bank 102.subsidiaries (95 in 2002), in which
Commerzbarik AGholds-more than 50% 6f the capital
directly orindirectly, or éxerts control over them. Of these,
45 have their legal seat in Germany (44 ln 2002) and 57
{51 in 2002) elsewhere. ..

166 ‘subsidiaries: and associated . compames {167 in
2002) of minor slgmflcance for the Group's asset and
financial position and earnings perfprmance have not
“been included; instead, they have been 'shown under
lnvestmenté and securities portfolio as holdings in sub-
sidiaries or investments. These companies account for
fess than 0.1% {0.2% in 2002) of the ‘Group's overall bai-
ance-sheet total.

The Commerzbank Group has three sub-groups:

*  CommerzLeasing und Immobilien AG, Diisseldorf
» Jupiter International Group plc, London

s comdirect bank AG, Quickborn

which have presented sub-group financial statements.

The following 15 subsidiafies - four of them based in
Germany - were included in the consolidation for the first
time in 2003:

s ATBRECOM Limited, London

» CCR Actnons Paris

+ . CCR Chevrillon-Philippe, Paris

* CCR Gestion Internationale, Paris

« comdirect private finance AG, Quickborn

» Commerz Advisory Management Co. Ltd.,
British Virgin Isiands '

« CORECD Commerz Real Estate Consulting and
Development GmbH, Berlin

« . Hansa Automobil Leasing GmbH, Hamburg

s Intermarket Bank AG, Vienna

¢ Lanesborough Limited, Bermuda

e NALF Holdings Limited, Bermuda
o RHEINHYP-BRE Bank Hipoteczny SA, Warsaw

¢ Service-Center Inkasso GmbH Disseldorf, Diisseldorf
* The New Asian Property Fund Limited, Bermuda
+ Transfinance a.s., Prague
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In addition to the 102 {95 in 2002} subsidiaries, we
included for the first time in the 2003 financial year the
following four (2002:two) special-purpose entities and 13
{2002: 13} non-publicly-offered funds in our consolidated
financial statements in accordance with 1AS 27 and SIC-
12, or IFRIC- 12. Comas Strategy Fund 1 Limited, Grand
Cayman, and Plymouth Capital Limited, St. Helier/Jersey,
were included as special-purpose entities for the first
time. e

The inclusion of these special-purpose entities has no
major effects on the presentation of the Group's asset and
financial.position or e'arhiifigs performance. ‘

The 'fol,loWing‘ compan‘ié,s have been removad from
the list of consolidated c‘o'mpanies:

e ALTINUM Grundstﬁéks-VermietungsgeseHschaft
mbH & Co. Objekt Sonninhof KG i.L., Diisseldorf

. ‘CFM’Commerz'Fina-nz Management GmbH,
Frankfurt amMain .

¢ Commerzbank Asset Management ltalia S.p.A., Rome

e Commerzbank In_ternatidnal (Ireland), Dublin

¢ Commerzbank Societa di Gestione del Risparmio

“S.p.A, Rome o ’

* Commerzbank U.S. Finance, Inc.,
Wilmington/Delaware v

. Molegra‘Gr_undstﬁcks-Vermivetungsgesel_lschaft mbH -
& Co. Objekt Projektentwicklungs KG, Diisseldorf

s TlLimitedi.L;, Bermuda '

Eleven major associated .companies (16 in” 2002)
- eight of them based in Germany (2002: eight} —are mea-

sured using the equity method. As a major @ssociated

compah_y, our equity holding in Eurohypo Aktiengesell:
schaft, Frankfurtam Main, is included in the consolidated.
financial statemehts. as it was in the previous':,ye‘ér. For
the firsttime, ComSystems.GmbH, Diisseldorf, appears at
equity. -

The following companies have been removed from
thelist of associated cor’nbanies:

¢ Clearing Bank Hannover Aktiengesellschafti.L.,
Hanover

s Hispano Commerzbank (Gibraltar) Ltd., Gibraltar

e Korea Exchange Bank (KEB), Seoul

» RHEINHYP-BRE Bank Hipoteczny SA, Warsaw

* The New Asian Land Fund Limited, Bermuda

e The New Asian Property Fund Limited, Bermuda

In the fourth quarter of 2003, we sold 26.2m KEB
shares, representing a stake of 7.1%, to a foreign investor.
Atthe sametime, KEB effected a capital increase, in which
we did not participate. Dueto these measures, our interest
in KEB was reduced from 32.6% to 14.8%. Once these
transactions had been concluded, we changed the
ac_cou'n‘ting for this equity holding from the at equity
method to the fair value approach. This has no major

_effectson our asset and financial position or on earnings

performance.
Commerz Net Business AG, Frankfurt am Main, was
renamed Commerz Business Consulting AG, Frankfurt am

. M_ain; and NIV Vermégensverwaliungsgesellschaft mbH,

Frankfurt am Main, was renamed Commerz Immobilien

‘und’ Vermdgensverwaltungsgeselischaft. mbH, Frankfurt

am ‘Main. Both companies remain fully consolidated.
RHEINHYP-BRE Bank Hipoteczny SA, Warsaw, and The
New Asiah Property Fund Limited, Bermuda, have been
fully consolidated since December 31, 2003.

A complete list of the subsidiaries, associated com-

‘panies.and special-purpose entities and non-publicly-

offered funds.included in our consolidated financial state-
ments ¢an be found on pages 167-170.

'[5_) Principles of consolidation

The.consolidation of the capital accounts'is based on the
book-value method, whereby the historical cost of the
holding in the subsidiary is set off against the share of the
equity that was acquired at that tire. As far as possible,
am} residual differences in -amount are assigned to
the subsidiary’s-assets and liabiliﬁes, reflecting the per-

centage share of equity held. If any.positive differences

remain after such assignment, these are shown as good-
will under Intangible assets in the balance sheet and are
depréciéted to reflecttheir probable useful economic lives
over a period of 15 years, using the st'rai'g‘ht-line method.

Claims and liabilities deriving from business relations
between Group companies, as well as expenses and
income, are eliminated as part of the consolidation of

_earnings; intra-Group book. gains or losses registered

during the financial year are elirhinated unless they are of
minor importance.

Associated companies are measured according to the
equity method and are shown as investments in asso-
ciated companies under Investments and securities port-
folio, The purchase cost of these investments and the
goodwill are determined at the time of their first inclusion
in the consolidated financial statements, applying the
same rules as for subsidiaries. The equity book value



which is carried and either appears or does not appear in
the income statement is based on the financial statements
of associated companiés that are prepared in accordance
- with. local accounting rules or on auxiliary calculations
in accordance with 1AS/IFRS rules by the associated com-
pany. .

Holdings in subsidiaries not consolidated because of
their marginal s_ighificance and investments are shown at
their fair value, or if this cannat be reliably established, at
cost under investments and securities portfolio.

{6) Financial instruments: recognition and measurement
(1AS 39)
In accordance with 1AS 39, all financial assets and lia-
bilities - which also includes derivative financial instru-
ments - have to be shown in the balance sheet. For this
purpose, the entire portfolio has to be broken down into
. ‘various groups and measured in accordance with the
respective classification. ‘

The following remarks present an overview of how
we have applied the rules of this standard within the
Commerzbank Group:

a) Categarization of financial assets and liabilities and
their measurement

o Loans and claims originated by the Bank:
Loans granted difectly to the borrower and claims due
directly from the borrower are .assigned to this cate-
gory. They are measured at amortized cost. Premiums
and discounts appear under Net interest income over
- the entire lifetime.

e . Held-to-maturity financial assets: ‘
Non-derivative financial assets with a fixed maturity
may be included in this category if they cannot be
assigned to:the "Loans and claims originated by the
Bank” category and if both the intent and the ability

: ex.i'st to hold them to final maturity. They are measured
at amortized cost, with premiums and discountsvbeing
recognized over the entire lifetime to maturity. The
Commerzbank Group has not used the "Held-to-matu-
rity financial assets” category with respect to the 2003
financial year either.

Assets held for dealing purposes and Liabilities from

. dealing activities:

All financia! assets which are held for dealing pur-
poées are assigned to this class. These include original
financial .instruments (especially interest-bearing
securities, equities and promissory notes), precious
metals and derivative financial instruments with a
positive fair value. .

All financial liabilities from dealing activities are
assigned to this class. These include derivative finan-
cial 'instruments insofar as they have avnegative fair

value and delivery obligations érising fromshortsales

of securities. .
in accordance with IAS 39, derivative financial
instruments are classified as part of the trading. port-
folio insofar as they do not qualify as hedging deriva-
tives used in hedge accounting.
Assets held for dealing purposes and- liabilities

from dealing activities are measured at their fairvalue.

ori the balance-sheet date. Measurement 'gains and

"Iosses appear under Trading profitin the income state-
~.ment. ’ :

Available-for-sale financial assets:
All hon-_derivativé financial assets not covered by one
of the above classes are assigned to this category. Pri-

promissory notes and inyesiments. This group is-also
referredto as the Available-for-sale portfolio.

They: are initially measured at cost and subse-
quently at their fair value. After deferred taxes have
been, taken into -corjsidérétvi‘oh,« measured gains and

statement in a. separate equity item (revaluation
reserve). If the financial asset is sold, the cumulative
valuation previously recognized in the revaluation

‘reserve is released and shown in the income state-

ment..'Should ' the asset’s value be permanently
impaired, the revaluation reserve has to be reduced by
the amount of the impairment, and this amount has to
be reflected in the income statement. If the.fair vatue
cannot be reliably ascertained, measurement is made
at amortized cost. Premiums and discounts are recog-
nized under Net interest income over the entire life-
time.

‘marily, these are interest-bearing securities, equities,

‘losses are recognized with no efféct on the income.



Other financial Yiabilities:

These .include alt .original financial liabilities, espe-
cially fiabilities to banks and customers and also secu-
ritized liabilities. Measurement is made at amortized
cast. Premiums and discounts are recognized under
interest income:over the entire lifetime.

Embedded derivatives-
1AS. 39 also regulates the treatment of embedded

'deriyatives'. These are derivatives which are part of
-an original financial instrument and are inseparably

linked to it Such financial instruments are also

- referred to as hybrid financial instruments in 1AS 39.
Hybrid financial instruments include reverse convert-
.ible bonds (bonds whose repayment may take the
form-6f.équities) or bonds with indexed interest pay-
ments. «n accordance with IAS 39, the embedded
derivative should be separated from the original host
-contract Under,certain' conditions and accounted for
and measured separately at fair value as-a stand-alone
- derivative. Such separation has to be made if the char-
acteristics and risks of the embedded derivative are
“not closely related to'those of the host contract. In this
- case; the embedded derivative has to be regarded as
- partof the trading bortfoiio and recognized at its fair
. value. Changes in the fair value have to be shown in
. th_é income statement. The host contract is accounted
for and measured -applying the rules of the relevant
category of the financial instrument. However, if the
characteristics and risksof the embedded derivative
. are closely finked to those of the host contract, the
embedded derivative is not separated from the iatter
and the hybrid financial’ instrument is measured in
accordance with t‘he‘generéi.provisions.

Hedge accounting

JAS 39 entails extensive and quite complicated regula-

tions concerning accounting for hedging-instruments,

. which are superimposed upon the geneéral accounting

_rules for derivatives described above and also for
secured, underlying transactions. In line with genearal
regulations, derivatives are classified as trading trans-
actions {assets held for dealing purposes or liabilities
from dealing activities} and are measured at their fair
value. The result of such measurement is shown in the
income statement under Trading profit.

If derivatives are used to hedge risks from non-
trading transactions, IAS 39 permits, under certain
conditions, the application of special regulations in
hedge accounting. For the most part, two forms of
hedge accounting are distinguished:

Fair value hedge accounting: _

For derivatives-which serve to hedge the fair value
of recognized assets or liabilities {so-called fair value
hedges), IAS 39 prescribes the use-of fair value hedge
accounting. The risk of a change in fair value exists
above all for loans, securities and liabilities ‘with a
fixed.interest rate. : '

In line with the regulations for fair value hedge
accounting, the hedging derivative is shown at fair
value, with changes in its fair value appearing in the
income statement. Any changesinthe fair value of the
hedged asset or hedged liability resulting from the
hedged risk also have to be recognized in the income
statement. Given a perfect hedge, the changes in
measurement recognized in the income statement for
the hedge and the hedged transaction will largely.bal-
ance one anotheér. )

if the asset or iiability is recognized at amortized
cost according to the general regulations (e.g. an ex-
tended loan or an outstanding bond), the book value
has to be adjusted for the accumulated changes in fair
value resulting from the hedged risk. However,; if the

asset is recognized at fair value (e.g. an available-for-

s_sa|e _security), the changes in fair Va_iué resulting from

: t‘he'hedg‘ed risk have to be recognized, contrary to the

genetal rule, in the income statement.

Cash flow hedge accouhting:

For derivatives which serve to hedge future cash'flows
{cash fiow hedges), IAS 39 prescribes the use of cash
flow hedge accounting. A risk relating to the size of
future cash flows exists in particular for floating-in- -
terest-rate loans, securities and liabilities as well as
forecasted transactions ie.g. forecasted fund-i’aising

‘or financial investments). At the same time, IAS 39

also prescribes the application of cash flow hedge
accounting rulesfor the hedging of future cash flows
from pending'business. B
Derivative financial instruments used in cash flow
hedge accounting are carried at fair value. Reporting of
the gain or loss has to be divided into an effective and
an ineffactive part. The effective portion is that which
represents an effective hedge of the cash flow risk.



After deferred taxes have been taken into considera-
tion, this is recogniz’ed directly in a separate item
under equity {Measurement of cash flow hedges). By
contrast, the ineffective portion is shown in the in-
come statement. For the underlying transactions of
cash flow hedges, there is no.chan'ge in the general
accounting rulés described above.

The application 6f‘he'dge_ accounting rulesistied to
a number of additional conditions. These relate above
all to th_e'd_ocuméntati_on of.the hedge and also to its
effectiveness.

The hedge has-to be documented at the time of
its conclusion. Documentation exténds ‘above all to
an identification of the hedging derivative and the
hedged transaction and also details of the hedged risk
and the method employed to determine the effective-
ness of the hedge. Documentation for a transaction

~hedged with a derivative méy relate to either an'indi-
vidual. asset, liability, pending business or forecasted
transaction or to a-portfolio of such items which are
given similar accountjng treatment. However, it is not
sufficient to document a'netrisk position to be hedged.
- JIn addition. to such disclosure, 1AS 39 calls for
evidence of an effective hedge for the application of
hedge accounting rules. Effectiveness in this connec-
tion means the relationship b_éMéen the change'in fair
value or the cash flow resulting from the hedged
underlying: transaction and the change in fair value
or the cash flow. resulting from the hedge. If these
changes almost.entirely balance one another, a high
degree of effééﬁven_ess_ ‘exists. Prqof"of effectiveness
reqmreé; on the one. Kand, that a high degree of effec-
tivéness can b,eéxpect\ed from a hedging relationship
in-the future (prospéctive effectiveness). On the other
hand, when a héaging'rélationship exists, it must be
regularly demonstrated that this was highly effective
during the period under review. (retrospective effec-
tiveness). A high degree of retrospective effectiveness
exists if the ratic of changes in the fair value orthe cash
flow lies between 0.8 and 1.25. Here the methods used
for determining effectiveness have to be disclosed.

By means qf a fair value hedge, the Bank hedges
the fair value of a financial instrument against the risks
resulting from the change in the reference interest
rate, share price and/or the exchange rate. In order to
hedge these risks, above all interest-rate and in-
terest/currency swaps are employed. This primarily
relates to the Group's new issues business and the
securities portfolio used for liquidity management,
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insofar as these are interest-bearing securities. Equi-
ties from these portfolios are hedged by derivatives
with option character. The same holds true for the
other price risks of structured issues.

Interest-rate risks resulting fromapen interest-rate
positions in asset/liability management are mainly
hedged at the Commerzbank Group by means of cash
flow hedges using interest-rate swaps.

{7} Currency transiation
Assets and liabilities and also items from the income

- statement denominated in foreign currencies, as well as

immatured spot foreign-exchange transactions, are trans-
lated at the spat rates, and foreign-exchange forward con-
tracts at the forward rate of the balance-sheet date. Cur-
rency ‘translation for investments and'holdings in sub-
sidiaries that are denominated in foreign currencies is
effected at historical cost. Transiation gains and losses
from the consolidation of the capital accounts:appear in
the balance sheet under Equity.

As a result of their economically independent busi-
ness activity, the financial statements of our units abroad
that are prepared in foreign currencies are translated at
the spot rates of the balance-sheet date. .

The expenses and income generated by.the trans--
lation of balance-sheet items are recognized in the income

‘'statement. Hedged expenses and income are translated at

the hedging rate.

The following translation rates apply for the curren-
ciesthat are most important to the Commerzbank Group
(amount pef €1inthe respective currency):

2002
usD 1.0422'
JPY 124.27
GBP 0.6500
CHF. 1.4548

(8) Offsetting

We set liabilities off against claims if these are on the
same account-holder, are due at call, and agreement has
been reached with the business associate that interest
and commissians be calculated as if only a single account

" existed.

(9) Cash reserve

With the exception of debt issued by public-sector bor-
rowers, which is shown at its fair value, all the items
appear at their nominal value.
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{10) Claims

- Claims on banks and customers originated by the

" Commerzbank Group, which are not held for trading, are -

shown at either their nominal value or at amortized cost.

Premiums and- discounts appear under Net - interest

income over the entire lifetime. The book values of claims

- which qualify for hedge accounting are adjusted for the

gain or loss attributable to the-hedged risk.

Clalms not ongmated by Commerzbank - mainly

promissory notes — which do'riot form part of the trading
portfolio are included in the Investments and securities
portfolio. '

{11} Provision for possible loan losses
We fully provide for the particular risks associated with

. banking busiriessby‘forming individual valuation allow-

ances, country vajuation allowances and global valuatuon

. allowances.

In order to cover the Iending‘risks' represented by
claims.on customers and banks, we Have formed individ-
ual valuation ailowances- according to uniform Group
standards. Valuation allowances have to be formed for a
loan i.f itis probable that not all the interest payments and
repayments. of prmcnpal can be made accordmg to the
agreement. The size .of the valuation allowance corre-
sponds to the difference between the book value of the
loan after valuable security has been. taken into-conside-
ration and thecash value of the._expected future cash flow,
discounted by the original effective interest rate.

Inthe'case of loans to'borrowers ih:c'c'ountrieé involving

“an enhanced transfer risk (country risk), an assessment of

the economic sntuatlon is made based on the appropriate

economic data. The fmdmgs are wetghted by the tespec-

tive internal country rating. Wherever necessary, country
valuation allowances. are formed.

We cover latent credit risks by means of global valua-
tion allowances. Past loan losses setve as a yardstick for
the scale on which such valuation allowances have to be
formed. : ‘

Insofar as it relates to claims in the balance. sheet the
aggregate amount of provision for possible loan losses is
shown separately from Claims on banks and Claims on
customers. However, provision for risks in off-balance-
sheet business - guarantees, endorsement liabilities,
lending commitments - is shown as a provision for lend-
ing risks.

Unrecoverable accounts are written down immedi-
ately. Amounts received on written-down claims appear
in the income statement. '

{12} Genuine repurchase agreements and
securities-lending transactions ‘

Repo transactions combine the spot purchase .or sale of
securities with their forward sale or repurchase, the coun-
terparty being identical in either case. The securities sold
under repurchase agreements {spot sale) still appear, and .
are measured, in the consolidated halance sheet as part
of the securities portfolio: Accordingto counterparty, the
inflow of -quui'dity from the repo transaction is shown in
the ‘balance sheet as a liability to either banks or cus-
tomers. The agreed interest payments are booked as
interest paid, reflecting the various maturities.

The outflows -of -liquidity caused by revérse repos
appear as claims on baiiks or customers and.are mea-
sured accordingly. The securities bought under repur-
chase agreements and on which the financial transaction
is based {spot purchase) are not carried-in the balance
sheet, nor are they measured. The égreed interest from
reverse repos is counted as interest income, reflecting the
various maturities. Claims arising from reverse repos are
not netted agamst liabilities from repos involving the -
same counterparty

We show securities-lending transactions in a similar
manner to securities in genuine repurchase agreements.
Lent securities remain in-our securities poi'tfolio and are-
measured according to the rules of IAS 39.“Borrowed :
securities - insofar as they remainin our po_rtfoli‘o -~do not
appear in our balance sheet, nor are they measured. We
show cash security furnished by us'for.secufities-lending
transactions as a claim and received 'securify as a liability.

(13) Positive fair values from derivative hedging
instruments
Derivative financial instruments used for hedging which

. qualify for hédge accounting -and have a positive value

appear under this itern. The instruments are measured at

" fair value..

Listed instrpments are-measured at market prices; for

‘non-listed products, internal price models (het present-

value or option-price models) are used. The hedge
accounting _results for fair value hedges appear in the
income statement under Net result on hedge accounting.
By contrast, effective portions of the gains and losses on
cash flow hedges are recognized under Measurement of
cash flow hedges in Equity.



{14) Assets held for dealing purposes

" Securities held for dealing purposes, promissory notes
and precious metals abpear in the balance sheet at their
fair value on the balance-sheet date. Also shown at fair
value are all derivative financial instruments which are
not used as hedging instruments in hedgc accounting and
have a positive fair value. For listed products, market
prices are used; non-listed products are measured oh the
basis of the net present-value method or oth‘er'suitable
measurement models (e.g. option-price models). All the
realized gains and losses and -also the non-realized

" changes appear as part-of the Trading profit in the income
statement. Under this item, interest and dividend income
from trading portfolios are also shown, less the expenses
requiredto finance them.

Spot transactions are recognized imm'ediately they

are concluded; they appear in the balance sheet at the
time of performance.

. {15} Investments and securitiesportfolio

" Qurinvestments and securities portfolio comprises all the
"'-bo_nds, notes and -other fixed-income securities, shares
- and other variable-yield securities.and all the investrients
and investments in associated companies, as well as hold-
ings in.non-consolidated- subsidiaries which are not held
= for dealing purposes In addition, i in accordance with JAS
39, we include here all the claims on banks and customers
not originated by the Bank, m‘partlcular promissory notes.
- These portfolios are accounted for and measured at
fair value, or according to the equity method in the case of

- investmeénts in associated companies: if the fair value can- -

not:be reliably calculated, the item.is shown at cost; this
primarily holds true for non-listed assets. Netchanges are
shown = after deferred taxes have been taken into consid-
eration - under the:‘Revaluationreserve in Equity. Realized
gains-and losses anly affect the income statement when
. the holdings are sold. Premiums and discounts are recog-
nized in interest income over the lifetime of the invest-
ment or security. If, however, an effective hedge with a
derivative financial instrument exists for investments,
'securities or claims not originated by the Bank, that part of
the change in fair value attributable to the hedged risk
is shown under the Net result on hedge accounting in the
income statement. In the case of permanent impairment,
the recoverable amount is shown; the required write-
down is charged to the income staternent.
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{16) Intangible assets
Apartfrom special software produced in-house and stock-
exchange seats acquired by the Bank, we include above

. all acquired goodwill under Intangible assets. On each

balance sheet date, all goodwﬂl is examined with a view
to ifs future economic utility. If it appears that the

" expected utility will not materialize, an extraordinary
‘deprematxon is made. Otherwise, goodwill is amortized -

over the assumed useful economic life of 15 years, using
the straight-line fethod. We depreciate software over a
period of two to five years.

Probable useful life .

L inyears
Goodwill : 15
Software ) 2- 5
Other ©2-10.

{17} Fixed assets
Theland and buildings; and also office furniture and equip-
ment, shown under this item are capitalized at cost, less

regulardeprecnat«on Extraordmarydeprecuatron andwrite- . -

offs are mada in the case of permanently impaired value.

ln.determmmg the useful life, the likely physical wear . - :
and tear, technical obsolescence and also legal and con-

tractual restrictions are taken into consideration. All fixed-

assets are depreciated or written off over the following
periods, usingthe straight-line method:

Probable usetul life

- inyears
Buildings 30-50
Office furniture and equipment 2-10
Purchased 1T equipment 2-8

In line with the materiality principle, .purchases of
low-value fixed assets in the.past financial yearare rccog-

: hized'imfnediately as operating expenses. Profits realized

on the disposal of fixed assets appear under Other ope-
rating-income, losses are shown under Other operating
expenses.

{18) Leasing

In accordance with IAS 17, a lease is classified as an ope-
ratnng lease if it does not substantially transfer to the
lessee all the risks and rewards thatare incident to owner-
ship. By contrast, finance leases are considered to be
those agreements which substantially transfer all the risks
and rewards to the lessee.
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-~ The Group as lessor -
Insofar as the leasing companies within the Commerz-
bank Group are involved in operating lease business, eco-
nomicownership of the object of the agreement remains
with the Group company. Leased objects appear in the
consolidated balance sheet under Fixed assets. Leased
objects are shown at cost or production cost, less regular
depreciation over their useful economic lives or extraordi-
nary ‘depreciation necessary on account of permanent
impairment of value. Unless a different distribution sug-
gests itself in individual cases, the proceeds from leasing
transactions are recognized on a straight-line basis over
the lifetime of the agreement and are shown under Net
interestinéome. i

If .virtually all the risks and rewards relating to the
leased property are transferred to the lessee (finance
leases), the Commerzbank Group recognizes a claim on
the lessee. The claim is'shown at its netinvestment value
at the inception of the agreement. Leasing payments
received .are divided into an interest -portion which
appears as interest-income and a repayment. portion. The
inconie is recognized as interest i.ncom‘e forthe respective
period.

-The Grbup as lessee ~

The payments made under.operating lease agreements

-are included under Operating expenses. The costs are
" computed like a rentai payment on a regular basis corre- .
‘sponding to the useful life of the leased object. No con-

tractual obligations existed in the 2003 financial year
which require classification as finance leases.

(19) Liabilities to banks and customers and
also Securitized liabilities
Financial: liabilities are accounted for at amomzed cost.

: The derivatives embedded in liabilities (e_mbedded deriv-

atives) have been separated from their. host debt instru-
ment, measured at fair value .and shown-under‘ either

"Assets held for dealing purposes or Liabilities from deal-

ing activities. As part of hedge accounting, hedgedliabili-
ties were adjusted for the book gain or loss attributable to
the hedged risk.

(20} Negative fair values from derivative hedging
instruments

Under this item, we show derivative hedging instruments
with a negative fair value which do not serve dealing
purposes. The financial instruments are measured at fair
value, with market prices used as a basis for measuring

listed instruments; internal price models (net present-
value or option-price models) are applied in the case of
non-iisted products. The net results from hedge account-
ing for instruments classified as fair value hedges appear
in the incoma statement. We show the effactive portions
of the gains or losses on cash flow hedgeé under Measure-
ment of cash flow hedges in Equity.

{21} Liabilities from dealing activities

Derivative financial instruments which have a negative -
fair value, and delivery obligations from short sales of
securities, are shown as Liabilities from dealing activities. -
Such liabilities are measured at their fair value.

{22) Provisions for pensions and similar commitments
Virtuaily all employees at the Parent Bank as well as staff
at some subsidiaries in-Germany are covered by at lgast
two forms of company provision for old age. '

In the first case, employees are given an indirect - con-
tribution-based - commitment {defined-contribution pian),
for which the Group, With_ employees also involved, pays
a fixed amount for. old-age prbvision to .external pro-
viders, includiﬁg Versicherungsverein des Bankgewerbes
a.G. (BVV), Berlin, and to Versorgungskasse des Bank-
gewerbes e.\/., Berlin. ‘

"The size of future pension benefits is determined here :
by the amounts paid in and - for the non-guaran{eed por-
tion of the benefits - by the accrued income on thé assets.
The classifiéation of this provision as an indirect commit-
ment means that the contributions to BVV and Versor-
gungskasse are recogmzed as current expenses, ehmmat-
ing the need'to form provisions.

in the second case, employees are given a durect com-
mitment, under which the promised benefit is defined and
depends upon such factors as age, salary and length of
service (defined-benefit plan). ' '

In order to meet promised pension b‘eneﬂts, we accu-.
mulate the assets required'to meet the pension commit-

" ment for the most part internally and show the correspon-.

ding provision under Liabilities. A small part of these
assets is invested in a trust to provide additional protec-
tion against insolvency. The trustee of these assets held in
trust is Commerzbank Pension-Trust e.V. Allocation was
made to this trust in November 2003,

The pension. expenses for direct commitments, which
have to appear in the income statement, consist of several
components. First and foremost, the service cost has to be
considered. In addition, there is the interest cost on the
cash value of the commitment, as the time at which the



commitment must be met has moved one period closer.
The net earnings achieved on the separated plan assets
(assets held in trust) are deducted from expenses. If amor-
tization amounts arise for actuarial gains and losses due
to the 10% fluctuation-band rule, the expenses for the
period rise or fall accordingly.

The size of the provisions formed is initially deter-
mined by:the cash value of the commitment to.be mét. The
part which is coverad by the separate assets held in trust
has to be netted with the commitment. On account of the
fluctuation-band rule, the amount of provision to be
formed each year is as follows:

Cash value of commitment for direct commitments
lessvsepa'rate pension assets

less/plus not-recognized actuarial gains or losses

= size of provision-far pensions

The pension commitment is-calculated annually by
an-independent actuary, using the projected-unit-credit

method. This calculation is based not only on biometric .

assunipti_ohs but above all on a current market interest
rate for prime-quality long-dated bonds -as well as the
. tates.of increase for salaries and pensions to be expected
- in the future. We only recognize higher orlower commit-
‘mentsas a resuit of,actdarial calculations if they lie-out-
" side a 10% fluctuation ‘band of the acmarially estimated

value. The assumptions on which. the.actuarial calcula-

tions have been based are:

. 31.12.2002

. “Calculatory interest rate _ B75%
' Change in salaries T 2.75%
Adjustment to pensions 1.50%

The second piilar of._the.pension, commitments has
been terminated as of Decemibér 31, 2004. All the pension
expectancies existing up to this date will be preserved.
According to the report of our actuary, the termination
had no impact on the evalixation of pension commitments
" as of December 31, 2003. ’ v

The commitments similar to those for pensions
include commitments under early-retirement schemes
and under part-time work schemes for older staff, which
have been computed with the aid of actuarial rules.

{23) Other provisions

We form Other provisions on the scale deemed necessary
for liabilities of uncertain amount towards third parties
and for anticipated losses related to immatured contracts.
We are not permitted by IAS rules to form provisions for
expenses not related to an external commitment. in the
2003 financial year, we formed provisions of €209m for
restructuring measures. The basis for the formation of
this.provision was a detailed overall plan, coordinated

with the boards and bodies of the companies affected,

providing information on concrete individual measures -
above all, staff reductions.

{24) Taxes on income

Current ta_x aés_ets and liabilities were calculated by apply-
ing the valid tax rates at which a refund from, or a pay-
ment to, the relevant fiscal authorities is expected.

- Deferred tax assets and liabilities derive from diffe-
rences between the value of an asset or liability as shown
in‘the balance sheet and its assigned value in tax terms. in
the future, these will probably either increase or reduce
taxes on income (temporary differences). They were
measured at the specific income-tax rates which apply in
the country where the company in guestion has its seat
and wh‘i_ch‘ can be expacted to apply for the period in
which they:are reaﬁz_ed. Deferred taxes on as yet unused
losses carried ‘forward are shown in the balance sheet

if taxable profits are likely to occur at the same unit. Tax

assets and liabilities are not netted against'one another;

no discounﬁng is practised. Deferred tax assets and liabil-

ities are:formed and cairied such that - depending on the
treatment of the underlying item - they are recognized
either under Taxes on income in the income statement or
they are set off against the relevant equity items with no
effect on the income statement.

I‘nc_om'e-tax expenses or income which are attributable
to the Profit from ordinary activities after restructuring ex-
penses and to Expenses arising from special factors are
shown under Taxes on income in the consolidated income
statement and divided in the notes into current and

" deferred taxes in the financiai year. Other taxes which are

independent of income are subsumed under Other ope-
rating result. Current and deferred tax assets and tax lia-
bilities appear as separate asset or liability items in the
balance sheet. No taxes on income arose in the past finan-
cial year in connection with extraordinary business devel-
opments.
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{25) Subordinated capital

Under Subordinated capital, we carry issues of profit-
sharing certificates as well as securmzed and non-securi-
tized ssubordinated liabilities. Afterthelr initial recognition
at cost, they are shown at amomzed cost Premiums and
discounts are recognized uncler Net lnterest income over
the entire lifetime. i

(26) Trust business . :

Trust busmess involving the management or- placmg of
assets for the account of others is not shown in the bal-
-ance sheet. Commissions feceived from such business
are inciuded under. Net commission income in the income
statement.

(27) Treasury shares

Treasury shares held l)y the Parent Bank.in its portfollo on
the balance-sheet date are deducted dtrectly from Equity.
Gains and losses.resulting from the.Bank's own shares are
set off against one another, with n’o-e_ffect on net profit.

- -, -{28)-Staff remuneration plans :

" .. Forits executives and selécted other members of staff;the

‘Group has approved five "long-term performance plans”
(LTP). These pians be'rmit a remuneratieh in cash geared
to the pe_rforrrtahce-of the ‘share price or a stock index;
under tlwe‘ currently valid classification, they are consid-

_ered to be “virtual” stock option plans The programmes '

entail a payment commitment.if the’ Commerzbank share
=outperf0rms the Dow Jones Euro: Stoxx® Bank mdex (LTP
1999 2000 2001 2002 and 2003) and/or the absolute per-
formance of the Commerzbank share is at-least 25% (LTP
:2000, 2001, 2002 and 2003).

LTP 1999 -will.run for three yea'?s which, ‘depending
on the target being attained (outperformance), ‘may be
extended to @ maximum of five years. Payment will be

“linked to a rise in the perfotmance .of the Commerzbank

" share against the .Dow Jones Euro Stoxx® Bank index

withinarange of 1to'10 percentage points. Depending on
the employee’s function group and assessed performance
at the time when the plan was introduced and also on the
percentage of outperformance, the employee can receive
between €10,000 and €150,000. Should the target not be
attained after three or four years, which was the case at
the end of the first quarter-of both 2002.and 2003, a fresh
and final evaluation will be made after five years in 2004.
1 no minimal level of outperformance has been attained
by that time, the claim to payment under LTP 1999 will
expire.

LTP 2000, 2001, 2002 and 2003 require eligible partici-
pants in the plan to purchase Commerzbank shares. The
scale of such participation for staff who are not members
of the Board of Managing Directors depends on their func-
tion groth (possible participation: between 100 and 1,200
shares). Payments under these plans will be determined

. -by twio.criteria:

For 50% of the shares:

« the Commerzbank share outperforms the Dow Jones
Euro Stoxx® Bankindex {payment guaranteed by out-
performance of at least 1 percentage point to a maxi-
mum.of 10 percentage points).

For 50% of the shares:

e an absolute rise in the price of the Commerzbank
share (payment guarantéed by a rise of at least 25 per-
centage points to a maximum of 52. percentage
points).

Given maximal achievement of the two criteria, eligi-
ble partlcrpants will receive €100 per share of their own
participation, whereby Commerzbank shares will be dehv-
ered to the participant’s custody account for 50% of this
gross amount. :

Payment and the delivery of sharesis dependent upon
the Parent Bank paying a dividend forthe financial year.

The first comparison_of the base prices of the first
quarter of 2000 (LTP 2000), the first quarter of 2001 (LTP

2001}, the first.quarter of 2:002 (LTP _2002) or the first quar-

ter of 2003 (LTP 2003) with the data‘for the comparable
period will ‘be made after three years m either case.
Should none of the exercxsmg cntena have been met after
this time has elapsed companson will be made with the -
base data at annual intervals. The first companson for LTP
2000 with the prices for the first quarter of 2003 revealed
that the exercise criteria had not been fulfilled. If none of

-the performance targets have been achieved after five

years, the plan will be terminated.

. For the commitments arising fromthe LTPs described,
we calculate annually, in accordance with the relevant
GASB standard model, the pro-rata overall value of the
LTP: wherever necessary, we form a provision and charge
it to Operating expenses. Given the high base prices for
LTPs 1999 to 2002, there was no need to form a provision
for the 2003 financial year. For LTP 2003, where utilization
on the basis of the share price level on 31.12.2003 seems
likely, the necessary provisions of €6.3m have been
formed.



Within the Jupiter International Group plc {JIG), three
staff remuneration/stock-option plans existed as of
December 31, 2003. Under the terms of the so-called B
shares or Profit Shares Plan, eligible members of staff
receive a contractuélly assured payment, linked to pos-
session of virtual shares and to the Jupiter Group's
respective.net profit at the end of the years 2002 to 2004.
Each payment will be made in three annual instalments,
tﬁe size of the payment being geared to the 2000 profit.
Insofar as the-net prbfit in 'subsequent years falls below
this base value, payments will also be reduced.In 2003, no

"new-B shares were issued, as this plan:is being termi-
~ nated. The necessary aflocations to reserves have been
- -l'hade to the required extent and charged to operating
“expenses. : -

The so-called C shares or Growth Shares Plan gives
those eligible — a group of senior staff — the right to sub-
scribe t6 shares of Commerz Asset Management {UK) ple,

which are also subject to an obligationto purchase onthe

part of the Parent Bank. The value of these:shares is ori-
ented to the typified change in value of the JIG Group.
Those eligible _do not receive a guarante’ed,payment, as
the-reference figure may alter sither p'ositi'vely—o'r nega-
tively. Employees have the right' to tender delivery of
'sh_a.res annually, within certain limits, but they also have
-the passibility of disposing of their entire portfolio after
fbur years. in addition, certain rights exist in connection
with a change-of-control clause. The reference base for
- this :plan was adjusted in 2003, with the adjusted profit for
12000 being replaced by that for 2002. As of December 31,

_2003_, nd provision was required on account of th‘e'.deyel-'

opmeht.ofdupiter' International Grdt_np's valge.

At the same time, an ongoing "options programme”
was ladnched in 2003 in favour of the employees of JIG,
which entails a cash compensation based on the per-
formance of JIG and can be considered to be a virtual
stock option plan. lnternélly, this plan is known as the
“D options-plan” and entitles all those to participate who
had joined Jupiter by December 31, 2003, and were
already-entitled under the C Shares Plan. Under this plan,
a paYmént falls.due if the adjusted.profit in the year prior
to the exercising of the option is higher than the level of
the basis year. For the options granted in 2003, the 2003
adjusted profit was established as the reference figure. A
third of the options may be ekercised three years after
they are granted and a further third after four years, while

-all options must be qxercised: five years after they are
“granted, otherwise’.they_ expire. As of December 31, 2003,

no paymerits seemed likely under this plan. As a resuit, no
provisions have to be formed.

In.addition, it is pos_sible at other subsidiaries, inctud-
ingin Asset Mahagemeni, for selected employees to par-
ticipate through private-équ_it'yi‘r,n‘ode'ls in the performance
of the respective company Payment in such cases

depends on the extent to which fixed performance targets

are.attained. These models.include direct investment in
shares of the respective. combany‘ Frequently, these are
offered at reduced prices:én'd in combination with call or
put options. In addition, warrants and share subscription
rights are issued. Premiums are also granted which may
similarly be used to subscribe to shares. The observance
of blacking periods.and agreements for later repurchase
determine whether additional income is received. For
such models, we calculate the need for provisions annu-
ally, -using suitable methods, .and show this under Ope-
rating expenses. ' :



Expenses arising from special factors

in connection with-an impair_me'ﬁt'test, we subjected our
equity investments portfolioto a revaluation. This impair-
ment test yielded an amount of. €2,325m to be written
down. For the impairment test, we drew upon all the avai-
fable information (market prices, annual or interim finan-
cial accounts, ratings, analysts’ opinions). Even though in

-accordance with the principles which we apply, a -~ pos-

sibly - protracted weak market price does-not necessarily
lead to an impairment, we _decided to take this step
because our expectations as regards a recovery in value
had not been realized. The valuations were reduced in
accordanice with the  Commerzbank Group’s applied

measurement principles to the value that could be real-
ized in the market at that point in time and were taken
through the income statement. .

We have written down listed available-for-sale invest-
ments, investments in associated companies and also
goodwill, In a'ddi‘,ti‘on, the expenses, for cancelling the
refated funding of the written-down financial investments
and industrial participations were assigned to Expenises
arising from special factors. .

The increase in value of the relevant listed invest-
ments between the write-down date and December 31
2003, appears under the asset item Investments and secu-
rities portfolio. By contrast, these inc_réaées in.equity were
shown under the Revaluation reserve. - '



Major differences in accounting,
measurement and consolidation methods:
(AS/IFRS compared with HGB

The objective of financial statements based on IAS/IFRS is
-to prbvide information on ihe gfoup’s asset and financial
"position and its earnings performance and also changes
inthese overtime. By contrast, financial stat'ement's'b'ased
.on HGB are primarily geared to investor protection and

are also influenced by tax:law. provisions due to their

aufhoritative character for the balance sheet prepared for

tax purposes. Given these different objectives, the follow-
"ing major differences in accou'ntin'g and measurement
- methods arise between |AS/IFRS and HGB:

" Provision for possible loan losses

- Provision for possible loan losses is shown as a charge on
the. agseis side. Hidden reserves pursuant to Art. 340f,
HGB may not be formed in AS/IFRS financial statements.

. Trading portfolios and derivative financial instruments
In accordance with IAS 39, financial assets held for deal-
ing purposes (Assets held for dealing purposes)-and cer-
tain-financial liabiities (Liabilities from dealing activities}

-as well as derivative financial instruments not held for
trading.purposes (hedging derivatives) always have to be
measured at fair value. Depending on how these financial
instr_h_men‘ts are classified,:a|l~=§ains and losses'are'e_ither
shown in the income‘statemeht or under Equity with no
effect on net: prbfit, regardless of whether they are real-
ized or not. Under HGB rules, however, unrealized gains
may.riot be-recognized.

lnvéstments and securities portfolio

Investmetits and securities as well as available-for-sale
claims not originated by the Bank are measured at fair
* value'in accordance with IAS 39 or, insofar as this cannot
be reliably ascertained, they are shown at cost. The result
of measurement has no effect on income and is shown in
the Revaluation reserve. Under German accounting prin-
ciples, investments are part of fixed assets and have to be
shown at cost. If their value is likely to be permanentiy
impaired, they have to be written down at their lower
value.

NOTES

in terms of their character, securities in the available-
for-sale portfolio are held as part of the liquidity reserve
according to-HGB and have thus to be classified as current
assets. Under HGB rules, the strict lower-of-cost-or-mar-
ket principle applies in the measurement of such securi-
ties portfolios. In accordance with German accounting
rules, claims not originated by the Bank have to be recog-
nized at amortized cost, less write-downs. .

Hedge accounting

Pursuant to IAS 39, hedges may be created between a
hedged item and a derivative finéncial instrument for
hedge accounting purposes. Hedged items may be finan-

. cial assets (e.9. claims or securities) and financial commit-
“ments {e.g. l@abi!ities or bonds issued). Both for fair value

hedges and for cash flow hedges, detailed rules exist
which call for the fair value of a derivative hedging instru-
ment to be shown in gross form. Under German.account-
ing pr'i‘nciples, however, hedging transactions are taken
accountvof:by'm:eans of the iower-of-cost-or-market prin-
ciple, applied in measuring the hedged items.

intangible assets developed in-house and goodwill
Whereas intangible assets developed in-house may not
be recognized under HGB rules, IAS/IFRS requires this, if
certain conditions are fulfilled. Goodwill, resulting from
full consolidation, which in accordance with HGB provi-
sions may b'e_set‘ off directly against retained earnings in
the consolidated financial statements, has to be recog-
nized as an asset and amortized under IAS rules. -

. Pension.commitments

In accordarice with 1AS, pension commitments are calcu-
lated using the projectéd-unit-credit method. The calcu-
lation takes account of future commitments, reflecting
future increases in pay and pensions and also inflation.
The discount factor under JAS/IFRS rules is related to the
long-term intérest rate. By contrast, HGB accounting is
regularly geared to the respective valid income-tax regu-
lations, in particular the normal entry-age method.
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Other provisians

In accordance with IAS/IFRS, provisions may only be

" formed if they relate to an external commitment. Provi-
“sions for expenses, possible under HGB, for the purpose
of recognizing future outlays as expenses in the past
financial year are not pérmitted. IAS/IFRS :rules require
more concrete details than HGB as regards the formation

" of brovisions for restructuring, covering among other
thingsthe development, adoption and announcementofa
detaited pian. :

Deferred tax assets and liabilities -

Under IAS/tFRS rules, deferred tax assets and Ilabnlmes
are calcuIated with reference to the balance'sheet. Advan-
tages deriving from tax loss carry-forwards. have.to be
capltahzed if it can be -assumed that they will be used at a
Iater_daté. The income-tax rates employed to measure the

. différences between the values assigned in the balance

sheet and those for tax purposes are future-oriented. No
 netting occuré By bontrast the HGB-approach to recog-
" nizing deferred tax assets and liabilities is geared. to the

income:: statement and currently vahd income-tax rates
1 apphed The differences in approach tend to make
: ’deferred taxes more significant under IAS/IFRS rules. -

‘Eqmty

In'IAS fmancual statements, mmonty mterests appear asa
separate balance- sheet item. In accordance. with Art. 307,
HGB,, mterests held by other shareholders have to be
_shown. separately within equity. With the rules of IAS 39

applied, changes attributable-to the investments and
securities portfolio and also effective portions of the gains
and losses on cash flow hedges have to be shown in

-equity with no effect on net income. This type of income-

neutral accounting is not found in German accounting
rules. Under IAS/IFRS rules, treasury shares held on the
balance-sheet date are deducted from equity; the gains
and losses attributable to treasury shares .are set off
against reserves with no effect on income. Pursuant to
HGB rules, a reserve for treasury shares has to be formed
equivalent in amount to the treasury shares shown on the

" assets-side of the balance sheet, while measurement and
trading results are reflected in the income statement.

Trust b_usiness
Trust business, which appears'in the balance sheetin HGB
accounting, does not appear there under IAS/IFRS rules.

Tax valuation

In Tine with the-so-called reverse authority principle, valu-
ation principles are épplied under HGB rules that comply
with tax-law pro\/isions. Financial statements prepared
under IAS/IFRS rules may not contain special depreciation
and valuation principles that are. permissible under tax
regulations insofar -as -they. deviate from valuations
required by IAS/IFRS. rules.’ As from the'2003 financial
year, this ban also appliesto consolidated financial state-
ments prepared pursuant to HGB, due to the legal

_changes produced by the German legisiation on trans-

parency and publications.



Notes to the income statement

(29} Net interest income

2002 Change-
. ) €m in%
Interest income from lending and money-market transactions
.and aiso from available-for-sale securities portfolio 17,681 - .. -355
Dividends from securities 84 23.8
Current result from investments and subsidiaries 120 242
Current resuit from investments in associated.companies 58 46.6
Current income from leasing 89 : 2.2
-Interest income 18,032 -34.7
Interest paid on subordinated capital . 623 -11.7
Interest paid on securitized liabilities 5,318 -38.7
- Interest paid on other liabilities 8,934 . -42.7
. Current expenses from leasing 24 . T
Interest expenses 14,899 -39.7
Total 3,133 . -11.4

" Interest margins: . :
The average interest margin, based on the average risk-weighted assets in balance-sheet business according to BIS,
- 'was 2.39% (previous year: 2.16%). : :

{30 Provision for possible loan lasses

‘Provision for possible.joan losses appears as follows in the consolidated income statement:

2002 Change

. . €m in%
Allocation to provisions -1,974 -20.9
Reversals of provisions 690 =135
Directwrite-downs -99 46.5
‘tncome received on written-down claims 62 : -58.1

Total

-1,321 -17:9



{31) Net commission income

2002 Change

) €m in%

Securities transactions ‘823 -2.6

Asset management 511 : -0.4

Payment transactions-and foreign commercial business 346 124

Guarantees ‘ 140 4.3

Income fromsyndicated business - 80 17.5

Other net cammission income 220 -5.0

Total 2120 0.8
(32) Net result on hedge accounting

2002 Change

] €m in%

Net result on derivatives used as hedging instruments -281 . 27.4

‘Netresulton hedged itemns 226 .. - 76.9

Total =56 .

This item reflects the gains-and losses attributable to effective hedges in connection with hedge-accounting. The result
deriving from hedging instruments and the related hedged items represents only the effects on measurement arising
from fair value hedges.

(33) Trading profit

Trading profit has been split into two components: - Allthe fin_ancial instruments held for dealing'purposes

' are measured at their fair value. We-usé market prices to

» ' Net result on proprietary trading in securities, promis-  measure listed products, while ‘internal price. models

sory notes, precious metals and derivative instru- (above ali, net present-vaiue and option-price modeis) are

ments. used'in determining the current value of non-listed trad-’

} ing transactions. A_part" from the realized and unrealized

* Net result on the measurement of derivative financial gains and losses attributable to trading activities, the

instruments which do not form part of the trading  Trading profit also includes the interest and dividend

book and do not qualify for hedge accounting. income related to such. transactions and also their funding
costs. :

-2002 Change

. €m in%

Net result on proprietary trading 565 - 48.8
Net result on the measurement of derivative financial instruments =21 .

Tota!

544 355




{34) Net result on investments and securities portfolio (available for sale)

NOTES 108 i

Under the Net resuit on investments and securities portfolio, we show the disposal proceeds and the gains and losses
-on available-for-sale securities, claims not originated by the Bank, investments, investments in associated companies

-and holdings in subsidiaries which have not been consolidated.

2002 Change

: . . €m in%

Result on available-for-sale securities and

claims not originated by the Bank -127 .

Result on disposals and measurement of investments, :

investments in.associated companies and _

holdings in subsidiaries 116 - 0.9
" Total -11 .

From the year-earlier Result on disposals and measurement of investments in associated companies, an.amount of

€77m was transferred to Expenses arising from special factors.

{35) Operating expenses

The Gfoup’sOperating expenses consist of personneland  reduction of 12.5% from €5,155m to €4,511m, which is
- other expenses, -and depreciation on office furniture and  due above ali to the measures adopted under the second
equipment, real property, and also on other intangible  cost-cutting offensive project. The expenses break down

‘assets. In a year-on-year comparison, we achieved a  as follows:

Personnel expenses: -

Wages and salaries -

2002

Compuisory social-security contributions

Expenses for pensions and other employee benefits

of which:
contributions to BVV and Versorgungskasse des Bankgewerbes
company pension scheme

Total

Change

€Em in%
2,113 . -8.9
307 -4.2
259 -13.2
53 0.0
206 -17.5
2,679 -8.8
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Other expenses:

2002 Change

. €m in%

Expenses for office space’ 604 ~20.2

IT costs. 527 -11.4
Compulsory coritributions, other administrative and :

~ company-law expenses 2717 . ¢ -17.3

- Advertising, PR and promotional costs, consulting 11 - ~18.0

Workplace costs 247 - -25.1

Sundry expenses 143 . ~2.1

_Total 1,909 -16.5

.D‘epréciatidn of office furniture aﬁd‘aquipment, real property and other intangible assets:

2002 Change

. €m in%

Office furniture and equipment 511 ~16.6

Real property 27 -29.6

Otherintangible-assets’ 29 3.4

Total ) 567 -16.2

(36) Other operatingresult

The Other_ operating result primarily comprises alloca-
tions to and reversals of provisions, as well as interim
expenses and income'attl_'i_butable__td hire-purchase agree-
ments. Expenses and'_iné'ome arising from building and

architects’ fees occur in-connection with the.construction

“‘managemerit of our sub-group Commerzleasing und

Immobilien AG. Other taxes are also included in this item.
Last year, we also showed the proceeds from the disposal
of the RHEINHYP Group under this item.

‘Change

2002
€m in%
.Major Other operating expenses 188 191
Expenses arising from building and architects’ services 63 -28.6
Aliocations to provisions 63 - 76.2
Hire-purchase expenses and interim costs 62 97
Major Other operating income 985 -78.3
Income from the disposal of RHEINHYP Group 721 .
Reversals of provisions 78 . 6.4
Hire-purchase broceedé and interim income 70 0.0
Income from building and architects’ services 69 - -23.2
income from disposal of fixed assets 47 . -61.7
Balance of sundry Other operating expenses/income 141 305
Other operating result 938 -81.4

From the year-earlier figure for major Other operating expenses, an amount of €170m was transferred to Expenses

’ ~arising from special factors.



" (37} Regular amortization of goodwill

NOTES

The regular amortization of goodwill amounted to €110m (previous year: €108m). This also includes the amortization of

goodwill in companies included at equity.

'(381 Expenses arising from special factors

2002 Change
- ‘ €m in %
Value adjustments to the:financial assets and
participations portfolio, including the costs of
cancelling related funding. - - ° - 247 _ .
Total " 247 -

We made the value adjustments to our portfolio of finan-
cialassets and participaﬁohs. For the impairment test, we
have drawn upon allthe available information (rharket
prices, annua! and interim financial accounts; ratings,
analysts” opinions, etc.). On principle, a ~ possibly pro-
tracted —weak market price in itself does not lead to an
- impairment in-accordance with the principles we apply.
- All the same, our expectations as regards a recovery in

{39) Re_stru‘cturing expenses

value have not been realized. We therefore now assume
an‘impairment of value. Against this background, we saw
ourselves obliged to make valuation adjustments on the
scale.of €2.3bn to major parts of our portfolio of financial
assets'and industrial shareholdings in 2003.

‘The year-earlier figure was transferredfrom the items
Net result on investments and securities portfolio {(avail-
able-for-sale portfolio and Other operating result.

Change

- Expenses for restructuring
measures introduced

Total

2002

-€m in%
. 209 -50.2.
209 50.2

In March 2003, we decided to launch the second cosi-cut-
ting offensive. As part of this pfoje"ct) procedures are to be
streamlined and made more ebfficient'by'-means of a series
of concrete individual meaéures at both head office and

various subsidiaries. In addition, it was resolved to dis-
- continue various uneconomical activities. The expenses

incurred through these measures to reduce personnel ahd
related other expenses come to €104m, C



{40) Taxes on income

Income-tax expenses break down as follows:

2002 ‘Change

€m in%

Current taxes on income - 356 : -44.7

Deferred taxes -459 - - .
Total

~103 o .

Deferred taxes on the assets side include tax expenses of €26m {previous year: €26m) from the writing-back of capital-
ized advantages deriving from loss carry-forwards, which were used in the past financial year. :

~

The following transitional presentation shows the connection between the Profit from ordinary activities and Taxes on

income in the past financial year:

Net pre-tax profit according to 1AS

Group's income-tax rate

Calculated income-tax paid in financial year

- Effects.due to differing tax rates affecting income
during periods in question

Effacts of taxes from previous years recognized in past financial year

Effects of non-deductible operating expenses and tax-exempt income

Regular amortization of goodwill

Deferred tax assets not reported

Other effects

Taxes on income

The Group income-tax rate selected:as a basis for the tran-
sitional presentation is madé qpro’f-ihé cdrporate'ihcome-
tax rate of 25% to be.applied in Germany.in future, plus the
solidarity surchérgé of 5.5%, and an average rate of 18.4%
for trade earningstax. With the deductibility of trade e‘arn¥
" ings taxtakeninto consideratidﬁ, the German income-tax
rate isroughly 39.9%. i )

Income-tax effects reflect discrepancies between
effective tax rates caused by differences between the
Gerr’naﬁ income-tax rate and those of the various coun-
tries where Group companies are based, which as in the
previous year range between 0% and 46%, and ‘are also
due t6 differences in the municipal factors affecting trade
tax in Germany. '



(41) Basic earnings per share

NOTES

~
Loss/profit per share 31.12.2002 - Change

in%
Operating profit{ € m) 192 .
Net loss (€ m) . ~298 .
Average number of ordinary shares issued. {units) 533,637,824 - . 2.0
Operating profit per share (€) 0.36 R
Loss per share (€) -0.56- - v .

Theloss per share, calculated in accordance with IAS 33,
is based on net loss without the loss/profit a’ttributable‘ to
minority interests.

(42) Cost/income ratio

In the past financial year and on December 31, 2003,
no .conversion or option rights were outstanding. The

diluted loss per share, therefore, corresponds to the loss

pershare.

2002 Change
in%
Cost/income ratio before
regular amortization of goodwill,
expenses arising from special factors C
and restructuring expenses 77.3 -5.2




{43) Segment reporting

The results of the operative business lines forming the
Commerzbank Group are reflected in segment reporting.
The basis is provided by our internal management infor-
mation memoranda, which are prepared monthly in fine
with 1AS rules.

Segmentation into business lines is based on the

“Group’s internal organization structure, which since Janu-

ary 1, 2001, has consisted of two divisions: Retail Banking
and Asset Management, on the one hand, and Corporate
and Investment Banking, on the other.

- The Retail Banking and Asset Management division is
made up of the Retail Banking, Private Banking and Asset
Management departments.

The Corporate and Investment Banking division com-
prises our corporate activities and business involving
institutions, as well as investment-banking operations.

. We show the mortgage banks as a separate business
line. We also present Group Treasury separately.

" 'Survey of the structure of the operative divisions valid in the past financial year:

" Grouped together in segment reporting
under Corporate customers and

institutions



Our segment reporting breaks down into the following
seven segments:

¢ Retail banking, which also includes private banking
and direct banking through our subsidiary comdirect
bank Aktiengesellschaft.

* Asset management, above all consisting of COMINVEST
Asset Ma‘nagement GmbH, ADIG-Inyes‘t_ment Luxem-
burg S.A., Jupiter Intérnational Group plc and Mont-
gomery Asset Management, LLC.

* Corporatecustomers and institutiqns,‘with the Corpo-_
rate Banking, Multinational Corporates, fand Financial
institutions departménts, as well as real-estate busi-
ness and the commercial corporate activities of our
domestic and foreign units.

* Securities, with all the equity and bond-trading activi-

ties, trading in derivative instruments, interest-rate
and currency management, and dlso M&A business.

e Group Treasury, which is respohsibla for domestic
liquidity management and_al“so for‘nﬁanagihg the
Bank's capital structure. . ‘

* Mortgage banks, consrstlng of Eurohypo AktlengeseH-
schaft, Hypothekenbank in Essen AG and also Erste
Europaische Pfandbrief- und Kommunalkredttbank in
Luxemburg. Eurohypo Aktlengesellschaft is consoli-
dated at-equity.

e The “others and consolidation” segment, where the
'pr'ofit _contribuiions appear for which the-individual
banking departments are not.responsiAblé."These also
inclu"de'those expenses and income ~i_terﬁs that are
neceSSary in 6rdertb reconcile the control-variables of
internal. accountlng, shown in the-segmeént reporting
of the operative departments with the correspondlng
external accountmg data.

The result generated by the.segments is measured in

‘ . terms ofthe operatmg profitand'the pre‘tax profit, as wel}

"~ asthe flgures for the returnon equity and the cost/mcome
ratio. Through the presentatlon of pre-tax profits, minor-
ity interests are included in both the result and the ave-

. rage equity tied up. All the income for which a segment is
responsible is thus reflected in the pre-tax profit.

The operative return on equity or the return on equity
of the pre-tax profit, as one of the Comimerzbank Group’s
control variables, is calculated from the relationship

.'between the operating profit or the pre-tax profit and the
average amount of equity that is tied up; it-shows the
return on the equity that is invested in a given business
line.

NOTES

The cost/income ratio is another central control vari-
able, reflecting the cost efficiency of the various seg-

‘ments, The cost/income ratio in operating business repre-

sents the quotient formed by operating expenses and
income before provisioning.

Income and expenses are shown such that they reflect
the originating unit and appear at market prices, with the
market interest rate applied in the case of interest-rate
instruments. The net interest income of the respective
segment also includes return on equity and investment
yield as imputed variables. Segments with equity or
which have been endowed with capital are charged in-

115

térést on their capital in order to ensure comparablluty .
with' umts which do not have equity. The investment yleld

- 'achreyed by the Group on its equity is assigned to various

units such that it reflects the average amount of equity
thét'is t'red up. The interest rate that is applied corre-
sponds to that of a risk-free investment in the long-term
capltal market. Equity is calculated m accordance with
Principle | of German banking supervnswn onthe basis of
the established average amount of risk-weighted assets
and the capital charges for market risk (risk-weighted
asset equivalents).

Direct and indirect expenditure represent thé ope-
rating expenses which are shown in the operating profit.
They congsist of personnel costs, other expenses and
depreciation of fixed assets and other intangible assets,
excluding goodwill. Regular amortization of goodwill,
expenses arising from special factors and restructur_ihg
expenges appearbelow the operating profit in the pre-tax
profit. Operating expenses are assigned to the individ'ual

‘segments on the basis of the causation principle. The m-' ;

direct expenses arising in connection with internal ser-

. vices are charg‘ed to the beneficiary or credited to the seg-

ment performing the service.

The balance on expenses ansmg from special factors
in the Others and consohdatron segment relates to
expenses arising from the revaluation of our equity par"
ticipations.

I S
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Breakdown, by segment

2003 financial year Retail Asset Corporate Securities Group Mortgage Others
banking manage: customers : Treasury banking and
“ment and insti- consoli-
€m . tutions ' dation
Net interest income 1078 0 0 =17 1,596 62 238 273 ~451
Provisian for R :
‘possible loan losses . -~159 - ~885 - - ~40
Net interest income ' o
after provisioning 916 =17 711 62: . . 238 233
Net commission income’ 911 436 726 96 ~1 ~12
Net resuit on .
hedge accounting - 1 - ~ ' -1 40
Trading profit 4 12 30 . 783 o 8 =127
Net result on investments’ - .
and securities portfolio 5 12 . B5 10 .32 142
Other operating result 13 -9 64 -6 - -2
Income . 1,849 435 1,686 935 276 274
Operating expenses 1,591 345 1,231 832 56 32
_ Operating profit . . 258 ... 90 356 . . 3 -220 242
Regular amortization ) ) i B

.. of goodwill o - 77 .9 BE - 18
" Expenses arising L , o ‘

‘from'special factors ~ - =~ .= - -
* Restructuring ' : ‘

-expenses o - 8 25 . 34 - -

Pre-tax profit 258 .5 321 - -32 220 224  -2976

Average equity tied up 1,804 639 5,154 995 -~ 108 888
" Dperative return o . - T

oni equity {%) 143 141 6.9 0.3 .. 2037 273
‘Cost/income ratio in : ) ' ] o )

operating business (%]} 79.2 793 49.8 99.7 - 20.3 10.2

Return on equity of ) o S . S

pre-tax profit {%) ) 14.3 .08 CB2 =3.2 203.7 .25.2

Staff (average no.) ) 10,726 1,598 9,335 1.374 ... 42 156
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Breakdown, by segment

2002 financial year Retail Asset  Corporate Securities Group Mortgage Others
banking manage- customers Treasury banking and
ment  andinsti- consoli-
€m ‘ tutions = dation
Net-interest income 1,156 -19 - 2,011 g5 214 . 444 =768
Provision for .
possible loan losses -150 - -1,068 - -. -103 -
Net interest income : o : :
‘after provisioning : 1,006 -19 943 . 95 - 214 341 . =768
Net commission income 809 508 606 © - . 229 - - =32 =
Net result on : . o ‘ .

. hedge accounting - - -3 - : 26 -79 e
Trading profit - -~ 120 - 50O -25 .12 -57
Net result-on investments ) . ‘ :
and securities portfolio 1 T8 -15 -7 24 128 -136
Other operating result 24 17 93 | 4 - 22 778
Income 1,840 494 1,744 821 239 392 -183
Operating expenses 1.787 481 1,281 1,137 70 1M1 . .298
Operating profit 53 13 -453° - =296 169 281 . . -481
Regular amortization h : : :

‘of goodwill ) - 86 5 - - 12 5
Expenses arising o . R
from special factars - 247 - = - - -
Restructuring ‘ . : .
expenses . - 97 10 8 Y - - . 42
Pre-tax profit -44 . -330 440 -348 169 269 . 528
Average equity tied up 1,644 799 5,339 . 1,302 - 168 1,931 . 688
QOperative return i S C T

on equity (%) ) 3.2 - 1.6 -85 - =227 100.6 146
‘Cost/incomeratioin ] : o o : B ‘

- operating business (%) 89.8 97.4 . . 459 .  136.1 29.3 224 .
Return on equity of o o ‘ :
preé-tax profit (%) -2.7 -41.3 . 82 L =267 . 100.6 13.9 .

.Staff (average no.) 12,159 2,252 9,614 1510 83 657 10,175

1o
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Quarterly results, by segment

1st quarter 2003 Retail Asset  Corporate Securities Group Mortgage Others
banking manage- customers Treasury  banking and
ment and insti- consofi-

“€m | tutions dation
Netinterestincome 267 - -3 426 17 109 - 33 144
Provision for

possible loan losses -44 - ~205 - - -3 -
- Netinterestincome

after provisioning 223 -3 221 17 109 30 =144
Net commission income 240 91 172 36 0 -4 -15
Netresult on - :

hedge accounting ) - 2 - - 3 5 -
Trading:profit : 1 3 6 232 C=17 7 -1
Netresult on investments .

and securities portfolio 1 9 41 1 35 25 - -7
Other operating result -2 2 29 1 - - -2
Income.. . 463 - 104 469 287 30 . - .63 -165
Operating expenses 430 89 317 242 13 7 81
- Operating.profit 33 15 152 45 117 56 -246,
Regular.amortization ) .

of goodwill - 21 2 - - 6 1
Expenses arising

from'special factors - ~ - - - - Fe
Restructuring , ‘

expenses. ~ 8 25 34 - - .. 3

Pre-tax profit 33 -14 125 1 117 50 -284
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2nd quarter 2003 Retail Asset Corporate Securities Group Mortgage Others ' Total
banking manage- customers Treasury banking and
ment  and insti- consoli-

€m tutions dation

Net interestincome 265 -2 395 17 61 95 -85

Provision for

possible loan losses -44 - -256 - - -3 -

Net interest income

after.provisioning 221 -2 139 17 61 92 -85

Net commission income 227 93 181 18 - -3 -

Net result on

‘hedge accounting - -1 1 - -1 16 -
“Trading profit 1 4 47 226 -12 -25 37

Net result on investments

and securities portfolio 2 3 24 - 3 9 13
. Other operating result 26 3 5 -7 - -1 3

Income 477 100 397 264 51 88 -32

Operating expenses 393 84 288 237 22 8 109
Operating profit 84 16 109 17 29 80 -141

Regular amortization .
‘of goodwill - 21 2 - - 5 2

Expenses arising

from special factors - - - - - - -
Restructuring - )

expenses - - ~ - - ~ -
Pre-tax profit 84 =5 17 29 75 -143




. 3rd quarter 2003 Retail Asset  Corporate Securities Group Mortgage Others

banking manage- customers Treasury  banking and
ment and insti- consoli-

€m ‘ ) tutions “dation
Net interest income 278 -10 386 13 55 &7 ~127
Provision for . ‘

possible loan losses -44 - -219 - - -10 -
Net interest income _

after provisioning : 234 -10 . 167 13 55 | 57 ~-127
Net commission income 225 107 167 20 -1 -2 -7.
Net result on - ’ ) )
hedge accounting - S - -1 - -1 14 -
Tradirg profit ‘ 2 -3 -20 124 30 -35 3.
Net resulton investments o : .
and securities portfolio- ~ 5 -23 4 -2 30 - 50
- Other operating result Co=Tr 2 18 1 - - 88
Income =~ ) . 450 107 308 162 81 64 7 -
Operating expenses 379 .- 65 311 218 13 9 83
Operating profit 7N 42 -3 -56 68 - 55 -76-
Regular amortization : A

" of goodwill - 21 2 - - 5 1
Expenses arising. C

from special factors - - -~ - - - 2,325
Restructuring ’ :

expenses ’ - - -~ - - - -.

_ Pre-tax profit : 7 21 -5 -56 68 50 ~2,402
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4th quarter 2003 Retail ‘Asset  Corporate Securities Group Mortgage = Others

banking - manage- customers Treasury banking and.
ment and insti- consoli-

€m . . tutions dation

Net interest income 265 =2 389 15 13 78 -95

Provision for ' ‘ ,

possible loan losses -27 - -205 - = S =24 -

Net interest income E

after provisioning 238 -2 184 15 13 54 -95

Net commission income 219 . 145 - 206 22 - 3 - ..2

Net result on ' '

hedge accounting - = - - -2 B -

Trading profit ' - 2 -3 201 7 =74 =12

Netresult on investments - o

and securities portfolio 2 -5 13 5 -4 78 -21

Other operating result - 16 12 -1 - -1 N

Income 459 - 124 412 232 14 59 . -95

Operating expenses ©389° - 107 . 315 235 8 8 51

Operating profit 70 17 97 -3 6 51 =146

Regular amortization . . :

of goodwill - ) 14 3 1 - 2 1

Expenses arising ) .

-from special factors - - . - - - - -
Restructuring : ) o
expenses - - - - - - P
Pre-tax profit 70 3. 94 -4 6 49 -147




Results, by geographical market

Assignment to the respective segments on the basis of the seat of the branch or consolidated company produces the

following breakdown:

- Asia

2003 financial year Europe America Other
o in¢luding i countries
€m Germany
Netinterestincome 2,470 244 52 10
Provision for possible loan losses ~986 -94 -4 -
Netinterest income after provisioning 1,484 150 48 10
Net commission income 1,920 135 78 3.
Hedging result 40 5 -6 1,
* Trading profit 715 9 12 1
Net'result on investments )
and securities portfolio
(available for sale) 260 31 - -
Operating expenses 4,246 176 84 5
Other operating resuft 147 27 1 -1
Operating profit 320 181 49 9
Risk-weighted assets according to BIS" 123,112 9,316 2,751 650
"excluding market risk
In.the prévious year, we achieved the follovwing results in the gedgraphical markets:
2002 financial year Europe America Asia Other
including countries
€m Germany
Netinterest income 2,596 379 147 11
Provision for possible loan losses 1,263 ~77 19 -
Netiinterestincome after provisioning 1,333 302 . 166 11
‘Net commission income 1,892 142 82 4
Hedging result -53 -3 - -
Trading profit 513’ 19 12 -
Net result on investments
and securities portfolio
(available for sale) -16 7 -2 -
Operating expenses 4,723 278 150 4.
Other operating result 925 17 -4 -
Operating profit -129 206 104 1n
Risk-weighted assets according to BIS® 137,886 13,899 4,140 615

" excluding market risk
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Notes to the balance sheet

(44) Cash reserve

We include the following items'in the cash reserve:

31.12.2002 Change

. ) €m in%

Cash on hand 898 2.1

Balances with central banks 5,714 -16.1

Débt‘issued by publié-sector borrowers, and

bills of exchange rediscountable at central banks 1,854 -7.3
Treas_n’iry bi!l’s and discountable treasury notes, ’ .

as well as similar debtissues by public-sector borrowers 1,611 -8.5.

Bills of exchange 343 - -23

Total . 8,466 . ~12.2

The balances with central banks include claims on thé Bundesbank totalling €3,744m (previous year: €4,371m). The
rhinimum reserve requirement to-be met at end-December 2003 amounted to €1,964m (previous year: €2,166m).

(45) Claims on banks

total

due.on demand
. 31122002 - Change 12200

otherclaims
3. 31.12.2002 200,

31.12.2002

» €m in % €m €m

German banks. 22,226 -15.1 3111 19,115
. Foreign banks 32,117 2.1 10,685 21,432
54,343 = -4.9 . 13,796 40,547

Total
The claims on banks i_ncludé €5,342m of public-sector Joans {previous year: €6,560m)-extended by the mor'tgaéevbanks'.

N . . : . i ’
{46) Claitns on customers

The claims on customers break down as follows:

31.12.2002 - Change

€m in%

. Claims on domestic customers 95,843 ) 0.5
Claims on foreign customers 52,671 -20.1
Total 148,514 -6.8

The claims on customers include €26,855m (previous year: €25,718) of loans secured by mortgages or other security
interests in real property as well as €19,597m (previous year: €19,174m) of public-sector credits. '
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{47) Claims on and liabilities to subsidiafies and equity investments

The claims on and liabilities to unconsolidated subsidiaries, associated companies and companies in which an equity
investment exists are as follows:

31.12.2002 Change

) . €m in%

‘Claims oh banks 954 26.6

Subsidiaries 18 -22.2
. Associated companies and companies

in which:an equity investment'exists 936 27.6

C|aims oh customers 304 -5.3

' Subsudlanes ‘ 234 2.1
Assocnated compames and compames

in which an equity investment exists 70 -30.0

Bonds,.notes and other fixed-income 'securities - 932 73.8.

 'Subsidiaries 30 -6.7
Assocuated companies and companles

“in Wthh an equity mvestment ex1sts 902 76.5

:Shares and other variable-yield securities 358 -10.9
Associated companies and companies

‘in which an-equity investmént exists. 358 -10.9

" Total ' 2,548 34.8

‘ Liabilities to banks 7 -35.2

Subsnd«arles 2 50.0
Assocmted compames and companles

in'which an-equity investment exists - 69 -37.7

“Liabilities to customers 47 .

' SUbSIdIaI’IES 34 .
Assocnated companies and companles

-in which' an equity investment exists 13 77

Total 118 .

(48] Total lending

31.12.2002 Change

] €m in%

Loans to banks" 10,223 5.2

Claims on customers” 139,522 ~6.3

Bills discounted 347 2.6

Claims not originated by the Bank? . 21,379 7.2

Total 171,47 -3.9

" excluding reverse repos; 2 included in Investments and securities portfolio

We distinguish loans ta banks from claims on banks such that only thase claims are shown as loans to banks for which
special loan agreements have been concluded with the borrowers. Therefore, mterbank money-market transactions, for
example, do not count as {oans to banks.



(49) Provision for possible foan losses

Provision for.possible loan losses is made in.accordance with rules that apply Group-wide and covers all discernible
creditworthiness and country risks. On'the basis of past experience, we have formed global valuation allowances for the
latent credit risk. :

Individual Country = - Global Total

valuation valuation valuation

allowances” allowances

2002 2002 Change
€m €m in%
Asof 1.1. 5,402 410 5,946 -4.1
Allocations 1,927 37 1,974 ~20.9
Deductions 1,388 - 27 1,470 ~11.8
utilized. 760 - 780 ~10.4
reversals 628 27 690 -13.5°
Changes in conso- o ‘
.lidated companies ~449 -101 -550 R .
Exchange-rate : : :
changes/transfers -172 . =5 =195 -36.4
Provision for possible o : .
‘loan losses as of 31,12, - 5,320 314 5,705 26

- Wincluding provisions

With direct write-downs and income received on writteri-ddwn claims taken into account, the allocations and reversals
- ‘réflected in the income statement gave rise to provision of €1,084m (previous year: €1,321m) for Iendin‘g risks.

Provision for possible risks was formed for: '

" 31.12.2002 Change

: €m in %
Claims.on banks 83 ~53.0
Claims on customers 5,293. 3.4
Provision to cover balance-sheet items 5,376 2.5
Guarantees, endorsement liabilities, credit commitments 329 4.6
Total ' 5,705 : 2.6

After conserv‘aﬁvely valued security in an amount of €1,857m had been deducted, the value-adjusted claims-producing
neither interest nor income amounted to €5,220m. ‘
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The provision for credit risk breaks down as follows:

Individual valuation Loan losses" Net allocation? to
allowances and in 2003 valuation allowances
- provisions for : and provis:ions in
€m . lending business : . ~ lending business
German customers ' . 4,711 415 . 752
Companies and self-employed 4,005 © 384 675
Manufacturing 815 77 167
Construction : I 298 , .9 30
Distributive trades : 499 - 64 73
Services, incl. professmns and others 2,393 ) ' 234 k 405
Other retail customers - 706 ' 31 - 77
Foreign customers 795 428 . 221
Banks - - ‘ 25 5 : -1
".Corporate and retail customers 770 . 423 L 222

Total 5506 ' - 843 973

M Direct wnte downs, utilized individual valuanon allowances and provnsmns in lendmg business
2 Allocation Iess reversals

Data on provision for credit risk:

in% )

Allocation ratio”

Write-off ratio?
:Cover ratio”

1 Net prowsnonmg (new provnsnons less reversals of valuation allowances and provision for both commercta| and country loans andalso
- general provision, plus the’ ba|ance of dnrect write-downs and i income recewed on prevuously written- down clalms) asa percentage of
total lending . : .

2 Defaults {utilized valuation allowances and-provision for both commercial and country loans, plus the balance of direct write- downs and
income received on prevnously writtén-down claims) as a percentage of total Iendlng

3 Existing provisions {leve! of valuation allowances and provisions for credit risk in commercial lending, country risk andin general provi-
sion} as a percentage of total Iendmg



{50} Positive fair values from derivative hedging instruments

Derivative instruments used forhedging purposes and for
hedge accounting and also showing a positive fair value
appear.under this item in the balance sheet.

NOTES

These instruments are measured at their fair value.
For the most part, interest-rate and.interest-rate/currency
swaps are used.

31.12.2002

" Change

€m “in%

Positive fair values from related effective fair value hedges 2,110 -21.8
Positive fair values from related effective cash flow hedges 1,021 =11.6
Total 3,131 -18.5

{51) Assets'he\d for dealing.pdrposes

The Groups trading activities mclude trading in bonds,
. notes and:other fixed- income secuntles shares and other
'varnable-yle|d securities, promnssory notes, foreign ex-

change and precious'me‘tals as well as derivative financia)

‘instruments, All the items m the tradlng portfolio are

shown at their fair value.

The positive fair values also include financial instru-
ments which cannot be used as hedging instruments in
hedge accounting.
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31.12.2002 Change

‘ L . . ) L€m | in%

Bonds, notes and other fixed-income securities 35,148 -45.7

Money-market instruments 983 3.8

issued by pubhc sector borrowers 359 -40.9

issued by other: Borrowers 624 29.5

" Bonds andnotes. 34,165 -47.1
.issued by publlc -sector borrowers 20,916 -73.8

issued by other-borrowers 13,249 -4.9

Shares and othervariable-yield securities 5,412, 57.2.

Promissory notes held in the trading portfolio . ' 515 ‘8.5

Positive fair values attributable to derivative financial instruments 76,117 ~219

Currency-based transactions 9,721 14.6

Interest-based trvansactions 59,197 ~24.8

Other transactions’ 7,199 -47.6

Total 117,192 <25.2

€25,197m (previous year: €35,550m) of the bonds, notes and other fixed-income securities and also shares and other

variable-yield securities were listed securities.
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(52) investments and securities portfolio

The Investments and. securities portfolio consists of as investments, holdings in assaciated companies mea-
claims not-originated by the Bahk, all bonds, notes. and- sured at equity and holdings in subsidiaries not included
other fixed-income securities, shares and other yari_ab_le- in the consolidation.

yield Se_curitiés not held for trading purposes, avs’well

31.12.2002 Change
: ; . €m : in%
Claims-on banks and custémers not originated by the Bank 21,379 - 7.2
Bonds, notes and other fixed-income securities 53,400 5.5
Money-market instruments o 431 ..
-issyed by public-seétorborrowers ) 74 C .
issued by other borrdwe‘rs 357 59.4
Bonds and notes 52,969 4.4.
- issued by public-sector borrowers 26,878 0.4
issued by other borrowers 26,091 8.7
Shares.and other variable-yield securities 1,999 - 0.7
Investments 3,629 4.2
of which: in banks - 1,999 R YAE
Invéstments in associated companies 3,684 -35.8
of which: i_n'b'ahks ) 3,250 -33.4
Holdings in subsidiaries 567 -8.8
of which: in banks 60 - -883
Total o 84,558 3.9
of which: measured at amortized cost 1,609 ~18.0

Fair values of listed financial investments:

31.12.2002

€m : ] Fair value
‘Bonds, notes and other fixed-income securities 49,139
Shares and other variable-yield securities e
Investments and investinents in asscciated companies 5,815

' Total 55,765
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NOTES
investments in large incorporated companies held by the Commerzbank Group, pursuant to Art. 313, {2}, no. 4, HGB:
Name Seat Percentage share

of capital held

),200 31.12.2002
Al Wataniya Casablanca 9.0
Banque Marocaine du Commerce Exténeur, SA. Casablanca 10.0
BuderusAktiengeselischaft Wetzlar 105
Heidelberger Druckmaschinen Aktiengeselischaft Heidelberg 10.0
Hoisten-Brauerei Aktiengesellschaft - ) Hamburg 7.2 v
Korea Exchange Bank Seoul. ‘32.6
Linde Aktiengesellschaft Wiesbaden 10:0
MAN Aktiengesellschaft Munich’ 6.8
Sachsenring Automobiitechnik AG it 2Zwickau -10:0°
Unibanco - Unido de Bancos:Brasileiros S:AL Séao Paulo -
Unibanco Holdings S.A. Sao Paulo 1.5
Willy Vogel Beteiligungsgeselischaft ran Berlin 19.0

i as of 31 12.2003, the company was no |onger a large incorporated company

2) dnrectly and mdlrectly held

(53} Intangible assets

31.12.2002 Change

. _ €m in%
Goodwill - 1,040 -33.7
Other.intangible assets 111 0.9
Total 1,151 -30.3

‘Usifig the straight-line m‘ethod,_:we ‘amortize goodwill
over the probable useful economic lifetime of 15 years.
‘Futther goodwill arising fram companies shown at
~equity is contained in investments in assoc«ated compa-
nies (€108m)

(54} Fixed assets

Of the other mtanguble assets, capitalized software )

produced in-house accounted for €100m (previous year
€90m). '

31.12.2002 Change

- . €m in%
Land and buiidings 709 23.7
Office furniture and equipment 1,417 -28.7
Leased equipment 379 -53.6
Total 2,505 ~17.6




(55) Changés in book value of fixed assets and investments

The following changes were registered for intangible and fixed assets, and also for investments, investments in asso-

ciated companies and subsidiaries in the.past financial year:

Intangible assets

f_ig(ed assets

Goodwill " Other Land and Office
' intangible buildings furniture and
€m assets equipment
Book value as of 1.1.2003 1,040 114 709 1,417
Cost of acquisition/manifacture . C :
as of 1.1.2003 ’ 1,597 178 867 - 3,725
Additions in 2003 4 27 29 99
Disposals in 2003 215 9 27 285:
Transfers/changes in : _
consolidated companies - 7 21 -13
Cost of acquisition/manufacture i
as of 31.12.2003 ) ) © 1,423 203 1,080 3,526
Cumulative write-downs as of 31,12.2002 557 67 158 2,308
Changesin exchange rates ~ - - -5 =18
Additions in 2003 410 30 19 426.
Disposals in 2003 215 9 4 187
Transfers/changes in
. consolidated companies ) -19 3 35 -13
.Cumulative write-downs as of 31.12.2003 . 733 91 203 2,516
Book value as of 31.12,2003 690 112 877 1,010 ‘
Fixed assets Investmaents Investments Holdings in
Leased in associated subsidiaries
€m ‘equipment ‘ companies .
Baok value as of 1.1.2003 379 3,629 3,584 ‘567
Cost of acquisition/manufacture . S
as of 1.1.2003 435 4,406 3,750 604
Additions in 2003 121 .45 - ‘
. Disposals in 2003 .358 1,517 101 21
‘ Trédsférs/change_s in ‘
consolidated companies - 395 -629 . =33
Cumulative changes arising from
measurement at fair value or at equity - 1,576 -91 -
Cost of acquisition/manufacture/fair value
as of 31.12.2003 . 188 4,905 2,929 554
Cumulative write-downs as of 31.12.2002 56 785 166 37
Additions in 2003 17 856 571 -
Disposals in 2003 51 518 - -
Transfers/changes in '
consolidated companies - .- -108 ~
Cumulative write-downs as of 31.12.2003 22 1,122 629 37
Book value as 0f31.12.2003 176 3,783 2,300 517
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{56) Tax assets

-31.12.2002 Change

€m - in%

Current tax assets 704 -61.6
Germany 607 -66.6
Abroad 97 - -30.9
Deferred tax assets 5,291 : 9.0
Deéferred tax assets 5,291 - 8.0
Total 5,995 0.7
Deferred taxes represent the potential income-tax relief No deferred taxes have been recognized for loss carry-

from temporary differences betwéen the values as"signed forwards of €3,084m (previous year: €2,796m}, as it is
to assets and liabilities in the consolidated balance sheet  uncertain at present whether they will be realized.

in accordance with IAS and their values for tax-accounting For the most part, there are no time limits on the use of
purposes in accordance with the IocaI‘ tax regulations for  the existing tax loss carry-fdrwards.

consolidated companies.

Deferred tax assets were formed.in conneqtibn with the following balance-sheet items:

31.12.2002 Change

€m . in%
Fair values of derivative hedging instruments 2,050 . 25.2
-Assets held for.dealing purposes and liabilities from dealing activities 1,837 - 386
Claims on banks and customers 139 4 -25.9
Provisions ' 318 -62.9
" Securitized liabilities 287 -88:2
_Liabilities to banks and customers 148 -87.2
Sundry baiance-sheet items 470 -9.6
Capitalized tax.loss carry-forwards 342 - 8.8
Total - 5,291 S X
(57) Other assets
Other assets mainly comprise the foliowing items:
31.12.2002, ‘Change
€m in %
Collection items 284 35.6
Precious metals 373 24.4
Sundry assets, including deferred items 998 80.1

Total 1,655 59.9
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(58) Liabilities to-banks

total
31.12.2002 Change
€m in%
German banks 42,893 -4.4
Foreign'banks 72,091 -24.8
Total 114,984 =-17.2
of which:

other liabilities

31.12.2002 31.12.2002

€m €m

German banks 3,608 39,285

Foreign banks 9,500 - 62,591
Total 13,108

{59) Liabilities to customers

101,876 -

Liabilities to customers consist of savings deposits, demand deposits and time deposits, including savings certificates.

total

003 31.12.2002 Change

. €m in%
.German customers 69,639 58
- Corporate customers 37,708 . 149

. Retail customers and others 28,245 ~-3.5
Public sector 3,586 -15.1
Foreign customers 26,161 0.9
~ Corporate and retail-customers 23,631 95
.Publit sector 2,530 -79.3
Total 95,700

45



_ Total

NOTES
Savings deposits Other liabilities
due ondemand with agreed lifetime
. or period of hotice
€m 31.12.2002 31.12.2002 3 003 31.12.2002
German customers 11,035 26,857 31,647
Corporate customers 41 16,782 20,885
Retail customers and others 10,989 9,684 - 7,572
Public sector 5 381 3,150
Foreign customers 1,038 6,251 18,872
Corporate-and . o
retail customers 1,037 6,072 . 16,522
Public sector 1 179 - 2,350
Total 12,073 33,108 50,519
” Savings deposits break down as follows:
31.12.2002 Change
. : €m in%
Savings deposits with agreed period of iotice of three months 11,262 2.6
Savings deposits with agreed period of notice
of more than three months 811 -11.6
1.7

(60)Securitized Iiabiliﬁes

12,073

Securmzed Ilabtlmes consist of bonds and notes, |nc|ud|ng mortgage and publlc -sector Pfandbriefe, money-market
-vmstruments (e g. certificates of deposut Euro notes, commercnal paper), index certificates, own acceptances and prom-

) |ssory notes outstandmg

‘total

of which: issued by
" mortgage banks

31.12.2002
T €m

Bonds and notes outstanding

Money-market instruments outstanding

74,805
17,502

Own acceptances and promissory notes gutstanding

. Total

31.12.2002
€m

325

92,732

' The nominal interest paid on money-market paper ranges
from 0.18% to 21.0% (previous year: 0.1()% to 29.1%);
for ‘bonds and notes, from 0.05% to 32.0% (previous

year: 0.05% to 25.20%?). The original maturity periods for

money-market paper may be up to one year. €44bn [pre-
vious year: €54bn) of the bonds and notes have an origi-
nal lifetime of more than four years.
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The following table presents the most important bonds and notes issuedin 2003:

Equivalent Currency Issuer Interest rate

2005..

Maturity .-
in€m - % i date
2,200 * EUR Hypothekenbank in'Essen AG 3.500 - 2008
2,000 EUR ‘Hypothekenbank in Essen AG - 3.500 2006
1,950 EUR" Hypothskenbank in Essen AG - 4.000 2009 .
1,500 EUR ~ Hypothekenbank in Essen AG 3.250 -2004
1,000 . EUR Hypothekenbankin Essen AG : 4.750 2006

767 EUR Hypothekenbank in Essen AG 6.500 2005
732 EUR Hypothekenbankin Essen-AG : 4.750 2008
582 EUR Hypothekenbank in Essen AG : 2.600 - 2018
385 CHF Erste Eurapaische Pfandbrief und Kommunalkreditbank AG 0.266 2006
324 EUR Hypothekenbank in Essen AG . . : 7.500 2004
289 CHF Erste Europaische Pfandbrief und Kommunalkreditbank AG 1.750 2007
283 GBP Commerzbank AG R . 3:940 2004
251 EUR | Hypothekenbank in Essen AG . 1.000 2005
250 EUR Hypothekenbank in Essen AG 2.201 2004
250 EUR Hypothekenbank in Essen'AG : 2.154 2004 .
250 EUR ‘Hypothekenbank in Essen AG : 2.158 2004
250 - EUR Hypothekenbank in Essen AG ‘ 2.000 2004
250 EUR Hypothekenbank in Essen AG . 2.000 2005
250 EUR Hypothekenbank in Essen AG ‘ 2.258 2004 -
250 EUR - Hypothekenbank in‘Essen AG 2.435.
2850 EUR Hypothekenbank in Essen AG . - 2:301 2005
250 EUR Hypothekenbank in Essen AG 1.500 2004
250 EUR Erste Européische Pfandbrief und Kommunaltkreditbank AG 2.105 2004
(61} Negative fair values from derivative hedging instruments
Derivative instrurnents ot serving trading purposes but These_»finant_:'ialvins'trum'ents are measured at their fair
used-_fdr effective’ hedging and shdwirig a negative fair  value. For the most part; interest-rate: and interest-rate/
value appear under this'item in.the'balance sheet. * currency swaps are used as hedging instruments. '
31.12.2002 Change .
€m in%
Negative fair values from related effective fair value hedges 3,546 -9.4
Negative fair values from related effective cash flow hedges - 2,150 26.6
Total ’ 5,696 4.1




{62] Liabilities from dealing activities

In Liabilities from dealing activities, the negative fair values of financial derivative instruments not employed as hedging
instruments in connection with hedge accounting are shown. Delivery commitments arisihg from short sales of securi-

ties are also included under Liabilities from dealing activities:

31.12.2002

The assets of €139rh invested in a pension fund were deducted in the 2003 financial yeaf from the provisions for pensions
and-similar commitments. A year previously, no allocation'had yet been made to this pension fund.

I Thé.changes in provisions for pensions weré as-follows:

Pension Allocation  Fairvalus . Transfers/changes |

agof".

1.1.2003 paymeénts ofplan - in consolidated
€m assets companies
Pension expectancies of ' B
active and former employees - L
and:also pensioners’ 1,444 75 125 96 - 4
Early retirement 30 4 8 - ~
Part:time scheme
for older staff 42 9 16 43 -

Total 1,516 98 149 139 4

For the mbst part, provisions for pensions and similar
commitments represent provisions for.commitments to
pay company. retirement pensions on the basis of direct
pledges of benefits. The type and scale of_thé retirement
pensions for employees entitied to benefits are. deter-
mined by the terms of the pen_éion arrangement that

finds applicétion (including peﬁsion guidelines, pension
scheme, contribution-based pension plan, individual pen-
sion commitments), which mainly depends upon when
the employee joined the Bank. On this basis, pensions are
paid-to employees reaching retirement age, or earlier in
the case of invalidity or death (see also Note 22).

Change

. €m in%

Currency-based transactions 10,978 741

Interest-based transactions : 58,982 -27.0

~Delivery commitments arising from short sales of securities 8,131 3.2

Sundry.transactions 5,147 - -26.1

Total 83,238 -19.5

{63) Provisions

PrbVisions break down as follows:

31,12.2002 Change

] . . €m in%

-Provisions for pensions and similar commitments 1,616 - -5.5

Other provisions 22,012 6.8

Total . 3528 -6.3"



< 136 NOTES

Changes in the assets held in trust at Commerzbank Pension Trust e.V., which count as plan assets pursuant to 1AS 19:

€m

- Allocation to plan assets as of November 1, 2003

- Income from plan assets

Fair value of plan assets

‘The pe'néion commitments are worked out annually:by an

-ind’ependent actuary, applying the projecte‘d' unit credit
_“method.

The projected unit credit for pension commitments

as of December 31, 2003, was €1,644m (previous year:

€1,676m). The difference:between this figure and the pen-
sion provisions is the result of changes in the actuarial
parameters and the bases of calculation amoimting to
€73m (previous year:-€60m) and of the fair value of the'
plan assets of €139m.

The allocation to provisions for pension schemes to which the Bank contributes breaks down as follows:

2002

€m .
- Service cost 40
- —Interest cost 91
= Cost of early retirement and part-time scheme for older staff 39
“Allocations to provisions for schemes to which the Bank contributes 170

Changes in Other provisions:

as of Utilized Reversals  Allocation/changes
K 1.1.2003 . .in consolidated

) €m companies
Personnel area 529; 368 12 - - 403
. Restructuring measures 285 17 3. . B4
"Risksin‘lending ' 329 16 79 110
Bonuses for special savings schemes - 116 116 .0 - 84
Legal proceedings and recourse claims 95 44 13 33
Sundry items 658 217 46 210
Total 2,012 878 163 904

The prbv'isions in the personnel area basically. relate to
provisions for various types of bonuses, to be paid_ to
employees of the Group in the first. quarter of 2004. An
amount of €64m was allocated to the provisions for the

restructuring measures - second .coét~cutting offensive ~
introduced and announced in the 2003 financial year. The
allocated amount is included in Restructuring expensesin
the income statement.



{64) Tax labilities
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31.12.2002 Change

: €m in%

Current income-tax liabilities 278 -44.6

{ncome-tax liabilities to tax authorities - 3 -66.7

Provisions for income taxes 275 © -44.4

Deferred income-tax liabilities 3,386 28.2
Deferred taxes carried as liabilities 3,386 28.2 -

‘Total : 3.664 22.7

“Provisions for taxes on-income are possible tax liabilities
for:which no final‘fo'r_m_al assessment note has been re-
‘ceived. The-liabilitie$ to tax authorities represent payment
obligations from current taxes towards German and for-
eign tax authorities. Deferred taxes on}thé li_abﬂities side
rapresent the potential income-tax burden from tempo-

rary differences between the values assigned to assets
and liabilities'in the consolidated balance sheet in accor-

‘dance with“lAS and their values for tax-accounting pur-

poses in‘accordance with the local tax regulations for con-
solidated companies. '

Deferred income-tax liabilities were formed in connection with the following items:

Change

31.12.2002
: o S ‘ €m in%
- Assets held for dealing purposes.and liabilities from dealing activities - 777 63.4
Fair values of derivative hedging instruments : 885 .
" Investments and sécurities portfolio” 1,276 , -37.7
Claims'on banks and customers’ 259 -12.0
» Liabilities to banks and customers 8 ~
“Sundry balance-sheetitems = - 181 0.6
. Total o ' 3,386 28.2
{65).Other liabilities
- Other liabilities break down as follows:
31.12.2002 Change
o €m in %
‘Deferred interest expenses for subordinated capital 324 -9.0
" Effects of measuring hedged subordinated capital items (IAS 39) 820 - -10.4
Sundry liabilities, including deferred items 2,141 -12.1
Total ' 3,285 -11.4




(66) Subordinated capital

Subordinated'capitai breaks down as follows:

31.12..2002 Change

€m in%

Subordinated liabilities 6,845 -13.0
- of which: tler-Hl capital as defined in Art. 10, (7) KWG 774 -83.9

of which: maturmg within two years ‘ 974 -36.7
Profit-sharing cemflcat_es outstanding 2,392 13
of which: matu.ring-withvin two years 266 96.2
Total 9,237 -9.3

In order to meét the regulatory requirements regarding

such subordmated liabilities, we have shown the effects
of measuring hedged items in accordance thh IAS 38,
and also the deferred interest payments for such trans-
actions, separately under Other liabilities.

Subordmated liabilities are l»able funds as defmed in
Art. 10, (5a), KWG. The claims of creditors to repayment

- of these liabilities are subordinate to those of other credi-

tors.  The issuers cannot be obliged to make premature .
repayment. intheevent of insolvency or winding-up, sub-

ordinated liabilities may only be repaid after the claims of

all senior creditors fiave been met.

At end-2003; the»fo'llowing major subordinated Iiabilifies were outstanding:

Start of maturity €m Currency in'm Issuer Interest rate Maturity date

2000 ‘ 590 530 EUR Commerzbank AG 6.500 - 2010
1999 550 ‘650 EUR Commierzbank AG. 4.750 2009 °

2001 . - 490 490 EUR Comrerzbank AG" 6.125 201

1997 P 284 - 200-GBP Commerzbank AG - . 7.875 2007

1999 . 300 300 EUR Commerzbank-AG . 6:250 2009
-2002° . 275 275EUR Commerzbank AG: 5,500 2008

2001 - . 250 250°EUR Commerzbank-AG 5.100 - 2011
150:GBP 6.625 - 2019

1999 - 213

Commerzbank AG .

I the year under review, the interest paid by the Group for subordinated liabilities totalled €375m {previous year:
) €432m) This includes €138m {previous year €151m) of deferred interest expenses for interest due but not yet paid.

This is shown under Other liabilities.



Profit-sharing certificates outstanding form part of the
Bank's liable equity capital in accordance with the provi-
sions of the German Banking Act (Art. 10, (5}, KWG). They
are directly affected by current losses. Interest payments

At end-2003; thé follqwing major subordinated pfofit=sharing‘certificates were . outstanding:
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are made solely if the issuing institution achieves a dis-
tributable profit. The claims of holders of profit-sharing
certificates to a repaymenit of principal are subordinate to
those of othercreditors, :

Start of maturity - €m Issuer Interestrate Maturity.date
1993 409 Commerzbank AG - 7.250 2005
2000 320 Commerzbank AG 6.375 2010
1991 256 Commerzbank AG 9.500 2003
1992 " 258 Commerzbank AG - 9.150 2004
1994 256 .Commerzbank:AG 2.780 2006

256 7.900 2008

1996

.:Commerzbank AG

- Interest'to be paid on'the profit-sharing certificates outstanding for the 2003 financial year amounts to €175m (previous
year: €191m). Under Other liabilities, €157m (previous-year: €173m) has been shown.

{67} Hybrid capital

As in previous years, the Commerzbank Group raised no hybrid capital in the 2003 financial year.
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(68) Equity structure

31.12:.2002
€m
a) Subscribed capital 1,378
b) Capital reserve 6,131
¢} Retained earnings 3,268
d) Revaluation reserve _ =789
e) Measurement of cash flow hedges ~1,248
f) Reserve from currency translation -y
g) Consolidated profit . 54.
Equity 8,808

a) Subscribed capital

The subscribed capital (share capitél) of Commerzbank Aktiengeselischaftis divided into no-par-vaiue shares,‘eéch with
a notional value of €2.60. The shares are issued in the form of bearer shares,

Number of shares outsta'nding on 1.1.2003

plus: treasury sharés on'31.12. ofthe prevuous year .
Capital increase :

Issue of shares to.employees

Numberof shares issued.on 31.12,2003

less: treasury shares on balance-sheet date

Number of shares outstanding on 31.12.2003

‘Before treasury shares are deducted, the subscribed capi- No preferential rights exist or restrictions on the ‘pay-
1al stands at €1,554m. : ment of dividends at Commerzbank-AG. All the :ssued )
; o shares have been fully paid.in.

The value of issued, outstanding:and authorized shares is as follows:

31.12.2002

€m 1,000 units

Shares issued 1,410 542,207

- Treasury shares : 32 12,263
= Shares outstanding (subscribed capital) 1,378 . 529,944
+ Shares not yet issued from authorized capital - 493 189,705
-Total 1,871 719,649
The number of authorized shares is 731,912 thousand As of December 31, 2003, 6,574 thousand shares (pre-

units (previous year: 731,912 thousand units}. Theamount  vious yéar: 7,891 thousand shares} had been pledged with
represented by authorized shares is €1,903m (previous  the Group as security. This represents 1.1% {previous year:
year: €1,903m). ‘ 1.5%) of the shares outstanding on the balance-sheet date.



b} Capital'reserve

ln the capital reserve, premiums from the-issue of shares
are shown. In addition, the capital reserve contains
amounts which were: realized for conversian and option
rights entitling holders to purchase shares when bonds
and notes were issued. A
‘The Groups capttal reserve- is the armount shown
for Commeérzbank AG, less the treasury shares held. The
values represented by stibsidiaries in the capital reserve
‘are eliminated as part of the consolidation of capital
accounts or appear as minority interests. The net loss for
_the year of €2,320m shown as of December 3%; 2003, was
'offset agarnstthe capital reserve.

Transactlon costs of-€18.2m were lncurred in connec-

thn with the capital increase. These were recognlzed asa’

deduction item upon tranSfer to the capital reserve.
¢) Retained earnings

Retained earnings consist of the legal reserve and other
reserves. The Iega| reserve containsthose reserveswhich
have to'be formied i in accordance With national law; in the
-mdnvndual fmancral statements, the amounts assigned- to
‘.thls reserve may not be distributed. The overaH amount of
retained: earnmgs shown in the balance sheet consists of
€3m of legal reserves (prewous year: €3m) and €3,283m
- (previous year: €3, 265m) of other revenue reserves.

NOTES

d) Revaluation reserve

The results of measuring the investments and securities
portfolio ~ consisting of interest-bearing and dividend-
based instruments - at fair value, with deferred taxes
taken into consideration, .are assigned to the revaluation
reserve.‘ Gains or losses appear in the income statement
only.when the asset has been disposed of or written off.

) Measurement of cash flow hedges

The result of measuring. effective hedges used in cash
flow hedges appears, after deferred taxes have been
taken inta consideration, under this equity item..

f} Reserve from currency translation

The reserve from currency transiation relates to trans-
lation gains and losses arising through the consolidation
of capital accounts. Here exchange-rate differences are
included that arise through the consolidation of sub-
sidiaries and associated companies.
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(69) Conditional capital

Conditional capital is intended to be.used forthe isé_ue of convertible bonds or bonds with warrants and also of profit-

sharing certificates with conversion or option rights.

Changes in the Bank's conditional ‘capit:al:

- Daté'of

Conditional Additions of which:
resolution k capitai ~ used avai-
: 1.1.2003 conditional  lable
€m capital lines
Convertible bonds/bonds with warrants/ o i : :
profit:sharing rights. 21,5.19899 200 - - 200.. -
Convertible bonds/bonds with warrants/ ol . ] . :
-profit-sharing rlghts 30.5.2003 - 403 .- 403
Total - L ' 200 - 403 - 603

As resolved by the AGM of May 21, 1999, the Bank's share .

caprtal has been condmonally increased by up to
€200, 070 000 Such conditional capital increase will only
be effected to the extentthatthe holders of the convertrble
bonds, bonds wrth warrants or profit-sharing certrfrcates

‘carrymg conversron or optron rights to be issued by April
- 30, 2004, by, either Commerzbank Aktuengesellschaft or
_companies in which the Bank drrectly :or.lndrrgctly holds

. |ssued by Apn:l 30 »2‘Q(_)_4 by either Cornmerz_bank Algtren- .

a majority interest exercise their ‘conversion. or. dptioh
rights, or the holders of the convert:ble bonds or profrt-
sharing cemfrcates carrymg “conversion rights to be
companies

ggsellschaﬁ;{' or’ in which ..Co m'm:e“rzb:_érik

Ak’(iérn'g'ése’llsc‘;haft directly or indirectly holds a ’méjdrity :

intérest meet the: obhgatron to exercise their conversuon
rights.

As resolved by the AGM of May 30, 2003, the Bank’s
.sh_are capital has been conditionally increased by up to
€403,000,000. Such c_:pnditional capital increase wili only

- be effected to the extent that the holders or creditors of

the convertrble bonds bonds with' warrants or prafit-
sharing rights - carrymg conversron or ‘option rights - to
be issued by May 30, 2008, by" erth_er Commerzbank
Aktiengesellschaft or companies in which Commerzbank
Aktiengesellschaft directly or indirecily holds ‘a‘majority
interest (group companies as defined in Art. 18, (1), AktG)
exercise their conversion or option rights, or the-holders
or creditors of the convertible bonds or convertible profit-
shariﬁg rights to be issued by May 30, 2008 by «e,.it'h,ér
Commerzbank Aktiengesellsch'aft or companies in which
Commerzbank Aktiengesellschaft dtrectly or mdrrectly
holds'a majorlty interest (group compames as defined in
Art. 18, (1), AktG) meet their obligation to exercise their
conversion rights.



(70} Authorized capital

Used in 2003

Date Original Usedin previous years Remaining Authorization
of AGM amount for capital increases for capital increases” amount expires
resclution €m €m €m €m ’
21.05.1999 178 - L - 175 30.04.2004
21.05.199% 175, S 25 - - ' , 150 30.04.2004
21.05.1999 86 ‘ Sz 74 , . - 30.04.2004
31052002 -~ - 30 - 6 .24 30.04.2007
31.05.2002 65 - 65 - - 30.04.2007
Total 531 . 37 145

The‘BQard of Managing Directors is authorized to- in-
crease, with the_approval of the Supervisory Board, the
share capital -of _ihe Company by April 30, 2004 through
the issue of no-,pa‘r-valuéshares against cash contribu-
tions, in either one or several tranches, by a maximum
amount of -€175,000,0QO. The Board of M;ina'ging Direc-
tors may, with the approval of the Supervisory Board,
e'xc|udve' sha_reho_lders’ -subscription rights to the extent
necessary to offer to the holders of conversion or optibn

rights, either already issued or still to :be jssued. by -
Commeribank Aktiengesellschaft or its subsidiaties, sub-" -

scripfion righis to the extent to which they would be en-
titled- as - shareholders after they . have exercised _their
conversion or optio'n rights. In addition, -any fractional
amounts. of shares may be excluded from. shareholders’
subscrrptron rights:
The. . Board of Managlng Dlrectors is authorized to:
', 'ihcrease wrth the approval of the Superv«sory Board, the
. share caputal of the’ Company by April 30, 2004 through
thei |ssue of no: par—value shares agarnst cash or contrlbu-
tions in’ kmd in either:one or several. tranch,es, by a maxi-

mum amount of €149,563,570.80. On princible‘, share- .

holders are to be offered subscription rights; however, the

349 -

) Bd‘qud of Managing Directors:ma'y, with the approval of

the Supervisory Board, exclude shareholders” subscrip-
tion rights to the extent necéssaryio offer to the holders of
conversion or option rights, either already issued or still
to be issued by Comrherzbahk Aktiengesellschaft or its
subsidiarieé, subscription .rights to the extent to which .

- they would be entitled as shareholders after-they have .

exercised their conversuon or Optlon rights.:In addition,
any fract;onal amounts of shares-may -be excluded from
shareholders subscription rights. Furthermore, the Board

of Managing Directors may, with the approval- of the
“Supervisory Board, exclude svhareholders' subscription

rights insofar as the capital increase is made against con-

“ tributions in kind for the purpose of acqulrmg companies
- or holdmgs in compames

The Board of Managmg Drrectors is authorized to in-
crease, with the approval of the Supeénvisory Board the
share capntal of the Bank: by Apnl 30, 2007 through- the

" issue of new no- par-value shares agamst cash, 'in either
‘one or'several tranches, by a maxnmum amount of al-
] together €23, 976 099, thereby excludmg the subscrlptron

rights of shareholders for the purpose of issuing these

"shares to the Bank's staff
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(71) The Bank’s foreign-currency position

On December 31, 2003, the Commerzbank Groub had the following foreign-currency assets and liabifities (excluding fair

values of derivatives):

31.12.2003 31.12.2002 Change
€m €m in %
usb JPY GBP Others Totai '
Cash resefve. 12 559 6 451 1,212 ~15.2
Claims on banks 9,570 6,861 3,543 4,138 21,535 12.0
Claims on customers 23,914 - 4,782 2,800 3,983. 43,098 - -17.7
Assets held for U -
dealing purposes 4,608 - 1,046 1,952 1,423 9,463 -=0.4
Investmenits and - o S
securities portfolio 5,636 1,005 389 848 10,129 ~23.2
Other balance-sheet items 4,547 © 70 135 1,467 7,904 -21.3 .
Foreign-currency assets 48,187 14,723 8,825 12,310 . 93,381 -10.0
Liabilities to banks 18,746 . 4,785 9,076 6,027 .46,927 =-17.7
Liabilities to.customers 12,345 1822 2,333 4,584 21,079 -4.7
v Securitized liabilities 7,418 88 925 3,937 20,086 -38.4
Liabilities from »
dealing activities 2,182 300 4 512 3,224 -7.0:
‘Other balance-shest items 2,932 293 1,142 920 8,793 -39.9
‘Foreign-currency liabilities 43,624 13,480 100,109 ~20.7

6,288

15,980

- Due tovex'change-_rate movementsin thev2003:finaﬁcial year, the consolidated balance-sheet total contracted by roughty
- €12bn (previous year: ~€15bn). Total lending declined by €7bn (previous year: ~€7bn). :



Notes to financial instruments
{72) Derivative'transactions

The followmg tables present the respectlve nominal

amounts and fair values of- OTC derlvatlves and denva-.'

tives traded ons stock exchange
An order to: mmlmlze (reduce) both the economlc and
‘ the regulatory credlt risk arlsmg from these mstruments,
our Legal Servrces department concludes master egree-
ments (bllateral nettmg agreements) wrth our business
assocnates (such as 1992, {SDA Master Agreement Multi-
currency‘Cross Border, _German Master Agreement for

Fmanclal. Futures) By means of such brla eral -netting-
agreements the posmve and negatlve falr values of the'

;_denvattves contracts mcluded under a master agreement

- can be. offset agamst one another and the future regula-

_ tory risk .add- ons for these products can be reduced
Through this Retting process, the credrt risk-i |s limited to
a smgle net clalm on'the party to the contract {close-out
nettlngl : T

For both regulatory reports and the |nternal measure-
ment and monltorlng -ofour credit commutments we use
such. r|sk reducrng techmques onty if we consrder them
enforceable under the respective legal system should the
: 'busmess assocnate become msolvent ln order to check
venforceablllty, ‘we avail- oursélves of legal oplnlons from

. various: ln_ternatro_nal law firms.

. Breakdown, by reference assets L

NOTES

Similar to the master agreements are the collateral

agreements (e.g. collateralization annex for financial

futures contracts, Credit Support Annex), which we con-

clude with our business assaciates to secure‘the net claim

orliability remammg after netting {receiving orfurmshmg '

of security). As arule, thrs collateral management reduces
credct risk-by means of prompt (mostly daily or weekly)

measurement angd adjustment of the exposure to “cus- .

‘tomers.

On average, we achleve a credit-risk mmgatron 0f:82%
of the exposure for theé denvatlves contracts and security
which are covered by the process.of risk- reducmg tech-
niques. :

In the credit derlvatrves area, we reg|stered a 23.3%
higher volume than a year earlier. We employ these prod-

ucts, which serve to transfer credit risk, both:in trading for °

arbitrage purposes and in investing for diversifying our

loan portfollos The followmg table |IIustrates our: risk -

structure in terms of the various r|sk assets that have been

‘hedged.

31.12.2002
Nominalamounts .

; fProt'eotion ‘Protection

€m . ) , . bought sold

. OECD.central governments. 1,932 2,109
 OECDbanks 3,918 - 2,887
‘ OECDHinancialinstitutions N 4,682 5,143’
Othér companies, privateindividuals 32,545 29,518
. Non-OECD banks, - 321 162 -
“Total 43,398 . 39,799
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31.12.2003 . Nominal amount Fair value
Remaining lifetimes
under. 1-6 more Total positive negative
‘ 1yéar years than

€m ] . : 5 years

Foreign- currency based forward transactions . T

OTC products, . o : 325,473° 106449 55,896 487,818 11,228 12,598
Spot and forward currency transactlons 205,883 13,857 634 220,374 5,237 6,484
Interest rate and currency swaps ' 57 304 .. 81,434 ' 52,882 - 191,620 4,962 5,059
Currency cail'options 32,840 0. ' 5917 1,189 39,916 1,029 -
Curréncy put options 29, 446 5,241 1,221 _ 35,908 - 1,055
Otherforéigniexchange.costracts = - - - - -

Products traded ona stock exchange '81§ y 226 - 1,042, - -
Cutrency futlres ‘ 815 226 - 1,041 - -

- “Currency dptions - 1 . - TS I -

Total 326,289 .- 106,675 55,896 438,860 ~ 11,228 12,598

interest-based: futures transactyons be N : . .

OTC products - 1,017,271 1,000,787 791,75 2,809,817 46,456 47,539
-Forward:-rate agreements 209,036 3,322 - 212,358 100 81
Intérest-rate swaps - 767,819. 843,414 685480 2,296,713 43,013 44,248
-Call.options oh int’érest rate futures 21,652 49,010 44,901 116,563 . 2,399 .-
_ Put optlons on mterest rate futures 14,169 - . 56,107 49,255 119,531 . - -2,682
Othér.interest-rate'contracts. - 4595 " 48,934 12,123 - 65652 . - 044 528

‘Products-traded'on‘a stack exchange - 168,501 6,026 8,580 183,107~ - Co-
interest-rate futures 66,157 - 3,347 3892 73,396 - -

' lnterestérété‘optionS' : .1102,344 - 2,679 4,688 109,711 - -

Total B 1",11_,8'5,*7»72_ 1,006,813 800,339 2,992,924 - 46,456 47,539

. 'Othefforward transactlons : ‘ .
OTCproducts 27, 110 115,056~ 11,644 153,810 4,328 4,420
. - Structured equntyﬁndex products ,'71 480 ' 4850 11,110 7,4401 . 837 738
' Equity call options ' 6805 . 9,617 675 17,097 1,480 -
Equity-putoptions L7212 10576 753 18,541° - 1,688
Credit derivativés - 6,986, . ~'86,837 8,803 102,626 1,474 1,484
Precious metal contracts 4,627 - 3,76 303 . 8 106 637 510
Other-transactions - L - - - ~ -

Products traded on a stock exchange 25,327 5,115 86 30,528 - -
'Equntyfutures ' - 4492 10 - 4,502 - -
"Equity‘options 20,835 5,105 86 26,026 - -

" Other futures - - - - - -
Other options . - - - - - -

Total . 52,437 120,171 11,730 184,338 4,328 4,420

Total rmmatured forward transactions : ‘

oTC products 1,369,854 1,222,292 859,299 3,451,445 62,012 64,557

Products-traded on a stock exchange 194,644 11,367 8,666 214,677 - -

Total 1,564,498 1,233,659 867,965 3,666,122 62,012 64,557




As of December 31, 2002, the figures were as follows:

31.12.2002 - . . : . Nominal amount Fair value
' . Remaining lifetimes.
~under 15 more’ Total positive .negative
‘ A y_éar years ' . than :
€m S R L SR Byears . .
- Foreign- currency~basedfarward transactions. [ ) BN S .
oTC products. - - .. Do 399,133 . 96,466 38,591 534,180 10,633 12,296
* spotand forward currencytransactlons 284,190 . 19,522 4,366: 305 078 6,568 8,141
-;!nterest-rate andcurrencyswaps : . T.49,270 :‘»70,330 - 36,787 . 156,887 3,489 3,417
© Currency:call optiéns™ - . 335773417 219 37,213 881 -
Currency.put options : 132,096, 2687 219 0 3,002 - = 738 . .
‘Otheriforeign-exchange. contracts DR S TN - e - -
'Products tradéd on a stock exchange S 291 - 72 - 363 A -
Currency futures =~ i C o289 ¢ 72 . 361 Co- -
... ‘Currency options " - » : SR L - 2 - -
_Total s e 399,424 7. 96,528 . 38591 ° 534,543 10,633 12,296
*Interest-based futures transactions B » o ' o
-0TC products R N 1,334,628 ‘939 , 743 762,201 ‘3,036,578 61,276 63,158
Y»Forward rate agreements _ 341,578 2306 : = . 343,8_84 361 - 454
Interest-rate swaps- .. 951,349, 773,229 632,982 2,357,560 56,863 . 57,680
. “Call options on interest-rate futures: 13796 6,978 - 54,341 125115 3372 ¢ -
“Putoptiofison intérest-rate futures, . . 14944 66,682 62,237 . 143863 - . 3,641
Other interest-rate contracts B 12_’,9,51 - 4(_),5541 12,641 ’66;156 680 1,383
Products traded ona stock exchange - o -1563;362 - 16:009 6,064 - - 175,435 - -
)nterest rate futures : ‘68,'9538 ) '_8,4,63 . .2,521 . 79,900 v e
lnterest rateoptions - : 84,446 . - 7,546 . 3543 96535 ... - - L
Total - SR o - 1,487,990 ‘95_5‘,153 768,265 3,21'2;01_3 61,276 63,158
Other forward transactions . = U S - o
OTCproducts -~ - ' . 27,411, 53,409 58,440 139 260 7,339 5,349
- -Struétured equnty/mdex products 2,405 4409 - 470 7,288 2,472 418
A‘Equxtycall [ ’ 7,892 . 12, 166 187 7 20,255 - 3,648 . - -
"Equity put _ 7,037 11932 . 260" 49,229 - 3,735,
- Credit derivatives o 0782 24902 57513 83,197 1,185 1,137
: Preclpusmetal_contra_cts_ S 9,295 L= =T 9295 34 59
) ‘Other"iransactioné ] : : L= -~ = - o= =
Productstraded onastock exchange C 23,‘0?}6 © 4,204 . - 127,240 - -
~ Equity futures - ‘ ‘ 4,666 20 = 4,668 - -
“Equityoptions o 18,370 - 4,202 T- - 22572 - -
Other futures .. C - - - ) - - -
. 'Other options S ‘ - - - - - -
Total ) ’ : - 50,447 57,613 58,440 166,500 7,339 5,349
Total immatured forward transactions Co ‘ i
OTC products : ’ 1,761,172 1,089,614 859,232 3,710,018 79,248 80,803
.Products traded on a stock exchange 176,689 20,285 6,064 203,038 - -

Total . 1,937,861 1,109,899 865,296 3,913,056 79,248 80,803
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Breakdown of derivatives business, by borrower group:

31.12.2002

" Fair value
€m L -positive negative
OECDcentraIgo_vernments -, 7308 150.
OECD banks , 73,407 74,363
OECD financial msmutlons 2197 2,560
Other companiés, private:individuals 52,790 3,135
Nor-OECD banks 546 595
Total : 79.24.8‘ 80,803

Falr values appear as the sum totals ofthe posmve and negatlve amounts per contract from Wthh no pledged secunty
has been deducted and’ ‘no-possible netting agreements have’ been taken into consideration. By definition; no positive

falr values exist for put optlons

(73) Market risk arising from trading activities

For the daily_quantifiea;ion and:monitoring of market risk,

'espe_cially_-that:arising’in,pro_pri'etary trading, mathemati-

_risk. The'unde'rlying 'stAati"s"ti‘cal parameters are based on.

. day- holdmg perlod and: a confidence level of.99%. The .-

cal-statistical methods-are‘used to calculate the value-at-

an observatlon pernod of the past 255 trading.days, a 10-

-value-at-risk models are constantly belng adapted to the

_ Portfolio *

changing envnronment

Risk position of the trading portfolio (Principle I risks):

On.the basis of thie risk ratnos,'the Group'manages
the market risk for all- operatlve unlts by .a system of risk
limits, pnmanly by means.of limits for the. potentnal risk

: '(value at:risk)-and stress scenarlos ‘as’ well as loss-review

triggers. - .
The- rlsk posmon of the Groups tradrng portfolio at

‘year-end .shows the value at- nsk broken down by the
~ various business Ilnes engaged in proprietary trading.

The value- at-nsk shows the potentlal losses which.will not
be exceeded with a 99% deg ree of probablhty

Holding period

- 31.12.2002
€m Confidence level 99% e
Group * By 10 days . 49.3%
Securities department 10 days 50.8
Treasury department 10 days

29.1

* The relatively low value-at-risk at ‘Group level is the result of strong portfolio effects bétweenvt_he Securities and Treasury departments.



{74) Interest-rate risk

The interest- rate risk of the Commerzbank'Group results
from the |tems in'both the trading-book and the bankmg
‘book. In the latter, interest-rate risk'mainly.arises through
maturity m___l_smgtches.b,etween the Bank’s mterest-bearmg
assets and-liabfiitieé— for instanqé,_throughith’e'sh ort'-term
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<

funding of long-dated loans. The interest-rate: items

“shown in ‘the balance sheet and also the derivatives

employed to steer them are drawn upon in the measure-
ment of interest-rate risk.

’_The mterest-rate nsk of the banking book is measured on the basns of a net present value approach applymg the his-

~ torical smulataon method:

31.12\.2003 s Holdingperiod. “. © Bankingbook Trading book -Overail
. Portfolio . L T . S _ interest-rate risk - .
€ S . Confidence level: 99% T S
Group . . 21 " 10days. 19872 . 6196 - - - 21377
31.12.2002 - . ‘Holding period ~ Banking book - Trading book Overall -
- Portfolio - - - S - : ’ intérest-rate risk
€em’ I Confidence level: 99% .
zGroup' R - ‘iOdays_s 103.4¢ - 46.01 _ 142.04

'. The value- at-nsk flgures show the potentlal losses in-€.m, whlch -at the: glven holdmg penod of 10 days will:not. be

L ‘exceeded with a probablllty of 99% :



NOTES

(75) Concentration of credit visk

Concentrations ofﬁéfedit'risks may arise through:_busi.ness
relations with individual borrowers or groups of borrow-
ers who. shar‘e a n'umbef of features and whose indivvidu"al
ability to servnce debtis: mfluenced to the same extent by
'changes in ‘certain .overall-economic condmons These

risks are managed by.the Credit Risk Management depart-’
ment. Credit: risk- throughout the Group is menitoréd’ by
the use .of llmlts for-each individual borrower an_d bor-
~ rower umt, thffoth ,the furnishing of the apb'ro_vpriat‘é"

' security and through the application of a uniform lending

policy: In order to minimize credit risk, the Bank has

"‘entered into a number of master netting agreements en-

suring the right to set off the claims on:and liabilities to a

" client in the case of default by the latter or insolvency. In

addition, the' managemaent regutarly monitors individual:

‘portfolios; The Group's Iending does not reveal any spe-

cial dependence on individual sectors. -

In terms of book values the credlt risks relatmg to balance sheet flnanclal instruments were.as’ follows on December

31, 2003: ’
Claims
. €m . 317 31:12.2002
Customers.in Germany ) 95,843
Cbmpanies_a'nd-‘s'elf-emplbyed 46,269
Manufacturing . 12,612
Construction 871
Diétributiv'é trades . 5,824
Servnces, lncl professnons and others -26,962
Pubhc sector . 15,658
Other.retail customers 33,916
Customers:abroad - -~ 52,671
Corporate and retail customers 49,155. -
Public sector ' 3,516 .
Sub-total - o s 148,514
‘less valuauon allowances -5,293 -
143,221

. Total’
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(76) Assets p_ledged_,aé security

Assets in the amournits shown below were pledged as security for the follbwing liabilities and liabilities from dealing
activities: ) .

31.12.2002 Change

L €m. in%
Liabitities to banks 45,993 . =233
.Liabilities to'customers”™ - , 10,436, L
Liabilities from dealing-activities L0 co e
" Total - ko : - 56,429 - =158
Tha following assets were pledged as security for the above-mentioned liabilities:
31.12.2002 Change
} €m in%
| Claims on banks. - .. 582 .
- Claims on customers - . 11,346 . - 2
~Assets held for-dealing;purpases and , .
investments and:securities portfolio 45,904 - =72
Total ' il ’

57,832 B -=3.6

- The furniShing-of sec}ub‘rityAin order to borrow funds took tHe form of g_én,xjine's'ecurities repUrcﬁase agreements {repos).
-‘Atthe same time, security was furnishedfor funds borrowed for fixed specific purposes and-securities-lending trans-.
actions. S : - o :
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(77) Mataurities, by remaining lifetime

Remaining lifetimes as of 31.12.2003

. dueondemandand: - ~upto -. :3:months - Tyear more than
T €m o .0 unlimitedintime  3months - to7lyear . - toByears 5 years
Claimsonbanks = = . .. " . 16,973 o20:946- - . 6:956 3,298 - 3,484
Claims-on customers’ .. - "° 18,015 - . . 24,731 .. 15,402, . . 31,631 . 48,659
Bonds and notes fromthe - e Lo o A _ :
assets held fordealing purposes.. -~ .. 285 - 1,886 ... . 3,336 ... . 8,132 . 5,480
‘Bonds, notés and other fixed-income o LT ' ' :
securities and.alsoclaims not
originated by the Bank heidln o ) . )
investments and: securmes portfoho 306 3,767 B 342 - 28,523 41,291
Total - R 35549 51,380 . 31,086 . 71,584 98,914
,Lnabllxtiestobanks;: U C 17,487 - T 47885 13031 -0 - 5,414 ;11,818
Liabilities to customers .~ - 34,294 52,740 .. 3,240 3,040 6,686
Securitized liabilities. S £ 18,025 . 13,194 .- 34,555 18,140
Subordinated capltal ’ Y Y 478 .. 2,702 4910
Total S : . ‘ 51,813,  ..118,8017 29,943 45711 . 41,254

R - "Remaining lifetimés-as of 31.12:2002 _
due ondémandand . - ipto . . ‘3months - Tyear  more than

€m . . - unlimitedintime’ -3 months . " to-1year. - :“to5years 5.years
Claims-on banks: - - ‘ ) 13,796 ...26,136 - . - 5870 - 4,433 . 4,308
Claims on customers : g 17,110 34,124 . 14,243 32,638 - 50,399
‘Bonds and note$from the _ : Lo S g R
assets held for dealing purposes b T © 2,408 - 7,928 15,094 . 10,513 -
-Bonds, notes.and otherflxed -income e : : : : K : T
securities ‘and aliso,

' ongmatedbyt énkheld in : . L R SR .
investments’ ahd séclirities: portfollo : . 388 3,411 © 7,802 30,027 33,151
Total S _ 31,299 66,079 . .. 34,843 - -~ 82192 - 98,371
Liabilities to banks " % - o 718,108 © 7687927 40,703 - . 4846 - 9,535
‘Liapilitiesto customers -~ . 33,108 47,888 - 4549 - 3,545 6,610
Securitized liabilites .. - . 23 20,996 . . . 18,094 - 34,683 18,936
Subordinated capital .- ’ - 133 801 2,503 . 5,610
Total oo T 46,280 - 145 809. ' 34,247 45,667 40,691 -

The remaining Iif'eti'm'e is daned'as the period betWeen the balance éhee’t daie ahdthe édntractual maturity ofthe claim
or hablhty Ih thé case of clalms ar liabilities. whlch are paid in partlal amounts the remalmng lufetlme has been recog-
nized for each partial amount :



(78} Fair value offinan‘(:ial‘-;mstruments :

The table. below compares the fair values of the balance-
sheet iterns with thenr book values. Fair value is-the
amount atwhlch financial. |nstruments may be sold.or pur-
. chased at- falr terms onthe balance-sheet date. Insofar as
.market pnces (e 9. for securmes) ‘were available, we have
used- these for measurement purposes For alarge.num-
ber ‘of flnancral mstruments, internal- measurmg models

NOTES

involving current market parameters. were used ‘in the

163 -

absence of market prices. In-particular, the net. present-.

value” method and option price models” were ‘applied
Wherever clalms onand liabilities to banks and customers
had a remalnlng lifetime of less:ithan a year, the fairvalue
was. consrdered for srmplrcrty s sake to be that shown in
the balance sheet. C

leference

. fair value, W

. Llabllmesfrom B
: dealing activities

vSubordrnatedscapltal

83.2

832 -

9.2

~In net terms;

,he dnfference between the book vaIue and
h can be seen as &’ hrdden ‘reserve,

amounted fo all |tems to &1.6bn’ (prevrous year: €1.5bn)
as of December 31, 2003 ‘For- covermg these |tems cash
-flow hedges are used for the most part As of December

Fair value _ " Bookwvalue. _
€bn ] 31.12.2002 12003, 731.12:2002 31 12. zooz
Assets .. L '

Cash reserve - 8.5 85 «_,5__._-”;-__.._':
Claims onbanks 54.3 543 =
Claims on customers .’ 150.6 1485 2.1
Hedging instruments 3.1 31 _
Assetsheldfor .. _ o v
dealing purposes 117.2 JM117.2 -
Investments and . :

) securitigs, portfollo 84.6 84.6 ) -
Liabilities. - : L s )
Liabilities to banks 115.1 115.0 T oA
Liabilities'to customers 95.9 "95.7 L 0.2
Securitized liabjlities .. 93.0 92.7 I X
‘Hedging instruments . 57 : -

. 31 2003 the measurement of cash flow hedges yrelded a
jfrgure of -€1 an (prevrous year -€1 2bn). As ‘of both
December 31, 2003 “and December 31, 2002 the ‘hidden.

reserves in. mterest-beanng assets and I|abr|mes ex-

ceeded the negatlve valuatlon of the cash flow hedges
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Other notes

{79) Subordinated assets -

The follovtring subordinated assets are included in the assets shown in the balance sheet:

31.12.2002

Change

. €m S in%

.Claims on:.customers 89.. <11

Bonds and notes 53 52.8

- Other variable- yleld securrtles 388 =11.1

- Total. 530 -3.0
© 358

-10.9-

: irncludmg banks in whnch an‘equity mvestment exnsts

Assets aré consudered tobe subordrnated if the clalms they represent may not be met before those of other creditors’in

the case of the Irquudatron ar rnsolvency ofthe i 1ssuer

(80) Off-balanicé-sheet commitments

Change

. 31.12:2002
. -€m in %
Contmgent Itablhtles : 29,057 <9.1.
“from redrscounted bills, of exchange credited to borrowers : . 4 -25.0 -
“from guarantees and: rndemmty agreements : 29,053 =91
Credrtguarantees - 3,144 15.8°
‘ Other guarantees: . 15,206 =5.4
Letters of credit S 8,052 ~25.9..
Other items . 2,651 -9.2
- Irrevocable leniding commitments - 45,979
Book creditsto banks” " 2,523 2235 .
Book credrts té customers 41,420 -18:4
Credits by. way of guarantee 673
_Letters of-credit 1,363 ~25.6

-148 ..

727

‘Other commitrents

3.7

Provision for risks arising from off-balance-sheet commitments has baen deducted from the respective items.

27 .



(81) Volume of managed fu_n’ds

By type of managed fund, the assets which we manaée break down asfollows:

NOTES 155

31.12.2002
Number Fund assets
) . . of funds €bn
Retailinvestment-fuf\ds ) ] 361 42.3
Equity-based and'mixed funds 243 195
. Bond:based funds 97 . 108
Money-market funds 21 -12.0
Non-publicly-offered:funds 1,356 . - 29.1
Propeity-based funds 3 - 0.6
Total o 1,720 82.0
31.12.2002
Number Fund assets
. of funds : €bn
Germany 499 ... - 46.5
" United Kingdom , 989 126
“ Other European countries . 172 .. ... 19.0
‘America o 20 : 2.4
Other countries 40 1.8

Total -

1,720 82:0
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(82) Genuine repurchase agreements

Under its genuine repurchase agreements, the Commerz-
bank Group sells or purchases securities with the obliga-

_tion to repurchase or return'them. The money equivalent

deriving from. repurchase agreements. in which the

Comimerzbank Group is a borrower (commitment to take
the securmes back) is shown in-the balance sheet as alia-
blhty to:banks or customers

The genu'me‘-repurchase'egreements concluded up.to the balaice-sheet.date break d_o‘vyn’as follows:

131.12.2002

36.0 -

Change
v €m in %
Genuine repurchase agreements asa borrower
{repo agreements)
L|ab1||t|es;_t‘o‘ ban_ks B . 27,913 =315
Liabilitiés to customers’ 9,746 ‘
Total e ) 37,659 -14.1 |
Genuine repurchase agreements as'a lender '
{reverse repo agre'e’me_nts)
Claims on banks 21,076 -0.9
Claims on customers 8,992 -13.9
Total 30,068

(83) Securities-lending transections :

Securmes Iendlng transactnons are conducted with other

. banks and customers in order to cover our neéed. to meet
: 'delrvery commitments or to enable us to effect securmes

repurchase agreements in. the money market We show

* - leént securitiesin our balance sheet un_der ourtradl_ng_port-
“folio_or under the: investments-and. secufities portfolio,

statement and reflu”

whe'ree‘sborrowe'd's‘ecurities do not appear in the balarice -
sheet The expenses and income. from securities- Iendnng
transactrons msofa_i as they relate to the past flnancual
year, appear under. mterest pa«d or recerved inthe income
"t the respectlve matuntnes

- 31.12.2002

‘Change -

5 €m in% -
- Lent securities 9,646 -7.6.
Borrowed securities - 11,953 =28.3

48



NOTES 157 9

(84) Trust transactions af third-party risk

Trust transactions which do not have to be shown in the balance sheet amounted to the following on the balance-sheet
date: s S SR

31.12.2002 Change

. L em in%
Claims on banks 27 © =852
‘Claims on customers - 168 ¢ . -56.5
Other assets 466 - - 247
Assets on a trust basis at third:party risk 661 0.5
" Liabilities to banks e 56 74
Liabilities to customers . g05 . . 0.2
Liabilities ona trust basis at-third-party risk - 661 . 0.5
(85) Ri'sk#weightéd ass_é,ts' ‘a__'nd capital ratios as defined-by the Basel capital'accord {BIS)
Like other Internatlonally actlve banks, the Commerzbank -Own funds aré de‘finedés liable capital thatismadeup - - '

" Group has committed. |tse|f to meeting the demands on - of core and supb‘lementary -capital, plus Tier Ill capital.
capital adequacy contamed in‘the Basel accord. This im-  Core capltal malnly conmsts of subscnbed capital plus
poses on banks a mlmmum reqmrement of 8% of own : resérves.and mlnonty mterests less goodwﬂl Supple- :

«funds to risk- we|ghted assets {owh funds ratio). A mum- ‘mentary- capntal compnses outstandmg profit-sharing
mum requirement of 4% applles umversally for the ratio certlflcates and’ subordmated Iong term Inabnlmes Ter I
.between core capital and risk-weightéd assets (core capi- capltal consnsts of short term subordmated ||ab|I|t|es

. tal ratio). ‘ : :

The structure of the Commerzbank Groups capltal in. accordance wnh the Basel capntal accord ylelds the followmg
plctUre :

31122002 .- . Change -

v Em - n%:
Corecap:tal 11,691 - . =123
of which: hybrid capltal: Lo e L
Supplementary capital ' 7,762, 14
Liable.capital ‘ 19,453 <6.8
Tier Ill capitat - 209 -40.2

Eligible own funds 19,662 - -2
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as of 31.12,2003 - : Capital chargesin %

€em 100 50 25 20 10

Balance-sheet business - 91,455 5,709 - 11,0200 - <

Traditional off-balance-sheet. .. - - . .

business’ B T, 4,748 14,946 11 571 344
" Derivatives businessin Lo o ' ,

investment portfolio ' L - 2,578. - 4400 -

_Risk-weighted assets, total .~~~ 96,203 23,233 11 159891 . 344

‘Risk-weighted m_a_rkét‘,risk»p'cssition

multiplied by 12.5 - - - .

Total items to be risk-weighted . =

Eligible own funds.
) Core capltal ratio (excludmg market-nsk posmon)
_iCore ,capntavl ratio- (mcludmg market:risk: posmon)
~'Own funds ratio (including market-risk:position)

as of 31.12:2002 - . S e Capital-chargesin %

SE€m . - D 50 - 25 0207 - 10 -
- ‘Balance-sheet busmess To.oo- .7 /105733 6,285 - 10562. 1" -
- Traditional off-balance-sheet. - S _ e
?..busmess : A : 5,369 - 17,061 14 .. 781 - 325
;Denyatjyesbusinessin _ ) oo o s )
“investment portfolio RS - 3.699 - 6681 .. - -

:Bi'ék-Wéighfgd_asset's,total_: T 111102 27,025 14 18,024 .- 325

b:_Rask welghted market I'ISk posmon
“multiplied by. 125 .
:Total iterns'to be rnsk7weigh'ted.:‘:

" Eligible own.funds , ,
Core: capntal ratio (excluding market nsk posmon)
- Core capital ratio (|nclud|ng market-risk posmon)
van funds ratio (mcludmg market nsk posmon)
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Reconciliation of reported capital with eligible equity in accordance with BIS

31.12.2003
€m

Core capital/
equity

Minority
interests

Supplementary/ Tier 1l
. i
subordinated capital capital

Reported in balance sheet .

Reclassifications. -
Minority- mterests"
el capital

9,091

932

-1,023

1,213 8,381 -

-125- 125

Deduction of.gqodwill,
if relevant for Basel

consohdatron -187

Changesi |n consolrdated
companies

. 374
Parts of subordinated caprtal )
not. elrgrble dueto hmrted

remaining lifetime

~1,010

Revaluation reserve
and measurement of
cash flow hedges

Latent:revaluation
reserves:for securities

-190

477

General:provisions/
reserves for defaults -

300

Other differences 51

-156

Eligible equity 10,257

.0 7,868 125

" axcluding netprofit

g '.(8'6)Liqdidttv-rati:q‘:_of éomme‘ribank AG tr?rrncipre m

-Pursuant to Art 11, KWG banksare oblrged to |nvest therr
. funds such that adequate hqmdrty for payment purposes
is. guaranteed at all ttmes . They have to demonstrate that
" they" have adequate |quldltY in the. form of a Irqurdrty
analysrs (Prmcrple Il)j The - hqurdrty weighted assets
(claims, securities, etc.); structuredto reflect their respec-
" tive rnat_urity'bra'ckets‘, are set off against certain liquidity-
weightéd balance-sheet and off-balance:sheet liabilities

{liabilities, lending commitments), _breken‘do{/vn by

remainingllifetir'nel The ratip between the funds inthe first - ‘
maturity: braékét'(re'main'ing'life' of up té 'one month) ahd . =

‘:the payment obllgatlons whiich may fa|| due during’ thrs

~ period has'to reach a value of one every day. If the” ratio

‘registers the:value of one, liquidity is consrdered to be
‘adequate. As of December 31, 2003, the liquidity ratio
WOrked out by Comr_nerzbankAG was 1.12 {previous year:
1:13)." Excess liquidity stood at €14.6bn (previous year:
€14.86n).
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{87} Securitization of credits

The use of credit derivatives (such as credit default swaps,
total feturn swaps, and credit:lirked notes) can reduce the
i'mpUted risk of a loan. portfcilig, whereby the: _hedging
effect of a credit derivative may relate both to individual

" “'credits or 'securities and to entire portfolios of loans: or
. secufities. As a rule, 'security is furnished by means of

the disposalo’f-élaims) are also possible. The hedging pro-
gram_mes launched by.'the Commerzbank Group -are

intended to ease t'h_eistrain on regvu‘latory capital.

By the end of the 2003 financial year, Commerzbank
AG and two of its subsidiaries had launched ten securiti-

zation programmes as'the buyers.of protection.
a. synthetlc securltuzatlon (credn defau|t swap) or'in the '
form of cash secunty But forms’ of- tradmonal cover (e.g.

‘ “The time barid stretches from 4to 32 years Ali told, credlts to customers of €13 3bn had been hedged by end Decem-
ber 2003. This eased the burden on the Bank's nsk-welghted assets by €9, 4bn :

‘Name of 'Year.'of, _‘Si’ze of - ‘Reduction Buyer of protection

-'*Dura_tidni'o'f : Type o.fclaim
transaction conclusion transaction ' ©credit. “of risk-
U vinvyears N . 'wetghted
: : ‘assets
R ‘ 5 B €m em
. 'l Kaiserplatz 263 1999 - " * Corporateloans . .. 1,500 +1,182. © Commerzbank AG
" Residence 260001 - 2000 . 32 Privatehome loans  © - 707 455  Commerzbank AG
:-Residence 2000-1"  .2000- - -:32-': - Private homeloans . ."983 | .°436  Commeérzbank AG
IR Y RPN R . (cD8)
Residence 2001-1 2001 © - 30 - [Privatehome loans .. 1,262 - . 517  Commerzbank AG
. Paneuropean CLO 2000 . 6 Corporate loans. - 3;243 - 2,432  Commerzbank AG
. Paneuropean CLO 2000 6 Corporate loans - TN 30. . Commerzbank
S = Lo Lo  Nederland) N.V..
Paneuropsan CLO 2001: . 6. |- Corporateloans = - B8 "' 44 Commerzbank -,

) : B o o y e . International S.A,
S i : R Do S Luxembourg?
Promise G 2002:1. 2002 . .8 ~* Cérporateloans " - 1,470 - 71,243 . Commarzbank AG
Residence 2002-1 2002 - ai " Privatehomeloans 1,310, 1,310 - Commerzbahk AG -
.Residence 2002-2 ' 20.02, S8 Private home loans . . 1,324, .'826. . .Commerzbank AG -
Residenice 2003-1 2003 . . .30 Privatehome loans =~ 1,397 . 888  Commerzbank AG

13;288 9,364

W exténded by two years .
2 after Commerzbank International (Europe) Dublln was merged wnh Commerzbank |nternat(onal S.A. Luxsmbourg
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{88} Average number of stitf empioyed by the Bank.during the year

2003 2002
_ - total © male - female total- -male female .
Group 32,898 17,515 15,383 36,450 19,082 17,368 -
in Germany 25,559 12,747 12,812 28,785 “14,375 14,410
abroad 7,339 4,768 S25571 .7565" 4707 . 2,958

The above flgures mclude both fuII time and; part -time personnel Not mcluded in the flgures are the average numberof -
employees undergomg trarmng within the Group The average time waorked by part -time staff is 55% (previous year:

58%) of the: standard working time.

total

“male female:

2003 2002

2008 . 2002: - " 2003 2002

1,526

559

1,437.

(89) Remuneration and loans to board memb_ers

576 878 950 -

: The followmg remuneratlon was' pald to members of the Board of. Managmg Dlrectors and the Supervusory Board:

.Boatd of Managing Directors

Supervisory Boards -

Retlred managing d|rectors and thelr dependents

The Board of Managmg Dlrectors .overall: remuneratron

Charrmans remuneration of 1 420. thousand euros. The
remuneratnon ofthe Board of Managing Durectors is made

" up of the followrng components

1. Fixed remuneratton
‘The fixed remuneration of the members of the Board of

Managmg Dlrectors amounted to €360; 000 ‘each in the’

2003 ﬁnanmal year the chanrman received.an. addmonal
premlum The fixed remuneratlon remained unchanged
onthe previous year. -

2. Variable remuneration {bonus}

The variable remuneration received by a member of the
Board of Managing Directors isbased on the Group's busi-
ness success and.the attainment of individual targets. As
variable remuneration is de’penden't upon the presen-
tation of established and audited consolidated financial

- statements as the baS|s for assessmg the Groups busn-* :
amounted to 7,014 thousand euros, which mcludes the .-

ness success itis. pald inthe current year for performance
in.the past year and is mcluded in ‘the publlshed remune-
ration-of the'. Board in the current year The aggregate‘
amount of vanable remuneratuon paid in 2003 for the:2002
fmanmal yearto active. members of .the Board ‘of Man-
.agung Dlrectors of Commerzbank AG as the parent com-
pany of the: Group wa_s €3.0mas aga_mst €4.9m ayearear-

‘lier. This _represents ‘a decline of 38.8%.

_3 Remuneratlon of the boards of subsidiaries

The above tab|e also mcludes the remuneration paid 10
members of the Bo_ard of Managmg Directors in selected
cases fortaking on'board functions at subsidiaries.

4. Share-based remuneration
Active members of the Board-of Managing Directors have -
participated in the Long-Term Performance plans of 1998
to 2003, described in note 28, by investing in altogether
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36,200 Commeribank shares at the currently valid daily
price. No payments were: made under these plans in the
2003 financial year. Aprovision of €6:3m has been formed
to.cover expected payments in the future-under LTP 2003;
" of this.amount, €0 3m relates to actlve members of the
Boardof Managmg Directors.

5. Remuneration in kind .
‘ Members of the Board of Managmg Directors are granted
remuneratlon in kind on"thé usual scale. In 2003, these
beneflts were equnvalent to €598, 869 o

6. Shares, stock options and slmllar nghts

In -line with thé German Corporate Governance Code, )
’purchases ahd dusposa!s of Commerzbank shares and .

options by members of the. Board of Managmg Directors
have to be reported if they exceed the -amount of €25,000

“within 30 days. The Bank publishes these on its internet
site. On November 13, 2003 2, 000 shares were bought by
a member of the Board of Managmg Directors to the value
of:30 theusand euros.

7. Pension commitments

For active and former members of the Board of Managmg
‘Directors: and their surviving dependents the Bank has
establlshed a provision for old age; . which, as planned and
explalned in detail last’ year, was . partually invested with
'_Commerzbank Pension Trust e.V.in: thls flnancna| year.

Asa result;the subsequently remalnmg prowstons for -
" .pension commitments as ofend 2003 mounted to €3.6m

for active members and €8 4m for former members ‘of
the Board of: Managlng Dlrectors and thelr survnvmg "de:

'pendents The pensuon commltments (defined: :benefit

obhgatnons) pursuant’to:lAS for. members of the Board of
'Managmg Diréctors or. theur dependents amounted to
' €72.3mon December 31, 2003.

In the course of adaptmg the amcles of assoclatuon of
| Commerzbank AG ‘to the rules of the Geriman Corporate
- Governance Code, the remuneration of the Supervrsory
Board was also altered with-effect from July 11,2003, as
resolved by the AGMon May 30, 2003. In accordance with
both the former and the riew provision contained in the

articles of association, no varuable remuneration could be .

paidto the Supervisory Board inthe 2003 financial year For
their actlvnty on the Supervisory Board inthe past financial
year, the Bank paid members the following fixed remune-
ration, which.was calculated on the basisof different provi-
sions in either the first or the second half of the year.

s The Chairman of the Supervisory Board, who be-
longed to the Supervrsory Board throughout the entire
2003 financial year, received €33; 050.71 and addition-
ally for chairing both the.Presiding and the Risk Com-
mittees altogether €20,000. s

» Nine members who ‘belonged to thé Supervisory
‘Board throughout the entire financial year received:
€11,525.35 each. In"addition, one irfnember’reeeived
~€15,000 for chairing the Audit Committee:and being a
member of the Risk: Commlttee Four other members
of the Superwsory Board -received: an addmonal
€5, 000 each as they were members of a Supervisory
'Board commnttee

N
~

e Nine members of the Supervusory Board whose term
of office began after the Andual General Meetmg on
May 30, 2003, received €10, 255.65 each and four of
them an extra €5,000 each asthey were- -members of

a Supervnsory Board comm»ttee The newly elected :

Deputy Chairman of the- Supervnsory Board recelved .
€20, 383 47 and an additional €5, 000 for bemg amem-
ber. of a Supervnsory Board commlttee '

All told €262 795 10was pa|d to the Chalrman Deputy

.Chairman and members of the Supervnsory ‘Board and

€80,000 for the chairman and members of the Presrdmg,

Audit and Rlsk Commnttees At the: same tlme the mem:-
bers of the: Supervisory Board "Wad their expenses re-

|mbursed as'well as the turnover tax: levned on therr remu-

" neration. A|together €99 000 was pand by way of meetmgj )

attendance fees for partncnpatlon in: the meetmgs of the

_Supervnsory Board and the three above ment:oned com-
‘mittees durmg the second half of 2003 |e €1 500 per
‘ meeting attended The . members of the Supervusory

Board and its committees may be found on p 1774, of th|s

- annual report

No purchases or dtsposals by mernbers of the Super-
vusory Board ‘of Commerzbank shares and options ex-
ceedmg "€26,000 overall within 30 days were reported in
the 2003 financial year

All tod, the Board of Managmg Directors and Super-
visory Board held no more than 1% of the issued shares
and option rights of Commerzbank AG on December 31
2003:
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On the balance-sheet date, the-aggregate amount of advances and loans granted, as well as contingent liabilities; was

as follows:

31.12.2002
Board of Managing Directors 5,231
Supervisory Boards - 1,318

€1,000 -

interest at normal market rates is paud on all the Ioans to members of the Board of Managmg Directors and the Super-

. visory Boards

- (90) Other cémmitrne_nts

Commltments towards compames both out3|de the Group
and not included in the consohdatron for uncalied pay-
: rnents on shares in prlyate_ lumned -liability companies
issued but not fully. paid amount.to €7m (previous year:

- €17m).

The Bank is responsible for the . payment of assess-
- ments of up to €38m to quurdrtaits K_onsortralbank Liko)
GmbH,fFr_an'kfurt,am Main, the "lifeboat” institution of the
German banking industry. The individual:banking associ:
. ations have also declared themselves responsible for the
. ipayment of assessments.to Liko. To.cover such assess-
“-.'rn'ents, Group'com'pénies-héve pledged to:Liko that they
=W|II meet any-payment in favour of- their respectuve asso-
ctatrons
Under Art. 5 {10) of the statutes ofthe German banks
-Deposrt insurance Fund, we ave undertaken to mdem-
. nify; the Assoclanon of German Banks Berlm for any
*-'Iosses incurred through support provrded for banks in
“which Commerzbank holds a majority |nter,est

Obligations towards futures and options exchang'es
and also towards clearing centres, for which securities
have been deposited as collateral, amount to €960m (pre-
vious year: €1,957m)..

Our subsidiaries Caisse Centrale de Réescompte S.A.,
Paris, .and ADIG-investment Luxemburg S.A., Luxem-
bourg, have provided “ performance. guarantees for
selécted funds.

The Group's existing obligations arising from. rental

and leasing agreements - buildings, office furniture and

equrpment - will lead to expenses of €239m in 2004, -

€176m per year'in the years 2005-2007, and €124m -as
from the year 2008. :

163 g
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. that, except in the case of political risks, they are a

NOTES

{91) Letter of comfort

In respect of the subsidiaries listed below and included.in the consolidated financia( statements of our Bank, we ensure

ble to meet their contractual liabilities.

Name Seat

-ADIG- Investment Luxemburg:S. A Luxembourg
ATBBECOM M Lirnited - London’

BRE Bank SA - Warsaw

BRE Leasing Sp. 2 0:0. . Warsaw
Calssewcgentrale de Réescompte, S.A. Paris )

CBG Commerz Betelllgungsgesellschaft mbH

Frankfurt am Main

CCRActions

Paris .

CCR Chevrillon- Phlllppe Paris

CCR Gestion Paris

CCR: Gestlon (nternatnonale Paris

CICM- Fund Management Limited Dublin -
~comdirect bank Aktmngesellschaﬂ {sub-group) --Quickborn

VCommerz Asset: Management (UK). pic’ ..
Commerz Asset Management Asua Pacnflc Pte Lid.
T Commerz Asset Management Holdmg GmbH -

COMINVEST Asseét: Management GmbH

" Frankfurt am Main.

Commerz (East Asua) Ltd.

Hong Kong

Commejz Advnsory Management Co Ltd.

British: Vurgm islands )

London -

Singapore .

" Frankfurt am Main

'Commerz Equity Investments- Ltd

‘London

.iCommerz Europe tireland), Inc

" Commerz Futlres, LLC.

o ’Commerzbank Belglum SA. "NV

“Wilmington/Delaware

" Wilmington/Delaware -

. .Commerz International Capital Management {Japan) Ltd. Tokyo

; ' Commerz Securmes (Japan) ‘Company Ltd.’ ‘ Hong Kong/Tokyo
. Commerzbank | (Budapest) Rt Budapest
. Commerzbank (Eurasua) SAO ‘Moscow .
. ‘Commerzbank. {Nedériand) N.V. - Amsterdam
"Commerzbank {South East Asia) Ltd: "Singapore

_ Commerzbank (Switzerland) Ltd .Zurich

g Agommér'zbank Asset. Management Asia Ltd, Singapore

" Frankfurt am Main

Brussels’
Commerzbank Capital: Markets Corporatlon New York - -
Commerzbank Europe. (lre|and) Unlimited - ‘Dublin
' Commerzbank Europe Finance (Ireland) plc_ Dublin

v Commerzbank |nternat|ona( S.A.

Frankfurtam Mainh

. Luxembourg
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Boards of Commerzbank Aktiengesellschaft

Supervisory Board

Dr. Walter Seipp
H_onorary Chairman .

Dr. h.c. Martin Kohlhaussen
- Chairman - ‘

Uwe Tschiage®'
‘. Deputy Chairman

- 'Hans-Hermann Altenschmidt*
Dott. Sergio Balbinot
g H'erbeirt.BIudau-Hoffmann’*' ‘
V As't.rid Evers®
' :Uw.e Fo.ultong
| Daniel Hémpel*’ -

Dr.-.lng. Otto Happel

% since May 30, 2003

-Board of Managing Directors

Klaus-PeterMiiller
Chairman

" Martin Blessing

: .Mehmet Dalman

Dr. jur. Heiner Hasfo’rd;H

Sonja Kasischke®

Wolfgang Kirsch*®

Werner Malkhoff*'

Kiaus Miiller-Gebet

>Dr‘ Sabine Rei‘nell"H

Dr. Erhard Schi;;poreit

Prof. Dr.-ing. Ekkehard Schulz
Prof.Dr.Jirgen F. Stfu_be

Dr. Klaus Sturany

Dr.-Ing. E.h. Heinrich Weiss .

Wolfgang Hartmann

Andreas.de Maiziére

‘Klaus M. Patig

The following members leftthe
Super\{i_sdry Board on May 30, 2003,
when'their period of office ended:

.- Hans-Georg Ju_Fkat'

Deéputy Chairman
Heinz-Werner Busch

Oswald Danzér

Detlef Kayser -

Dieter.Klinger

) Dr,TorStén Locher
: .MarkiRoach

Werner Schonfeid -

Alfred'Seum

Hermann Josef Streriger

Dr. Axe! Frhr. v. Ruedorffer
{until May 30, 2003)

Dr. Eric Strutz {since April 1, 2004)

Nicholas. Teller (since Aprii 1, 2003)



Holdings in affiliated and other companies

Affiliated companies included in the consolidation

Name

of which:

Seat Share of Equity
capital-held indirectly in 1,000
. in % in %
Atlas Vermogensverwaltungs Gesellschaft mbH Bad Homburg v.d.H. 100.0 € 691,667
ATBRECOM Limited o London ' 100.0 1000 € 11
" TOMO Vermégensverwaltungsgesellschaft mbH Frankfurt am Main 100.0 11000 € 22,778
Zweite Umbra Vermogensvewvaltungs- !
~gesellschaftmbH’ Frankfurt am Main 100.0 1000 . € 46
BRE Bank SA - Warsaw 72.2 Zi- 1,583,287
" ‘BRE Leasing Sp. z 0.0. Warsaw 100.0 1000 Zi 28,037
Intermarket Bank AG . . Vienna - 548 ‘548 € 16,194
~ RHEINHYP-BRE Bank Hlpoteczny SA Warsaw . 50.0 "50.0 ZI 140,912
Transfinance a.s. Prague 1000 100.0 K& 195,477
Caisse Centrale de Réescompte, S.A. Paris 99.6 € 170,315
CCR Actions _ Paris 92.0 920 € 1,872
CCR Chevrillon- Phlllppe Paris 85.0 85.0 € 2,661
CCR Gestion Paris . 96.0 96.0 € 7,037
“.CCR Gestion Internationale. Paris ' 100:0 1000 € 2,514
“-Commerz {East Asia) Ltd.” HongKong 100:0- € 44,801
" Commerz Asset Management (UK) plc London 100.0 £ . 184,091
""" Jupitér Internationa! Group plc (subsgroup) London 100.0 ©100.00 £ 180,581
- Jupiter Asset Management Limited London ) ' 100.0 100.0
Jupiter.Unit Trust Ma‘nagers Lim‘ited London 100.0 100.0
‘Tyndall Holdings Limited - London 100.0 100.0
. Jupiter Administration Services Limited London ©100.0 100.0
Tyndall |nv_e_stments~L|m|ted London " 100:0 100.0
_Tyndall International Holdings Limited Bermuda ©.100.0 100.0
Jupiter Asset Management (Asua) Limited Hong Kong . 1100.0 100.0
“Jupiter Asset Management : ) ’
.(Bermuda) Limited Bermuda 100.0 100.0
Jupiter Asset Management (Jersey) Limited Jersey 100.0 100.0 .
Jupiter Asset Managers (Jersey] Limited Jersey . 100.0- " 100.0
Tyndall Trust International 1.O.M. Limited . Isle of Man 100:0 100.0
“Tyndall International Group Limited Bermuda ©100.0 100.0
Lanesborough Limited . Bermuda - . 52.9° 52.9
"NALF Holdings Limited Bermuda -~ 100.0 .100.0
The New Asian Property Fund Limited Bermuda ' 66.8 66.8
Commerz Asset Management Holding GmbH FrankfurtamMain - 100.0 € 505,574
ADIG-Investment Luxemburg S:A. Luxembourg - 100:0 1000 € 46,972
CICM Fund Management Limited Dublin 100.0 100.0 € 4,578
COMINVEST Asset Management GmbH Frankfurt am Main 100.0 100.0 € 121,351
Commerz Asset Management Asia-Pacific Pte Ltd. Singapore - 100.0 100.0 S$ 29,152
Commerz Advisory Management Co. Ltd. British Virgin Islands 100.0 100.0 TWD 472,271
- Commerzbank Asset Management Asia Ltd. Singapore 100.0 100.0 S$ 31,284
Commerz International Capital ' .
Management (Japan) Ltd. Tokyo 100.0 100.0 ¥ 467,375
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Name Seat ~Share of of which: Equity
capital held indirectly in 1,000
. v . in % in%
European Bank for Fund Services GmbH (ebase) Haar near Munich 100.0 1000 € 39,018
CBG Commierz Beteiligungsgesellschaft Holding mbH - Bad Homburg v.d.H. 100.0 € 6,137
CBG Commerz Beteiligungsgeséllschaft mbH “Frankfurt am Main . 100.0 100.0 € 12,244
Commerz Business Consulting AG ‘ Frankfurt am Main 100.0 € 3,899
Commerz Equity Investments Ltd. London 100.0 £ 50,012
Commerz Futures, LLC. - ‘Wilmington/Delaware  100.0 1.0 US$ 15,145
‘Commerz ‘Grundbésitzgesellschaft. mbH Wiesbaden 100.0 € 109,147
Commerz Grundbesitz- Investmentgesellschaft mbH:' Wiesbaden 75.0 75.0 € 46,033
~Commerz Securities (Japan) Company Ltd. 'Hong Kong/Tokyo - .100.0, ¥ 7,534,302
Commerz Service Gesel!schaft _
fir Kundenbetreuung mbH Qunckborn -100.0 € 26
Commerzbanki(Budapest) Rt. " Budapest . 100.0 Ft 14,933,298
Commerzbank (Eurasija) SAO Moscow 100.0° Rbl 1,169,041
. Commerzbank (South East Asia) Ltd. “Singapore 100.0 € 125514
Commerzbank Auslandsbanken Holding AG Frankfurt am Main -100.0 : € 3,571,458
Commerzbank (Nederland) N.V. ' Amsterdam 100.0 100.0 € 227,097
Commerzbank (Switzerland). Ltd Zurich 100.0 100.0 sfr 207,159
Commerzbank Intérnational S.A. Luxembourg 100.0 1000 € 1,154,812
Commerzbank-Belgium S.A. N:V. Brussels 100.0° € 44,923
- Commerzbank Capital Markets (Eastern Europe) a.s. Pragte 100.0 -K¢ 533,318
" Cormmerzbank Capital Markets Corporation . New York 100.0 US$ 190,136
Commérzbank-Europe {Ireland) Unlimited * Dublin 44.0 . AD € 534,348
. Commerz Europe (ireland), Inc. Wilmington/Delaware ~ 100.0 1000  US$ 5
~Commerzbank Europe Finance (Ireland),plc " “Dublin 100.0 1000 € 47
Commerzbank Immobilien- und. S - :
Vermogensvemaltungsgesellschaft mbH - Erankfurt am Main 100.0 € 30
Commerzbank Inlandsbanken Holding AG " Erankfurt am:Main 100.0 S € 2,482,491
" comdirect bank Aktqengesellschaft (sub- group) ‘Quickborn 58.7 587 € 559,531
" comdirect Itd: - London . 1000 - ©.100.0
comdirect private-finance AG Quickborn 100.0 .100.0
Commierzbank Overseas Finance N:V. Curagao - 100.0 € 1,089
‘CommerzLéasing und Immabilien AG (sub-group) _‘Dusseldorf 100.0 945 € 97,223
ASTRIFA Molilien-Vermietungsgesellschaft mbH Diisseldorf 100.0 100.0
CFB Commerz Fonds BeteiligungsgéselischaftmbH ‘Diisseldorf 100.0 100.0
_CFB Verwaltung und Treuhand GmbH Diisseldorf -100.0 100.0
COBA Vermbgensverwaltungsgesellschaft mbH Diisseldorf 100.0 100.0
CommerzProjéktconsult GmbH : Frankfurt am Main 1000 100.0
Commerz Immobilien GmbH Diisseldorf -100.0 100.0
.CommerzBaucontract GmbH Diisseldorf 100.0. 100.0
CommerzBaumanagement GmbH . Diisseldorf 100.0 100.0
CommerzBaumanagement GmbH und
Commerzimmobilien GmbH GbR
Dusseldorf 100.0 100.0

NOTES

Affiliate_d companies included in the consolidation

- Neubau Molegra .
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NOTES
Affiliated companies included in the consolidation
. Name Seat ~ Shareof  ofwhich: Equity
capital held  indirectly in 1,000
in% in %
. CommerzLeasing Mobilien.GmbH . Dusseldorf 100.0 100.0
. CommerzLeasing-Auto GmbH . Diisseldorf 100.0 100.0
CommaerzLeasing Mistkauf-GmbH _ Disseldorf- 100.0 100.0
FABA Vermietungsgeselischaft mbH - Disseldorf 85.0 95.0
Hansa Automobil Leasing GmbH - " Hamburg- . 100.0 100.0
NESTOR GVG mbH & Co. Objekt ITTAE Frankfurt KG - Diisseldorf 100.0 95.0
NOVELLA GVGmbH. " ' Dusséldorf - -.100.0 100.0
SECUNDO GVG mbH Diisseldorf = 100.0 -100.0
“CORECD Commerz Real Estate - c
Consulting and Development GmbH - Berlin. 100.0 . 488 € . 999
Erste Europalsche Pfandbrief- und. Kommunal- S v _

- kreditbank Aktiengesellschaft in Luxemburg Luxembourg 75.0 € 53,743
Gracechurch TL Ltd. o - London 100.0 € 20,049
Hypothekenbaik in Essen AG - Essen 51.0 € 665,039
Montgomery Asset Management, LLC San Francisco/

A : ) Wilmington 100.0 0.3 US$ 11,479
.OLEANDRA Grundstlicks-Vermietungs- : o

gesellschaft mbH &.Co., Objekt Jupiter KG Disseldorf 100.0 € 13,640

'OLEANDRA Grundstiicks-Vermietungs- PR . .

- gesellschaft mbH & Co., Objekt Luna’ KG Diisseldorf 100.0 € 1,918
OLEANDRA Gruhdstiicks-Vermietungs- I ' ‘

) geselischaft mbH & Co., Objekt Neptun KG Disseldorf 100.0 € 6,396

. " OLEANDRA Grundstiicks-Vermigtungs- B o '
gesellschaft mbH & Co., Objekt Pluto KG Disseldorf 100.0 € 21,750
* . OLEANDRA Grundstiicks-Vermietungs-' ‘

gesellschaft mbH & Co., Objekt Uranus'’KG Dusseldorf 100.0 € 23,818

-OLEANDRA Grundstiicks-Vermietungs- S ‘ =
gesélischaft mbH & Co., Objekt Venus KG: - Diisseldorf 100.0 € 13,374 .
P.T.Bank Finconesia Jakarta 51.0 Rp. 182,894,000

Service:Center Inkasso GmbH Disseldorf - Disseldorf 100.0 € 125

“Stampen-S.A. -Brussels 7 994 - € 11,001

“'von'der Heydt “Kersten & Sahne 100.0 € 5,113

i
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Associated companies included in the consolidation at equity

Name : : Seat . Shareof  ofwhich: - Equity
capitalheld indirectly in 1,000
) : in% in%
Capital Investment Trust Corporation Taipei/Taiwan 243 . 5.0 TWD 1,338,191
Commerz Unternghmehsbeteiligungs- _ : : ’
Aktiengesellschaft _Frankfurt am Main 40.0 o € - 118,608
ComSystems GmbH ‘Disseldorf. |~ - . 490 . .. -390 € -492
COMUNITHY Immiobilien AG v Disseldorf 499 © 499 . € ~6,294
Deutsche Schiffsbank Aktiengesellschaft Brerien/Hamburg 4000 400 € 372,787
Eurohypo Aktiengeselischaft Frankfurt am Main - 38 318 € 4,736,542
ILV Immobilien-Léasing .- . o i . R
Verwaltungsgesellschaft Diisseidorf mbH Diisseldorf 5000 0 - 47.0: € 28,124
. IMMOPOL GmbH &Co. KG -~ . Munich - £ 4000 . 40.0.c € 0
KEB Commerz Investment : ' o o .
Trust Management Co. Ltd.. Seoul ) 7450 - : W 32,483,672
Prospect Poland UK, L.P. St.Helier/Jersey . 391 . 1.2 .US$ 4,505

Second Interoceanic GmbH ’ © Hamburg . 24.8 . 248 '€ 102,207

Special-purpose entities and non-publicly-offered funds includéd in the consolidation pdr_s.:dant to 1AS 27 and SIC-12

- Share of capital’ ) Equity

Frankfurt am Main 100.0

Name . ‘ o © Seat/
i seatof o . held or shar:e,of . ~ orfund’s
management S _inyestof_i‘nfund»:._; - assets ..
company E S in% . . . in 1,000
Special-purpose entities o . o .
‘Comas Strategy Fund | Limited Grand:Cayman - ' 0.0 uss$ 0
Four Winds Funding:Corporation Wilmington/Delaware -0.0 uss -5,983
.. Hdnging Gardens1 Limited Grand Cayman B 0.0 € 7
Plymouth-Capital Limited St.Heélier/Jersey ool e 0
- Non-publicly-offered funds BRI . S S
‘ABN AMRO-Credit Spread-Fonds Frankfurt am Main 1000 . € 107,800
CDBS-Cofonds Frankfurt am Main -1000 - € 105,183
CICO-Fonds | Frankfurt am Main - 1000 . € 122,219
-CICO-Fonds Il , . - Frankfurtam Main . . 1000 @ € 229,072
Commerzbank Alternative Strategies-Global Hedge ~  Luxembourg : 1000 Us$ 110,095
dbi-Fonds HIET ' Frankfurt am Main o 1000 € 104,442
DEGEF-Fonds HIE 1 Frankfurt am Main . 100.0 € 112,803
DEVIF-Fonds.Nr. 533 : Frankfurt am Main ) . 100.0 € 158,336
GRUGAFONDS Anteile Munich = 1000 € 104,750
HIE-Cofonds | Frankfurtam Main 100.0 € 88,712
HIE-Cofonds I Frankfurt.am Main 100.0 € 168,541
HiE-Cofonds lil Frankfurt am Main ©100.0 € 168,538
HIE-Cofonds IV €

84,354




Other major companies not included in the consolidation

NOTES

Name Seat

Share of of which: Equity
capital held indirectly in 1,000

o . in% in % :
ALNO-AktiengeSeHsbhaft : - Pfullendorf - 28.7 € 15,709
Regina Verwaltungsgesellschaft Munich 25.0 € - 403,847

25.0

Frankfurt am Main, March 5, 2004
TheBoard of Managing Directors
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group auditors’ ceriificate

We have audited the consolidated financial statements as
prepared by Commerzbank Aktlengesellschaft Frankfurt

am Mam consisting of the balance sheet the income

statement and the statement of changes in equity and
cash flows as well'as’ the notes to the financial statements
for the busmess year from January 1 to December 31,

2003 The preparatlon and the content of the. consolidated

fmancnal statements in accordance with: the Internatronal
Financial Reportmg Standards of theIASB. (IFRS) are:the

responsrblllty ofthe Company” s Board 0 Managlng Direc-

tors. Our-responsibility isto; express an opmlon based on
our. audlt whether the consolldated flnancnal ‘statembnts

“are-in accordance with the IFRS.

We conducted our audit of the consolldated financial
statements'in ‘accordance with German audmng regula-
tlons and generally accepted standards for the:audit of
fmancval statements promulgated by the. Institut. der
ertschaftsprufer {IDW), in additional consrderatlon “of
the lnternattonal Standards on Audltlng (ISA).. Those

standards reqmre that we planand perform the ‘audit to'

obtain reasonable assurance ‘about whether the consoli-
dated fmancnal statements are. free from matenal mis-
statements Knowledge of the business actlvmes and the
ecenomic and legal enwronment of the Company and
evaluatuons of possmle mrsstatements are taken |nto

- account inthe determination of audit procedures The evu-_‘

dence supportmg the amounts and disclosures.in the con-

solidated fmancual statements. are_examined -on a. test.
basis wrthm the framework of the audrt The audlt in-
- cludes the'assessment of the accountrng prlncuples used

and sngnlﬂcant estimates made by the Board of Managmg
Directors,as well as evaluatmg the overall presentat|on of

- the consoltdatedfmanctal statements.We_,belle_ve thatour .

audit provides a reasonable basis-for otir opinion.

{German public

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements
give a true and fair view of the net assets, financial posi-

_ tion, results of operations and cash flows for the business
" year in accordance with IFRS.

Our audit, which in accordance with German auditing

‘rules also extends-to the Group management‘report pre-

pared by the Board of Managing Directors for the business
year from January 1 to December 31, 2003, has.notled to

_any reservations. In our opinion, on the whole the Group
-rnanagement report together with the other details of the
~consolidated financial statements . prowdes a suitable
understanding of thé Group’s position ‘and suitably pre-
“sents the risks of future development. in'addition we con-
: flrm that the. consolidated financial statements -and the

Group management report for the busingss year from
January 1 to December 31, 2003 satisfy the conditions
reouired for the Company's exemption from its duty to
prepare-consolidated financial statements and the Group
management reportin accordance with German account-

ing law.

~ Frankfurt am Main, March 8, 2004

PWC Deutsche Revision
Aktiengesellschaft
ertschaftsprufu ngsgesellschaft

{Friedhofen) .
Wirtschaftspriifer

_{Rausch)
Wirtschaftspriifer
{German public

accountant) accountant)



Martin Kohlhaussen

report of the\supervﬁsory board

Dear sharehalders,

In the past business year, we carried out our full duties under the law and the
Bank’s statutes ~ advising and monitoring the Board of Managing Directors in
their conduct of the Bank's affairs. We were included in all the Bank’s major deci-
sions requiring the approval of the Supervisory Board. The Board of Managing
Directors informed us regularly, promptly and extensively, in both written and
verbal form about business progress, strategy and corporate planning, as well
as about all transactions of major significance for the Bank and the Group. We
held particularly detailed discussions on the outcome of special meetings of the
Board of Managing Directors, presented to us by the latter. The Supervisory
Board or its committees approved measures of the Board of Managing Directors
wherever such approval was required by law. In addition, the Chairman of the
Supervisory Board maintained close contact with the Board of Managing Direc-
tors, and especially with its Chairman. He received the minutes of meetings of
the Board of Managing Directors together with the proposed resolutions, and
had himself constantly informed about the current business and risk situation
and also on all important occurrences for the Bank.

All told, we held six meetings in the past financial year and had intensive
discussions with the Board of Managing Directors on the business situation.
No member of the Supervisory Board attended fewer than half of the meetings.
No conflicts of interest occurred in the year under review.
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Main points dealt with

At plenary sessions, we arranged for regular reports on the implementation of
the Bank’s cost-cutting programmes and discussed the pfanned and adopted
measures in depth with the Board of Managing Directors. We noted with appre-
ciation the great progress made by the Bank in this respect, We found it espe-
cially positive that the Board of Managing Directors managed to realize the
resolved staff reductions in the year under review practically without having to
dismiss personnel.

We dealt repeatedly and in some detail with the changes in the German
and international banking scene as well as the resulting strategic options for
Commerzbank, discussing possible measures and alternatives with the Board of
Managing Directars. We support the efforts of the Board of Managing Directors
to achieve a sustained improvement in the Bank’s earnings power in this difficult
economic setting. Asset management and retail banking in particular produced
encouraging results. We received detailed reports on the Asset Management and
Corporate Banking areas.

An intensive discussion was triggered by Commerzbank’s revaluation mea-
sure in autumn 2003, when the Bank freed itself from unrealized losses by
writing down altogether €2.3bn on the book value of investments and sub-
sequently effecting a capital increase. We had the Board of Managing Directors
explain the reasons for this measure in detail and discussed it with them at
length. After exhaustive consultation, we supported the transaction in the in-
terest of creating the conditions for dynamic growth on the part of the Bank.

Work in the committees

The Presiding Committee met five times altogether in the year under review. It
also adopted four resolutions outside meetings. Apart from business progress
and the individual business lines, its main topic was the revaluation measure.
The Presiding Committee dealt with persannel issues relating to the Board of
Managing Directors and had the latter report on all strategic decisions and aiso
on the cutcome of internal auditing. Insofar as the Presiding Committee covered
topics which were also treated at plenary sessions, it discussed them in more
detail.

Last year, the Risk Committee devoted itself intensively in four meetings to
the Bank's risk management. In addition to the general risk of the Commerzbank
Group, detailed reports on major credit exposures were presented at the meet-
ings. The members received regular risk reports, Discussion focused on approv-
ing a Risk Manual describing the Bank’s risk policy and on implementing the
Minimum requirements for the lending business of credit institutions (MaK). The
Risk Committee also dealt with credits requiring its approval. A further topic was
the changes in the Bank’s investments portfolio. At its meetings, the Risk Com-
mittee received reports on the planned measures and also the current position.
As a very quick decision was often needed in order to conclude transactions, the
Risk Committee adopted six resolutions in all during the year under review by
circulating the documents instead of convening a meeting.

The Audit Committee met five times altogether in the past year, the auditors
attending four of the meetings to report on their work. The Board of Managing
Directors also provided information on issues relevant to the audit. Between
meetings, the chairman of the Audit Committee was constantly in contact with
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the auditors. The Committee subjected the financial statements and consoli-
dated financial statements to intensive scrutiny, discussing these and the results
of the audit with the auditors. The Audit Committee established the independ-
ence of the auditors before proposing their appointment to the AGM. It com-
missioned the appointed auditors to conduct the audit and after extensive
discussion it reached agreement with them on the main points of the audit and
their fee.

The Social Welfare Committee met once in the 2003 business year and pri-
marily received reports on staff reductions and their impact, as well as on other
measures in the personnel and social welfare areas. The Conciliation Committee
did not have to be convened in the year under review.

The committees regularly reported on their work at plenary sessions.

Corporate governance

We frequently discussed the implementation of the German Corporate Gover-
nance Code. in November 2002, we issued a declaration of compliance pursuant
to Art. 161, AktG together with the Board of Managing Directors, which was
updated in February 2003. Last July’'s amendments to the German Corporate
Governance Code were taken into account in a declaration of compliance on
November 11, 2003. A detailed report by the Board of Managing Directors and
Supervisory Board on corporate governance at Commerzbank AG appears on
pages 14-17 of this annual report.

Financial statements and consolidated financial statements

PwC Deutsche Revisian Aktiengesellschaft Wirtschaftsprifungsgeselischaft has
audited the annual financial statements and the consalidated financial state-
ments for the 2003 financial year, giving each their unqualified certification. The
financial statements and the management report of the Parent Bank were pre-
pared according to the accounting rules of the German Commercial Code (HGB),
the consolidated financial statements and the Group management report ac-
cording to International Accounting Standards {IAS). The financial statements
and the consolidated financial statements, the Parent Bank's management report
and the Group management report were sent to all members of the Supervisory
Board in good time. In addition, the members of the Audit Committee received
the complete annexes and notes relating to the auditors’ reports. At today’'s
meeting, the Audit Committee considered the financial statements in detail. At
our meeting today for this purpose, we also discussed and examined the docu-
ments at length. The auditors attended both meetings in order to explain the
main findings of the audit and to be available for questions.

In view of the final outcome of our own examination as wel! as that of the
Audit Committee, we concur with the findings of the auditors. The financial
statements of the Parent Bank and the Group have given rise to no objections.
At today’s meeting, we approved the financial statements for the Parent Bank
and the Group presented by the Board of Managing Directors, which accordingly
may be regarded as adopted.
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Changes in Board of Managing Directors and Supertvisory Board

With the close of the AGM on May 30, 2003, the five-year term of office of the
members of the Supervisory Board came to an end. On the shareholder repre-
sentative side, Hermann Josef Strenger and of the employee representatives
Heinz-Werner Busch, Oswald Danzer, Hans-Georg Jurkat, Detlef Kayser, Dieter
Klinger, Dr. Torsten Locher, Mark Roach, Werner Schonfeld and Alfred Seum
did not seek re-election. We wish to thank these former members once again
for their trustworthy and committed efforts on our Supervisory Board during the
past term of office.

On the shareholder representative side, Dr. jur. Heiner Hasford was newly
elected to the Supervisory Board. Dr. Sergio Balbinot, Dr.-Ing. Otto Happel,
Dr. h.c. Martin Kohlhaussen, Klaus Mlller-Gebel, Dr. Erhard Schipporeit, Prof.
Dr.-ing. Ekkehard Schulz, Prof. Dr. Jirgen F. Strube, Dr. Klaus Sturany and
Dr.-Ing. E.h. Heinrich Weiss were re-elected. In the election of empioyee repre-
sentatives, which took place before the AGM, Uwe Foullong was re-elected.
Hans-Hermann Altenschmidt, Herbert Bludau-Hoffmann, Astrid Evers, Daniel
Hampel, Sonja Kasischke, Wolfgang Kirsch, Werner Malkhoff, Dr. Sabine Reiner
and Uwe Tschage are the new employee representatives on the Supervisory
Board.

In the constituent meeting immediately after the AGM, Dr. h.c. Martin
Kohthaussen was elected Chairman and Uwe Tschige Deputy Chairman of the
Supervisory Board. At this meeting, we also elected the members of the five
committees of the Supervisory Board.

For age reasons, Dr. Axel Frhr. v. Ruedorffer resigned from the Board of Man-
aging Directors at the close of the last AGM. We are greatly indebted to him for
his lang and successful activity on behalf of the Group. Upon Dr. v. Ruedorffer’s
retirement from the Board of Managing Directors, Dr. Eric Strutz assumed the
function of Chief Financial Officer (CFO) as from June 1, 2003. His appointment
as a member of the Board of Managing Directors, resolved by the Supervisory
Board, will become effective on Apfil 1, 2004. We also appointed Nicholas Teller
to the Board of Managing Directors with effect from April 1, 2003. On the same
date, the function of personnel director passed from Klaus M. Patig to Andreas
de Maiziere,

We thank the Board of Managing Directors as well as all the Bank’s staff for
their great commitment and efforts in the 2003 financial year.

Frankfurt am Main, March 23, 2004
The Supervisory Board

Martin Kohlhaussen
Chairman
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— Commerzbank: Supervisory Board approves financial Y 7.‘3/
statements

— Shareholder structure: 76% held by institutional
investors; roughly 360,000 shareholders

— January’s good earnings performance maintained

At its meeting on March 23, Commerzbank's supervisory board
approved the financial statements for 2003. The figures already
published on February 18 remained unchanged. At the meeting,
the bank’s chairman, Klaus-Peter Miiler, announced that the
Commerzbank Group had maintained the good performance it
registered in January.

In the new annual report, the results of a recent, comprehensive
survey of the bank’s shareholder structure are aiso presented.
The percentage of Commerzbank's capital held by institutional
investors has increased further over the past few years to 76%. A
similar survey in 1999 had shown their share at 60%, whereas in
1994, it was only 49%. This development reflects both a long-
term “institutional” trend and also the observation that block
sales in the recent past as well as the bank’s capital increase last
November mainly found their way into the custody accounts of
institutional investors. At the same time, the share’s so-cailed
free float is higher as a result, reaching practically 82%. Dr. Eric
Strutz, the bank’s CFO, added: “I think that the strong
involvement of professional market participants is also a clear
statement of confidence in Commerzbank and shows that they
expect positive performance from our share on a long-term
basis.”

Due to the sharp increase in the significance of institutional
investors, private investors now hold 24% of the bank’s capital in
their custody accounts. While the number of private investors is
lower in absolute terms than it was in 1999, it has held steady in
recent years at aimost 350,000. With companies and institutionals
included, the overall number of investors has remained largely
unchanged at about 360,000. Commerzbank is therefore one of
Germany’s major public companies. Thanks to regular issues of
shares to staff over virtually the past three decades, the bank’s
active and former employees now account for more than 3% of its
capital.

Just over half (52%) of the share capital is held in Germany. The
largest single shareholder and at the same time the largest
overall is Munich Re, with 9.5%. The next largest among non-
German shareholders are Italy’s Assicurazioni Generali (9.1%),
Commerzbank's bancassurance partner, the major Spanish bank
SCH and the two Italian banks Banca Intesa and Mediobanca. In
addition to these important individual shareholders in Italy and
Spain, Commerzbank shares are held on a sizeable scale in the
United Kingdom (8%), Switzerland (6%) and in the USA (4%) as
well.

Note:Further details on the survey can be found on pages 47-48
of Commerzbank’s newly published Annual Report for 2003, This
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is available here and delivery by post will begin in the next few
days. Two charts on sharehoider structure can be found under
"share information".




